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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

|IBDO

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

309 7 A% Bl e o

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
57 - +852 2218 8288 58
fHH : +852 2815 2239 FEEH11155
KR AD254%

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF CITYCHAMP WATCH &
JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Citychamp Watch &
Jewellery Group Limited (the” Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the
Group”) set out on pages 153 to 338, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSASs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment on goodwill and intangible assets

Refer to notes 30 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements respectively
and the material accounting policy information in notes 4.4, 4.5 and 4.9 to the
consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had goodwill and intangible assets with
carrying amounts of HK$973,406,000 and HK$79,620,000 respectively arising
from the acquisitions of bank, watch and watch accessories businesses.

Management will perform impairment assessment on the amount of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives at least annually, and will perform
impairment assessment when there is an indication that goodwill or intangible
asset with definite useful lives may be impaired. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, management assessed the recoverable amount of these assets based
on higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. These assets
were allocated to cash generating units (“CGU”), and the recoverable amount
of each CGU was determined by management based on either value-in-use
calculations using cash flow projections or fair value less cost of disposal.

The impairment test involves significant judgements and assumptions by the
management under the value-in-use calculation and the determination of fair
value less cost of disposal.

Management concluded that, based on the result of impairment assessment,
impairment losses of HK$115,917,000 and HK$1,732,000 would be recognised
for the year in respect of goodwill and intangible assets, respectively.

Our response

Our procedures on the management’s impairment assessment on goodwill and
intangible assets included:

(i)  Assessing the reasonableness of market data, discount rates and growth
rates applied in determining the recoverable amount;
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(if)  Challenging the reasonableness of other key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the business and industry; and

(iii)  Checking input data to supporting evidence, such as approved budgets and
considering the reasonableness of these budgets.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities in the regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

. conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. \We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
review of the work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Kwok Wai
Practising Certificate Number P06047
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
wi A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[04F+ — ] =+—H IL4FE

2024 2023
—E DY -
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Fh 51 Tt T
Interest and dividend income from banking SRATSEW 2 FLE R B B A
business 503,552 358,881
Interest expenses from banking business SRAT M 2 F B B 32 (217,570) (72,913)
Net interest and dividend income from AT EB Z A B K
banking business Ji& B A AR 7a 285,982 285,968
Service fees and commission income from SRAT S 2 MR s I
banking business i A 209,308 198,823
Service fees and commission expenses from SRAT S 2 s K
banking business LiEA 3 (32,189) (26,904)
Net service fees and commission income SRATSE B Z IR B K
from banking business 1 S A 5 4 7b 177,119 171,919
Trading income from banking business SRATERS 2 58 A 7c 35,309 33,907
Service fees and commission income from & R ZETS 2 s B I
financial business i U A 7d 20 12
Interest income from financial business & R ZETS 2 A B A 7d 1,369 33
Sales of goods from non-banking and financial ~ JF 4R 17 % 4 fl 37 2
businesses & EEE I 7e 813,952 1,113,945
Rental income from non-banking and financial ~ JF 847 &% 4 fl 2845 >
businesses T URA 7e 21,872 23,275
Total revenue A 1,335,623 1,629,059
Cost of sales from non-banking and financial ~ JF R 17 &k &l 37 2
businesses B 45 A (526,644) (514,001)
Other income and other net gains or losses At e A T At i 4 58
i 48 T AE 8 (34,665) 77,255
Selling and distribution expenses SH A T oy 8K (301,850) (376,358)
Administrative expenses TEE A (672,722) (667,762)
Share of profit of joint ventures JEAL A8 A 2 A 26 = 5
Share of profit of associates JRE Ak Wt A R s ) 27 3,306 13,842
Finance costs from non-banking business FFERAT EHS 2 BA s B 9 (63,095) (78,242)
(Loss)/profit before income tax B e 75 B 56 (s 18) & A 10 (260,047) 83,798
Income tax expense A5 B B 52 11 (21,605) (20,539)
(Loss)/profit for the year ASAEPE (G 1R) i A (281,652) 63,259
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B Az B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % . JU4F+ = =1 —H 14

2024 2023
—E Y4 e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
! Tt THE T
Other comprehensive income H At 2 v B A
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified A& H 1% 0 8 &
to profit or loss T A 5% s 15 2 TH H
— Remeasurement of net defined benefit — H TR A FE AR A
obligations AR 15.2 (1,399) (4,962)
— Change in fair value of financial assets at fair ~ — 1%/ (B 5F A HiAth
value through other comprehensive income AT A Z 4 Rl &
APEEES) 20 (51,538) (10,308)
(52,937) (15,270)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to 7] A& % H & HE#i 0 8 &
profit or loss Tt A 5 s 18 2 TH H
— Exchange differences on translation to — I 25 L5 W B S 5
presentation currency (248,867) 115,100
— Share of other comprehensive income of — JE A B F 2 oA
associates ESQTLIPN 27 1) (2,633)
(248,868) 112,467
Other comprehensive income for the year AR AP B b 2 A (301,805) 97,197
Total comprehensive income for the year A A BE A T WO\ B (583,457) 160,456
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: DL N A AR 4
(i) W H
Owners of the Company E/NCIE 2SN (254,072) 45,100
Non-controlling interests I 2 A 2 (27,580) 18,159
(281,652) 63,259
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A Az B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

2024 2023
—E DY e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
it Tt THs T
Total comprehensive income for the year DL N - A AR 4 2
attributable to: ST BB -
Owners of the Company N/NEEIE7 Z DN (552,520) 131,496
Non-controlling interests I ¥ PR E £ (30,937) 28,960
(583,457) 160,456
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to A oy i) BEA N REAG B i
owners of the Company (E8) /B A 14
— Basic — A HK (5.84) cents HK 1.04 cents
(5.84) #All 1.04 %A1l
- Diluted — i HK (5.84) cents HK 1.04 cents

(5.84) ¥ il

1.04 #: Al
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B BN DL

As at 31 December 2024 ji* % “JU4E+ A =+—H

2024 2023
—B Y4 B4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 Tt THs T
Assets & e
Cash and deposits Bl 4 B A7 5K 17 3,782,130 3,761,431
Due from clients JEW & R IE 18 2,659,182 2,877,929
Due from banks JRE i SR AT #RIH 18 2,945,270 2,222,968
Trading portfolio investments Lo HEHE 19 39,564 27,558
Financial assets at fair value through Fe A PAE FE A Ath 2 1
other comprehensive income WA Z 4 20 233,893 285,627
Financial assets at fair value through FE N FERE A A5k 18 2
profit or loss & V& 21 24,718 32,410
Derivative financial assets fir A 4 G 22 33,061 5,136
Trade receivables JRRE A R 23 372,111 442,941
Other financial assets at amortised cost iz {88 AR AR 2 R 2 EoAth
4 Al A 24 3,511,829 1,878,805
Inventories Py 25 1,513,833 1,805,899
Interests in joint ventures Al G A SERE AR 26 496 496
Interests in associates JUT Ak W 7 R RE 4 27 86,716 108,411
Property, plant and equipment W BB R 28 1,238,319 1,297,608
Investment properties BEWE 29 160,298 166,370
Intangible assets I E 30 79,620 105,693
Goodwill [k 31 973,406 1,150,672
Deferred tax assets S T 39 14,439 16,019
Other assets Ho A ¥ 32 294,940 345,033
Total assets A R 17,963,825 16,531,006
Liabilities £ 1%
Due to banks JE A $RAT K IE 18,393 =
Due to clients JE AT 25 B kI 33 12,333,170 10,155,311
Financial liabilities at fair value through Y S AR A A B8 2
profit or loss 4 il £ 21 - 44,905
Derivative financial liabilities i 4 il & 1 22 2,497 49,318
Trade payables JRE A} B K 34 190,121 207,230
Contract liabilities G R A K 35 8,219 11,846
Income tax payables JRE A5} T 45 B 52,037 44,198
Borrowings [E§58 36 595,082 681,254
Provisions Bl 37 2,686 4812
Lease liabilities & A HE 38 72,365 49,026
Deferred tax liabilities % S BT 4 39 65,010 68,561
Due to a shareholder JREAT — 42 B R 3K TE 46 = 9,025
Due to directors JRE AS) 2 g R I 46 73,731 66,772
Other liabilities HoAh & i 40 768,469 773,454
Total liabilities R =R 14,181,780 12,165,712
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AR A BEIR DL

As at 31 December 2024 4 & Ui+ —H =+—H

2024 2023
—E Y4 B S 2
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Fh 51 T THETT
Equity HE 4
Equity attributable to owners of the A oy w) BEA N E A BE 4R
Company

Share capital A 41 435,189 435,189
Reserves fite At 42 3,179,234 3,731,511
3,614,423 4,166,700
Non-controlling interests I A 7 167,622 198,594
Total equity il 2% 4 3 3,782,045 4,365,294
Total liabilities and equity £ 18 % W £ SR 3R 17,963,825 16,531,006

The consolidated financial statements on pages 153 to 338 were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025 and are signed on

its behalf by:

Hon Kwok Lung

i B e
Director

HF

55153 % 338 H 2 45 A MR RN —F T hAE =
A =\ H % S ar v A pE g s 3l i DA
THEBFNEEE

Siu Chun Wa
[ §i%
Director

EH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % . JU4F+ = =1 —H 14

Equity attributable of the Company

KRR
Fair value
through
oher ~ Revaluation
Share Goodwill comprefensive reserve for Non-
Share premium Other arising on Statutory Exchange income  Property, plant Retained controlling Total
capital account* reserve®  consolidation® Teserve* Teserve® reserve*  and equipment* profits* Total interests eqity
RAYE
AR HE HR
ki bt AfilA Rt
BE WER  HRE  EtuEE GERE MERE Befie  EfRM  REEA &t FEREE  ER4E
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tk Tk T Tk Tk T T T Tk Tk Tk Tk
(note 41) (note 42) (note 42) (note 42) (note 42) (note 42) (note 42) (note 42)
(M) (HRQ) Mo (G e e e #He
Balance at 1 January 2023 REBZZE-A-HZER 43,189 662028 (62.834) (15,300) 106,209 (126,794) (120,860) 34916 3080259 4012813 166,048 4178861
Transactions with onners HEHARS
Deemed acquisition of interest insubsiciaries £ B B 4 e
(note 48(5)) (W3 48(0)) - - (1277) - - - - - - (12,776) (19,399) (32175)
Deemed disposalof inerestn subsidiaries ¥ 5 t EHA FUHR &
(note 48(0) & () (1 3k 48(0) R g) - - 1762 - - - - - - 17622 18184 3806
Partial disposel of inteests i subsiciaries 7+ & A R A4 e &
withoutlossof control note 48(f)) (85K EEHIAE) (Mt 4n() - - 17545 - - - - - - 1756 6455 200
Dividends paid to non-controlling nteests i #E B AR RS - - - - - - - - - - (1654 (L654)
Total transactions with owners BHH AR - - 239 - - - - - - 23 358 I
Comprefensive income LT TN
Profit for the year KRR - - - - - - - - 45100 45100 18159 63259
Other comprehensive income HERERA
Remeasurement of defined benefit B RERBARL
obligations - - - - - - - - (5.384) (5,384) n (4.962)
Change in fair value offnancial assets at far 5647 AL 2 A Z
value through other comprehensive income - A A& - - - - - - (10,308) - - (10,308) = (10,308)
Exchange diffeences on rarslationto S 2 EHAELZ B ER
presentation currency - - - - - 104721 - - - 104721 103719 115,100
Shareof exchange differences on translaion  BE i BB AT 7 B £
of asactes - - - - - (263) - - - (263 - (263)
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 Tl K81 - - - - - 102,088 (10308) - 3716 13149 2890 160,456
Balanceat 31 December 2023 REBZZRFCA=-H
kil 435,189 662028 (d0443) (15,300) 106,209 (24.706) (131,168) 34916 3119975 416,700 198,594 436524
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CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % U4+~ H = 1+—H IL4F i

ek ok 3 R B AR P AT PR )

Equity attributable of the Company
KA
Fair value
through  Revaluation
other  reserve for
Share Goodwill comprehensive Property, Non-
Share premium Other arising on Statutory Exchange income plantand Retained controlling Total
capital account* reserve®  consolidation® reserve* reserve* Teserve™  equipment* profts* Total interests equity
HATE
AN R R
et HakH L1 Ritlh
23 Wk OHRGE Rtz el NERE Wl EWRE RERA it kERER  EaaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt Tt Tt Fitn Tt Ti#n Ti#n Tin Tin Fitn Tt T
(note 41) (note 42) (note 42) (note 42) (note42) (note42) (note 42) (note 42)
(W) (ko) (R ) W) (e K2 K
Balance at 1 January 2024 REBZWE-R—RZGR 435,189 662028 (d0443) (15,300) 106,209 (24,706) (131,168) 34916 3119975 416,700 198,594 4365204
Transactions with owners HEHARS
Deemed acquisition of iterestn sbsicries 13 B o L
(10e 486) (W21 (5 - - (23%) - - - - - - (2.39%) (367 (6069
Deemed disposal of interestinsubsidiaries Ay 5 A i
(e 48() (3480 . - 26 - - - - - - 268 408 8667
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 1 SRR MRS - - - - - - - - - - (390) (390)
Total transactions with owners BHH AR5 AE - - b - - - - - - 83 ) 08
Comprehensive income 20
Loss fortheyear KERER = - - - - - - - (25407) (54072 (27580) (281,652)
Other comprehensive income J2ERA
Remeasurement of defined benefit B e RRARI
bligetions - - - - - - - - (17%5) (L7%) % (13%9)
Change in far vlue of financial assets at fair AT AR AZ
valuethrough ot comprehensiveincome 4 K EAT ({55 - - - - - - (5153%) - - (5153%) - (515%)
Exchange diffeences on rarsationto 45 2 Z B AR
presentation curency - - - - - (245,164) - - - (45,164) (3703) (248,867)
Share of exchange diferences on translaion &t SRR A R Z B X
of associates - - - - - (0] - - - (W] - 0]
Total comprehensive income for the year AR 2 MO\ S8 - - - - - (o45,165) (51538) - (255,817) (552,520) (30937) (583457)
Balance at 31 December 2024 REZZMERZAZ R
ka1 3 43,189 662028 (40.200) (15,300) 106,209 (269871) (182,70) 34916 2,864,158 3614483 167622 3782045
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$3,179,234,000  * 255 R IR G 45 B MHS IR LR N 2 45 4 (e
(2023: HK$3,731,511,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 3,179,234,000 #k T (& — =4F : 3,731,511,000
wot) o
#

iy The entire balance of fair value through other comprehensive income reserve belongs

to non-recycling portion.

FE O TE R A H AL 2 T A AR 2 2 R A5 R 2
J§ FE AR o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BABamER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[U4F+ ] =+—H IL4F

2024 2023
R YL —E =
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
! Tt THs T
Cash flows from operating activities REWHEAEAZHERE
(Loss)/profit before income tax B AT A3 B AT (5 18) s ] (260,047) 83,798
Adjustments for: ST
Depreciation and amortisation P8 K 4 6 10 92,736 93,838
Provision and impairment losses L WNRERIEN, Ei 176,645 70,436
Net deficit on revaluation of investment B EE A
properties i 4V 29 4,386 1,218
Share of profit of associates JRE AL Bt 2 ) i ) 27 (3,306) (13,842)
Share of (profit)/loss of joint ventures JEAG A 8 A2 (A
i} 26 - (5)
Interest income from non-banking business FERAT T 2 A B A 8 (1,029) (797)
Finance costs from non-banking business FEERATEH 2 PAH 9 63,095 78,242
Gain on fair value changes in trading FERITHEDS 2L H M ARG
portfolio investments from non-banking Z N TR S B i i 5 AR
business, net 8 (282) (136)
Gain on fair value changes on financial N TAERE A i A 548
assets/liabilities at fair value through ZatE Ak
profit or loss N PAE 5 B 0 A 8 (69,623) (65,192)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and Y - RE Kk
equipment i 4 8 (1,533) (1,021)
(Profit)/loss on disposal of a subsidiary A — M B i Al 2
(i ) e 18 12 - (2,529)
Gain on disposal of interest in associates B R A R 2 RS 2
i i 8 = (1,349)
Gain on early termination of lease R4 R 2 e 8 (519) =
Dividend income Ji& 5 e A 8 (7,941) (10,578)
Operating (loss)/profit before working capital 5 % & 4 % Bl jif 2 484
changes (518 i Al (7,418) 232,083
Increase/(decrease) in due to clients JEAT % )5 2K IE 34 I,
(W) 2,862,686 (157,368)
Decrease/(increase) in due from clients FENL & P 3 E b
(K1) 64,836 (132,530)
Decrease/(increase) in due to banks JE AT SRAT BB Ik A,
(K ) 18,623 (1,119)
Increase in due from banks JRE ST SR AT 3 T3 o (911,750) (211,382)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables JE IR 3K Y () 51,449 (105,850)
Decrease in inventories FEED 243,080 99,027
Decrease in cash held on behalf of clients REF A 2 B E b (57,917) (6,957)
Decrease/(increase) in other assets oAb 2 D (B ) 10,803 (37,027)
Increase in derivative financial assets A A 4 il 7E B 0 (28,607) (2,122)
(Decrease)/increase in derivative financial fii A &R A AR (i)
liabilities 1 (43,980) 29,855
Decrease in trade payables JRE AT R D (20,439) (2,198)
Decrease in contract liabilities GRIAEBD (3,627) (30,100)
(Increase)/decrease in trading portfolio LG ARG Hm)
investments W (12,486) 822
Increase in other financial assets at ?ﬁﬁ&fﬁﬁiﬂifﬁﬁz,ﬁ\ﬂﬁ
amortised cost iz EE S (1,678,471) =
Decrease in other liabilities Ho A & s> (9,537) 157,060
Cash generated from/(used in) operations AR EL S ()
Z Bl 477,245 (167,806)
Income tax paid EAT Fr AR (10,263) (14,469)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating A8 & ¥ & @k~ (i) 2
activities Bl &R 466,982 (182,275)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EOBlERRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

ek ok 3 R B AR P AT PR )

2024 2023
TR P4 =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
s T#T THTT
Cash flows from investing activities P06 B A 2 B
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand &3 ~ 5 Kt
equipment P38 5,072 3,043
Dividends received EAE S 7,941 10,578
Dividend received from associates EL A o 2 R BES, 25,000 25,000
Increase in other financial assets at amortised ~ F5HE 8 A 51 e 2 FLAth <5
cost i (51,911) (259,766)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment WS W3 ~ RS M Bt (31,185) (33,788)
Additions of intangible asset NEEY EE (457) _
Interest received from non-banking business I BRAT 3 2 Bl AL 1,029 797
Proceeds from disposal of interests in H B BT A N ) R P A
associates A - 6,487
Increase in pledge bank deposit B AT ERAT A7 3K = (5,000)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMEA AR EWAFH 12 = 27,500
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WS S A B 2 ) B A VAR
subsiidaries 47 - 27,628
Net cash used in from investing activities BZ WG I 2 B8 A (44,511) (197,521)
Cash flows from financing activities il 9 B A 2 B
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WA 9 £ P i 48 (6,069) (32,175)
Disposal of interest in subsidiaries o 2 ) A 48 6,667 -
Interest paid CATFLE (50,935) (67,721)
Proceeds from borrowings BT A kR 168,970 168,542
Repayment of principal portion of the lease FRAEAMRZAEIT
liabilities (23,801) (22,202)
Repayment of borrowings fHR i B (204,681) (419,607)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 16] 42 P e i IR A+ FBE R (390) (1,654)
Advanced from directors B B 14,440 10,223
Advance from associates R B W A 2 B 2,000 40,000
Repayment to a shareholder 1] — 4% F U7 K (9,025) (2,975)
Repayment to directors i) 2 2 2 K (3,556) (23,860)
Repayment to related company 1] B 22 ) 28 K (22,587) -
Repayment to associates I M 4 T K (14,757) =
Net cash used in financing activities R 1% ) T ] 2 B 2 o A (143,724) (351,429)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AABERRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % . JU4F+ = =1 —H 14

2024 2023
—R A S
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
R 5 T T
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash ﬁﬁ‘&ﬁﬁgﬂﬁ%i@ﬁﬂ/
equivalents () ¥ 278,747 (731,225)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—H—-HZBERHE
E XL 3,707,898 4,262,745
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net I 52 5 1 53 B 1 (291,951) 176,378
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+ _HA=+—HZBEK
HE&%EY 3,694,694 3,707,898
Analysis of balances of cash and cash Bl& kB EFEME R
equivalents
Cash and deposits & B AP K 17 3,724,213 3,749,474
Bank overdraft ATIE X 36 (29,519) (41,576)
3,694,694 3,707,898
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CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED  Jefdffifék ok 8 4 Ml 47 PR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B 05 ¥ A Ff

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

GENERAL INFORMATION

Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Cayman Islands. Its registered
office address is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, South Church Street, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is
Units 1902-04, Level 19, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road
West, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) include:

- Manufacturing and distribution of watches and timepieces and
watch accessories;

- Property investments; and
- Banking and financial businesses.
The Group’s principal places of the business are in Hong Kong,

Switzerland, United Kingdom, Liechtenstein and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”).

— & R

e % S ok TR B AR T A PR\ (A7) )
MR 2RI ARAR - H
wE i ¥ = B Hb Bk 25 P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, South Church Street, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands > = %2 % 3 b [
DA HE JUREAT )2 75 1 95 IR Bk’ 5 BR
Y5 194 1902-04 & o A/ AR iR 7 s B
GG A RAT (THiAcH]) B e

SR ALY R B A A (B [ A 4R

)z EEEHEE

—  BEER RWrEhE A DA R gk 1 Y
KAy 88

-  WERE R

— RITRERET -

AT 2 B S B AR A -
e - H ST B Rrh e AR ([
Bl o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % . JU4F+ = =1 —H 14

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

@)

Adoption of new or revised HKFRS Acounting Standards —
effective 1 January 2024

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following new or revised standards, amendments and interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), which are relevant to and effective for the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on
1 January 2024:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as current
or non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause

Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

None of these new or amended HKFRS Accounting Standards has a
material impact on the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior period. The Group has not early applied any new or
amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period.

2. BRAGHRT B AR ST A T U

e )t e
(8)  PRAND AT o AL 5 AT 7 v 0 0 e

e R R - T AR
H—HAX%

JAAAEEE > ARG E W LA T i
T E R A g (&g st A
& ) B BT B AR T A~
AT B B o %S B B G T 2 AR
o BB R AN B A R = 4R
— A — H B 2 AR S A R

FRETHENRNZBT  RERAERRBLERS

FEGEAE BT WRRE L RB AR

FlERRASS (EET)  RAIMHRE- R
FREREERNE
WEET A

FEMBREENASSE  EREETHAR

2B
FRETHENATHZ BT HEMAMELH

% S T AT AR A BT A s T S A
S v UM AS 3B A 42 T O i
£ SEAR R B IR L 7 AR

SRR o A SR T M AR R L AR A
A A Bt 0 T R A 2 R T A
AT A i 5 i o A L
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e I S S R T A I A B )

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

ERAPT ] B R RT 7 v A 5 i
#E | o 514 J ()

(b)  New or revised HKFRS Accounting Standards that have (b) T AE A H I A AR R 8T T gl 58 4
been issued but are not yet effective W U A i v B g nt e I
The following new or revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, A% 48 [ 317 4R L PR AN L AT R B AR
potentially relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial L BER A MR A R B AR
statements, have been issued but are not yet effective and have not v R A B W T ARG T A vk A
been early adopted by the Group. e o5 e R g FHUE R o
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability* v g U B ] S

2L B

Amendments to HKFRS 7 and ~ Amendments to the T AR HE R S T BB st

HKFRS 9 Classification and BTRREES BB A2
Measurement of Financial 5 5 e 1)
Instruments? o5t 2 EHT

Amendments to HKFRS 7 and  Contracts Referencing Nature- Tk A A HE R 9 AR B AR

HKFRS 9 dependent Electricity? BTEREES  WEEENN
5 5 e 1) H#2
B BH]

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, T A A R A R Y R
HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, FRHEAZAEE 1 FEMY
Standards — Volume 11 HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72 O — 57 1AMk Bt e AR 7

9% FUE I H R
HUERISE Q5% -
T ik B T
e HI 55 1055 &
S il
ST RAE R AR
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Tk A e R BB SR A 251
Financial Statements? 551858 Je e i3
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public T AT A e JR AL Z SRR
Accountability: Disclosures® 551998 JB AT - B

Amendments to HK Presentation of Financial TR BEsEy BRI MEmE -

Interpretation 5 Statements — Classification by (L3 B N A
the Borrower of a Term Loan BRI
that contains a Repayment on & B HCET
Demand Clause® G

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets T AT e ) B B A

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its 5510 9% S A s ASAEREL

Associate or Joint Venture? el fH] A B 4

5285 L BT T

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 2 NEoEHFE—H—HEZ &N
U ) 4 1 P AR 2

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 2 NEZRNFE—H—HE8Z &N
U 4 1 P AR 2

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 g NoELFE—H—HE8Z &N
U 4 1 P AR 2

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 9 AT 5 B Bk 2 4% BR R 10 45 B2

determined A2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[U4F+ ] =+—H IL4F

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b)

New or revised HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals.

Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of five
categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and
discontinued operations, whereof the first three are new.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined management defined
performance measures, subtotals of income and expenses, and
includes new requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of
financial information based on the identified ‘roles’ of the primary
financial statements and the notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been made to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, which include changing the starting
point for determining cash flows from operations under the
indirect method, from ‘profit or loss’ to ‘operating profit or loss’
and removing the optionality around classification of cash flows
from dividends and interest. In addition, there are consequential
amendments to several other standards.

HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards, is effective
for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, but
earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. HKFRS 18
will apply retrospectively.

The Group is in the progress of making assessments of the potential
impact of these new or revised HKFRS Accounting Standards upon
initial application.

2. BRAGHRT B AR ST A T U
e ) ot e S o)

(b)

3 A o A 24 290 A T T sl A A T
A T S ot o S R B ()
Al B 5 o 3 58 18 R - B R
EANT RV E 13

7 48 SV 5 S ot B 26 18 AT U AT
e a e 1 BRI B R 2 251 -
7 SV 5 S o )26 18 RS A A Vi
F = s 1R A 25 BT 2 - B4
15 52 MR T /et

BEA - B R ZE M ik P B R AR R
Jiv A A R B S 43 28 A B 2
o REEME - TERR
O A IR S8 6B il =8 2 0
B o

R B SRR o S A B
SE M R BLREE WA T B S
N0 37 AR 4 A AR B R
R R G T 0 ) 30 A5 R HEA T R 4R
By SRR L E ©

BeAh - F e R ER 7R SR
BERCAERRFEBREGERT e
7516 SR T TR 4 0% 1 0 AR B e i
F4 7EE 2 B b [ M) B R S AR
B A B R ] - DL R A B RS
Fe F) BB 4 U B 0 SR SR 4R 4L - U
Bb > T HABYE AN AR E R RT -

7 8 SV 5 S S 565 18 55 S L A ¥R
AT R —F =4 — A — A&
AR Bt 2 Bl R AR (A AT
{2 Tl R S B o R o A o A
ok ME RIS 18 SR A /B I RE T

7SR T IE A ST A U R % S R RT
ARG BT A s S o A S
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e I S S R T A I A B )

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1

3.2

33

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable individual HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. The consolidated financial
statements also included the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair value. The
adoption of new or revised HKFRS Accounting Standards and the
impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, if any, are
disclosed in note 2.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are
used in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates.

Going concern basis

The Group has missed some of the scheduled repayment of certain
bank borrowing related to its non-banking business for the year
ended 31 December 2024. In light of these, the Group has entered
into the negotiation immediately with the lender for extension or
renewal of repayment of the aforesaid bank borrowing.

3.

3.1

3.2

33

HREW

A M IRR TR R G A
B U 2 BT A 7 ) o B
o 2 ) e LU A o A A R
RN G AU N TR X B U S
32 5y BT A PR A w2 B A (L
TTRLR ) Z e B ©

JEE 32 AR 5

R B 5 R T AR 4B I S A HE A
B MBS A T &M TR
N T ERT R o BRAHT AT SRAE T
7 ik SV S i At 0 0 0 ) A
S E A5 IS R S B (AT it
B 5k 2 B 5%

il B A L S R B R R I
2 Erat et R B - i %
it T o A R AR EL ) B I
BeAT B 2 S AR T M B K B A o
P R A R B A T i B R A A R A
B A o

BE_FNEH+ZHA=+—HI
AEJE A SR T R BE A ) 4 22 B R
WATEBARIE TRATHEE - A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[U4F+ ] =+—H IL4F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

33

3.4

Going concern basis (Continued)

Before the report date, the Group has fully repaid the outstanding
amount of approximately HK$55,000,000 that the Group had
missed on the year ended date. Moreover, the Group and the lender
has agreed a supplementary arrangement to enhance the repayment
schedule of the remaining borrowing.

Based on the above, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the Group would have sufficient financial resources to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due. Accordingly, it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(“HK$’000”) unless otherwise stated.

3. L (g

33

3.4

FRE B (4)

AR BT AR O R R
AR 48 HA AR A HOR RRIER I R
#K#155,000,000 #5TC © BLAh > AL
BRI B W 2 R 8 > DA iR
ik NS SRR AEE

EJR BT > AR T HEH R A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

4.1

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates
of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquire is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, to measure non-controlling interest that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRS
Accounting Standards. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments, in
which case the costs are deducted from equity.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[U4F+ ] =+—H IL4F

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.1

Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)
In respect of a business combination which took place during the
year ended 31 December 2023, the vendor undertakes to reimburse
to the Group the shortfall between the target financial performance
and the actual financial performance of the acquiree, by reducing
the amount of consideration to be paid by the Group to the vendor
and potentially by cash (referred to as profit compensation in note
47 for the details), the arrangement of such profit compensation
was accounted for financial liabilities or assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests is the
amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

4. EREEHBORE R @)
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.2

4.3

Subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint
control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method whereby
they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying
amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
change in the associates’ net assets except that losses in excess of the
Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its
associates are recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’
interests in the associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s
profits and losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated
against the carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying
amount of the associate. Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount
of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other
non-financial assets. Accounting policies on impairment of interests
in associates are described in note 4.5 below.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.4

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the fair value of consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquire and the
acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. The consideration
transferred is measured at the aggregate of fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration paid, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the acquisition
date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition
date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash generating
units (“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets on pro-rata
basis over the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the individual asset’s
carrying amount to below its fair value less cost of disposal (if
measurable) or its value-in-use (if determinable), whichever is the
higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or
loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

45

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of the following assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

. property, plant and equipment;
. intangible assets; and
. interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less costs
of disposal and value-in-use) of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount under another individual HKFRS Accounting Standards, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease
under that individual HKFRS Accounting Standards.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected
to be derived from the asset or CGU (note 4.4) discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset or CGU.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.6

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold land,
where the fair value of the buildings could be measured separately
from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception of the lease,
and other items of plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress (“CIP”), are stated at acquisition cost less accumulated
depreciation and any identified impairment.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to the working condition and
location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their estimated
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Over the terms of the leases or estimated
useful life ranging between 3 to 50
years, whichever is shorter

Over the terms of the leases or estimated
useful life, ranging between 10 years
and 50 years, whichever is shorter

Right-of-use assets

Land and buildings

Leasehold Over the terms of the leases, or estimated
improvements useful life of 5 years, whichever is
shorter
Plant and machinery 6% to 20%
Furniture, fixturesand 6% to 50%
office equipment
Motor vehicles 9% to 30%
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.6

4.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ estimated useful lives, estimated residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

CIP, which mainly represents renovation work on buildings and
installation of machinery, is stated at cost less any impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs incurred during the periods
of construction, installation and testing. CIP is reclassified to
the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the assets for
their intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in
respect of CIP until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the net sale proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value. Fair
value is determined by external professional valuers, with sufficient
experience with respect to both the location and the nature of
the investment property. The carrying amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position reflect the prevailing
market conditions at the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either change in the fair value or the
sale of an investment property are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8

Leasing

Accounting as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement date have a lease
term 12 months or less and do not contain purchase option. The
lease payments associated with those leases have been expensed on
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. Except for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of
an investment property or a class of property, plant and equipment to
which the Group applies the revaluation model, the Group measures
the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the cost
model, the Group measures the right-to-use assets at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings that are held
for rental or capital appreciation purpose under HKAS 40 and are
carried at fair value.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8

Leasing (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities are recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date
of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable: (ii) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable
by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price
of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option; and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liabilities by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liabilities; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to
reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease
(because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of a lessee
extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the
carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to make
over the revised term, which are discounted using a revised discount
rate.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease
with the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one or more
additional assets being leased for an amount commensurate with
the standalone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the
modification is accounted for as a separate lease, in all other cases,
where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether that
is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the discount
rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-of-use asset
being adjusted by the same amount.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8

4.9

Leasing (Continued)

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a number
of tenants. Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

Intangible assets

(i)  Acquired intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequently, intangible assets with definite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over
their useful lives as follows. The amortisation expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Supplier and distribution networks 10 years
Brand names 10 years or indefinite

useful lives
Patents 10 years
Computer software 3 years
Customer relationship 3 years
Technical Knowhow 10 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives shall not be
amortised.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.9 Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment

Intangible assets with definite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset may
be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually, irrespective of whether there is any
indication that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are
tested for impairment by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts (note 4.5).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount; however, the carrying amount should
not be increased above the lower of its recoverable amount
and the carrying amount that would have resulted had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
All reversals are recognised in the profit or loss immediately.

4.10 Financial instruments

0]

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL™), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the transaction
price.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

0]

Financial assets (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirely when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest method.
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVPL include financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at fair value through
profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

0]

(ih)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not
held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income are measured at
fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss
unless the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of
part of the cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income and are not
reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as FVPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends
and interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables, financial assets measured
at amortised cost and debt investments measured at FVOCI.
The ECLs are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible
default events within the 12 months after the reporting
date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at
an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest rate.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets at amortised cost or at FVOCI,
the ECLs are based on the 12-months ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

For the due from clients and due from banks, except for
precious metal, ECL is determined by reference to the
estimation of the exposure at default (“EAD”), probability
of default (“PD”) as well as a loss given default (“LGD”).
The 12-months and lifetime PDs represent the probability of
default occurring over the next 12 months and the remaining
maturity of the instrument respectively. The EAD represents
the expected balance at default, taking into account the
repayment of principal and interest from the reporting date
to the default event together with any expected drawdowns
of committed facilities. The LGD represents expected losses
on the EAD given the event of default, taking into account,
among other attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral
value at the time it is expected to be realised and the time
value of money.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For loan commitments, the date of initial recognition for the
purpose of assessing ECLs is considered to be the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment.
In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition of a loan commitment, the
Group considers changes in the risk of default occurring on
the loan to which the loan commitment relates.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criteria is more appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
cost are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives,
the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a financial
liability at fair value through profit or loss, except where the
embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash
flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative
is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or
significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising
gains or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the liabilities
are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed
and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or
(i) the financial liability contains an embedded derivative
that would need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in the statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(v)

V)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
payables, borrowings, and other financial liabilities issued by
the Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the original or
modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contact at the higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance,
being the ECL provision measured in accordance with
principles of the the accounting policy set out in 4.10(ii); and
(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

411

4.12

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
weighted average basis, and in the case of work-in-progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for
income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax
purposes. Except for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised, provided that the deductible
temporary differences are not arises from initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction other than in a business
combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to
the expected manner in which the carrying amount of the asset
or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on determining the
appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is
when an investment property is carried at fair value under HKAS
40 “Investment Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties are measured
using the tax rates that would apply on sale of these investment
properties at their carrying amounts at the reporting date. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.12

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive income in which case
the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity in which case
the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if,
and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in
net if, and only if,

(@) the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i)  different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.13 Revenue recognition

(i)  Revenue from contract with customers
(@)  Service fees and commission income
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Service fees and commission income is generally
recognised when the corresponding service is

provided.

Service fees and commission income are recognised
at a point in time when the relevant services such as
broking services, are provided to the customers and
there is no unfulfilling performance obligation after
services being rendered. Except for a few services,
such as custody account services, of which revenue
is recognised over time so as to depict the pattern of

delivery of services.

Origination or commitment fees received/paid by the
Group which result in the creation or acquisition of
a financial asset are deferred and recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate. When a loan
commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down
of a loan, loan commitment fees are recognised.

(b)  Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a
point in time when the control of the goods has been
transferred to the customer and there is no unfulfilling
performance obligation after the acceptance of the

goods.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(i)  Revenue from other sources

@

Interest income

Interest income arising from the use of entity assets
by others is recognised in profit or loss based on the
duration and the effective interest rate. Interest income
includes the amortisation of any discount or premium
or other differences between the initial carrying
amount of an interest bearing instrument and its
amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest
rate basis.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of financial assets
and liabilities and of allocating the interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial instrument. When calculating
the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument (for example, call and similar options) but
does not consider future credit losses. The calculation
includes all fees and interests paid or received between
parties to the contract that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other
premiums or discounts.

Interest on the impaired financial assets is recognised
using the rate of interest used to discount future cash
flows (“unwinding of discount”) for the purpose of
measuring the related impairment loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(i)  Revenue from other sources (Continued)
(b) Rental income
Rental income under operating leases is recognised
on straight-line method over the term of the relevant
lease.

(c) Dividend income
Dividend is recognised when the right to receive the
dividend is established.

4.14 Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans and defined benefit pension plans.

(i)  Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

The contributions recognised in respect of defined
contribution plans are expensed as they fall due. Liabilities
and assets may be recognised if underpayment or prepayment
has occurred and are included in current liabilities or current
assets as they are normally of a short-term nature.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme™) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees in Hong Kong who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.14 Retirement benefits (Continued)

0)

(if)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government (the
“Scheme”). These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The Scheme is responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees and the Group
has no further obligations for the actual pension payments
or other post-retirement benefits beyond the employer
contributions. Contributions under the Scheme are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the PRC.

Defined benefit pension plans

The Group has operated four defined benefit pension plans
for those employees in Switzerland and Liechtenstein by
reference to the respective local ordinance requirement.

Defined benefit pension plan defines an amount of pension
benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of
service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position in respect of defined pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end
of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets.
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflow
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will
be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to
terms of the related pension obligation. In countries where
there is no deep market in such bonds, the market rates
on government bonds are used. Actuarial gains and losses
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Past service costs are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.14 Retirement benefits (Continued)

(iii)  Long service payments obligation

The Group’s net obligation under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance in respect of long service payments
on cessation of employment under certain circumstances
is the estimated discounted amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their services in the
current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated
annually using the projected unit credit method, taking into
account offsetable accrued benefits related to the Group’s
MPF) Scheme.

(iv)  Short-term employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the
year when the employees render the related services.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

4.15 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business components and for
their review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following the Group’s major
lines of business.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments: (a)
manufacturing and distribution of watches and timepieces; (b)
property investments; and (c) banking and financial businesses.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the product and service lines requires different resources as well
as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers, if any, are
carried out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment
results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial
statements prepared under HKFRS Accounting Standards.

Segment assets include all assets but interests in associates, interests
in joint ventures, certain trading portfolio investments, assets of a
disposal group held for sale and non-current assets held for sales. In
addition, corporate assets which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment are not allocated to a
segment, which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarter.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.15

4.16

Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are not
directly attributable to the business activities of any operating
segment and are not allocated to a segment. These include
borrowings and due to directors, a shareholder and related parties.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to reportable
segments.

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by Group entities in a currency other
than the currency of the primary economic environment in which
they operate (their ‘functional currency’) are recorded at the rates
ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the reporting
date. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of unsettled
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised immediately in profit
or loss, except for foreign currency borrowings qualifying as a
hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, in which case
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign exchange reserve along with the
exchange differences arising on the retranslation of the foreign
operation.

Exchange gains and losses arising on the retranslation of monetary
financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change in
fair value and recognised in profit or loss. Exchange gains and losses
on non-monetary OCI financial assets form part of the overall gain
or loss in OCI recognised in respect of that financial instrument.

On consolidation, the results of overseas operations are translated
into HK$ at rates approximating to those ruling when the
transactions took place. All assets and liabilities of overseas
operations, including goodwill arising on the acquisition of those
operations, are translated at the rate ruling at the reporting date.
Exchange differences arising on translating the opening net assets at
opening rate and the results of overseas operations at actual rate are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign exchange reserve.

Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss in Group
entities” separate financial statements on the translation of long-
term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the overseas operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign exchange
reserve on consolidation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the foreign exchange reserve relating
to that operation up to the date of disposal are transferred to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
Such estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, rarely equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group tests on an annual basis whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 4.4.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculations require the use of
judgement and estimates of the future cash flows expected to arise from the
CGUs, the timeframe for the cash flows forecast and the suitable discount
rates in order to calculate the present value. In the process of estimating
expected future cash flows, management makes assumptions about
future revenues and profits. These assumptions relate to future events
and circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill within the next financial
year. Determining the appropriate discount rate involves estimating the
appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset specific risk factors.
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Provision for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for obsolete and
slow-moving inventories, the Group would evaluate ageing analysis
of inventories and compare the carrying value of inventories to their
respective estimated net realisable value. The assessment of the provision
involves management judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome
or expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Depreciation and amortisation

The Group depreciates and amortises its property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets with definite useful lives using straight-line method over
their respective estimated useful lives, starting from the date on which the
assets are available for intended use, in accordance with accounting policy
stated in notes 4.6 and 4.9. The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’
estimate of the period that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of these assets.

Estimated impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for impairment of trade
and other receivables on a forward-looking basis. The provision matrix is
determined based on the Group’s historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the trade receivables with similar credit risk characteristics
and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. Other receivables is
assessed for 12-months expected credit losses, given credit risk has not
increase significantly since initial recognition. In making the judgement,
management considers available reasonable and supportable forward-
looking information such as actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of debtors, actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business and debtors’ financial position. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed by the Group’s management.

Impairment assessment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating
conditions specific to the Group that may lead to impairment of non-
financial assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is determined. The recoverable amount is determined
based on value-in-use calculation or fair value less costs of disposal
(“FVLCD?”). The calculations of value-in-use require the use of judgement
and estimates of the future cash flows expected to arise from the assets
or CGUs, the timeframe for the cash flows forecast and the suitable
discount rates in order to calculate the present value. In the process of
estimating expected future cash flows, management makes assumptions
about future revenues and profits. These assumptions relate to future
events and circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of non-financial assets within
the next financial year. Determining the appropriate discount rate involves
estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset specific
risk factors. Calculation of FVLCD involves the selection of valuation
model, adoption of key assumption, and input data, which are subject to
management judgement.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, Switzerland, United
Kingdom, Liechtenstein and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the amount of the provision for income taxes and the timing of
the payments of related taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Estimation of defined benefit obligations

The Group operates four defined benefit plans for those employees in
Switzerland and Liechtensteia. Pension costs for defined benefit plans are
assessed using the projected unit credit method in accordance with HKAS
19, Employee Benefits. Under this method, the cost of providing pensions
is charged to the profit or loss in accordance with the advice of the actuaries
who carry out a full valuation of the plans. The pension obligation is
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the
reporting period based on government agency or high quality corporate
bonds with currency and term similar to the estimated term of benefit
obligations. All actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full, in the year
in which they occur, in other comprehensive income.

Management appointed actuaries to carry out a full valuation of these
pension plans to determine the pension obligations that are required to
be disclosed and accounted for in accordance with the requirements of
HKFRS Accounting Standards.

The actuaries use assumptions and estimates in determining the fair value
of the defined benefit plans and evaluate and update these assumptions on
an annual basis. Judgement is required to determine the principal actuarial
assumptions to determine the present value of defined benefit obligations
and service costs. Changes to the principal actuarial assumptions can
significantly affect the present value of plan obligations and service costs
in future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Lease-estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group uses its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease
liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group
‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease.

The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates.

Going concern consideration
The assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a
judgement by the directors, at a particular point of the time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
Further details for the directors’ assessment of going concern assumption
are set out in notes 3.3 and 51.6.

Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s financial
statements require measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value. The
fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and non-financial assets
and liabilities utilises market observable inputs and data as far as possible.
Inputs used in determining fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the inputs used in the valuation
technique utilised are (the “fair value hierarchy’):

- Level 1: unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;

- Level 2: observable inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1; and

- Level 3: unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available.

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest
level of the inputs used that has a significant effect on the fair value
measurement of the item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised
in the period they occur.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)
The Group measures the following items at fair value:

Due from banks — precious metals (note 18)
- Trading portfolio investments (note 19)

- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(note 20)

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 21)

- Derivative financial assets (note 22)
- Derivative financial liabilities (note 22)

- Investment properties (note 29)

Due to clients — precious metals (note 33)

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement of
the items above, please refer to the respective notes.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The chief operating decision-maker is identified as executive directors.

The executive directors have identified the Group’s product and service
lines as operating segments as follows:

(@) manufacturing and distribution of watches and timepieces and
watch accessories;

(b)  property investments; and
(c) banking and financial businesses.

These operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made
on the basis of adjusted segment operating results.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. HER @)
2024 e~y 111
Watches and Banking
timepieces and Property and financial
watch accessories investments businesses Unallocated Total
R
Wil i #ii R
VAT SR P WER% SR AR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tikx Tibn Tibn Tikrx Tibn
Seqment revente: AEMA :
Net interest and dividend income from BEEEZHERRE
hanking busingss A - - 285,982 - 285,982
Net service fees and commission income FGEd A - UL
from hanking business fAFH = = 177,119 = 177,119
Trading income from banking business RITER 25 - - 3,309 - 35,309
Service fees and commission income from - AR ER 2R E R4
financial business A - - 2 - 2
Interest income from financial business EREREZHERA = = 1,369 = 1,369
Sales of goods from non-hanking and FROTREHER K
financial businesses HEWA 813,952 - - - 813952
Rental income from non-banking and FRTREMER S
financial businesses A - 21872 - - 2872
Total revenue B 813952 21812 499,799 - 1,335,623
Segment results XS (194622) 15397 132062 = (47.163)
Unallocated corporate income and RARARRA RS 4
expenses, net - - - (153,095) (153,095)
Share of profit of associates TR A T A - - - 3,306 3306
Finance costs R R (2301) = (537) (39487) (63,095)
(Loss)/profit before income tax W LT (R /e A (217699) 15307 131525 (189.276) (260,047)
Income tax expense FrBHR (3637) (1) (17.112) (69) (21,605)
(Loss)/profit for the year ARE (R /] (221,3%0) 14670 114353 (189,345) (281,652)
Segment asets MR E 3656453 185,497 13744247 - 17586197
Unallocated corporate assets: AARATGE :
Interestsin joint ventures mibhatEkEs : - = 496 496
Interests in associates ke A f iR - - . 8,716 8,716
Trading portfolio investments LHARRE = = - 39,564 39,564
Financial assets atfair value through other A TEF A2 A Z
comprehensive income SREE - = = 23893 233,893
Cash and deposits RS - = = 7839 7839
Other unallocated corporate assets AFAEATEE . 5 = 9120 9,120
Consolidated total assets HalgE 3,656,453 185,497 13744247 377,628 17,963,825
Segment liabltes MR 865917 088 125035 - 13450195
Unallocated corporate liahlites: RATATARE: - -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. HER @
2024 (Continued) ZR YA ()
Watches and Banking
timepieces and Property and financial
watch accessories investments husinesses Unallocated Total
HHR
Wil i T
Y& £ WERE SRR KR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
Borrowings 8 - - - 370,53 37053
Lease labiliies HEAK - - - 35,565 35,565
Other unallocated corporate liabilties (note) AR /6 7 4 65 (32 - - - 325,484 325,484
Consolidated total liabilities GREAR 865,917 41,883 12,542,395 731,585 14,181,780
Other segment information LA Ve
Interest income and other interest income TR RERER
from non-banking and financial HEMAREMFERA
husinesses 661 - - 368 1029
Reversal of expected creditlossesontrade. PR AT M5 BB BB
receivables (6,027) - - - (6,027)
Expected credit loss on other assefs HEERDE SER (36,724) - - = (36,724)
Provision of expected credit lossesondue. ~ MBMST R F ARG &
from banks and customers BRE - - (5:321) = (5.321)
Reversal of expected creditlosses for other~~~ kBEB A SR 2 oAb 4 R
financial assets at amortied cost ERENEEERRN - - 618 - 618
Reversal of provision for litigation risks, net & o BB ¢ 8 1 - - 29 - 29
Provision for inventories RERL (21,348) - - - (21.349)
Reversal of provision for inventories FER R 11,000 = - = 11,000
Impairment oss on goodwill TR e (115,917) - - - (115917)
Impairment loss on property, plant ¥ TR RREREER
and equipment (L,407) - - - (L400)
Impairment loss on intangible assets GBS (1732) - - - (1732)
(Gain on fair value changes on financial AT ARHRESRZ
assetsliabilites at fair value through SHEE/BEATH
profit or loss CLIle 69,623 - - - 69,623
Depreciation and amortisation 1 s (54139) = (27482) (11,115) (92,736)
Net deficit on revaluation of investment S IET VA Sl
properties - (4,386) - - (4,386)
Additions to non-current assets FERIBEE 25441 - 15,485 - 40,932
Note: Other unallocated corporate liabilities mainly included amounts due to a Mk : Kb RABARAEFEEQHER -F

TIAEFTH =4 A BB A
] B R B K o

related company and an associate as at 31 December 2024.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. HER @)
2023 ZFT=AE
Watches and Banking
timepieces and Property and financial
watch accessories investments businesses Unallocated Total
HiER
Wyah 2 i Rtk
DR SEHR VIES/E SRER P it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk Fibr T Tk Tk
Seqment revente: AEMA :
Net interest and dividend income from BEEZHERRE
hanking busingss ON:E] - - 285,968 - 285,968
Net service fees and commission income RITER R ER RS
from hanking business N - - 171919 - 171,919
Trading income from banking business RITER 25 - - 33,907 - 38,907
Service fees and commission income from £ HEH 2 REE kM2
financial busingss A - - 1 - 12
Interest income from financial business GHERZHBRA - - B - B
Sales of goods from non-hanking and FRITREHER K
financial businesses HEWA 1113945 - - - 1,113,945
Rental income from non-banking and FRERERER 2 HS
financial businesses A - 8275 - - 8205
Total revenue LN 1,113,945 2,215 491,839 - 1,629,059
Segment results MY 86,447 10671 130129 - 241
Unallocated corporate income and RARAARA RS 4
expenses, net - - - (79,054) (79,054)
Share of profit of joint ventures e L] - - - 5 5
Share of profit of associates Tl R A i Al - - - 13842 13842
Finance costs &R (21.221) - (336) (50,679) (78,242)
Profit(loss) hefore income tax WA/ (BR) 59,220 10671 129793 (115,886) 83,798
Income tax expense B X (3.886) - (16,623) (30) (20539)
Profit(loss) for the year AERER/ (BR) 55,334 10671 113170 (115,916) 63,259
Segment assefs g 480 191574 11629158 - 16,092,554
Unallocated corporate assets: RATATGE :
Interests in joint ventures it e arEER - - - 496 496
Interests in associates it Z=dNGl A - - - 108411 108411
Trading portfolio investments RHAAHE - - - 27558 27558
Financial assets atfair value throughother A TEF A2 AL
comprehensive income LREE - = = 285627 285,627
Cash and deposits Ba R - - - 3,387 3,367
Other unallocated corporate assets A AT ERE - - - 12973 12973
Consolidated total assets HRlEE 4211822 191,574 11,629,158 438452 16,531,006
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. HER @
2023 (Continued) - g ()]
Watches and Banking
timepieces and Property and financial
watch accessories investments businesses Unallocated Total
LEY
Wyah 2 i Bk
D RS HR VIES/E GRER i st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tk i T
Segment labilties AEAR 985,989 39210 10,362,734 = 11,387,993
Unallocated corporate liahilites: AARATAR:
Borrowings 8 - - - 395,103 395103
Due to ashareholder FEf— 4 MO - - - 9,025 9025
Lease liabilites HEAHK - - - 15,090 15,080
Other unallocated corporats liabilties (note) ~ SLA R AR/ A £ B4 () - = - 356,501 358,501
Consolidated tota liabilities GRAAR 985,989 3210 10,362,734 771,119 12,165,712
Other segment information HoaBEH
Interest income and other interest income FRITRERER A BRA
RHAAB A 40 - - o 797
Expected creditlosses on rade receivables eI SUREN G Bl 1R (10810) - - - (10810)
Expected credit loss on other assets i EE RN SEH (1,686) (1,045) (1,224) (150) (4.105)
Provision of expected credit losses on due YR REFFEENEE
from banks and customers Bt - - (7591) - (7591)
Excepted credit losses for other financial BRRAAT R AR
assets at amortised cost BERMGERER - - (6,024) - (6,024)
Provision for ltigation risks, net A BB A - - (412) - (4121)
Provision for inventories fERf (24434) - - - (24434)
Reversal of provision for inventories FER RN 3 - - - B
Impairment loss on goodwil WA g (133%9) = = - (13389)
(Gain on fair value changes on financial BT ARG 2
assetslabilities at fair value through SHEE/BEATH
profitor loss e 65,192 = - = 65,192
Depreciation and amortisation higye (55,318) = (32062) (6.458) (93839)
Net deficit on revaluation of investment REMEE BT
properties - (1,218) - - (1,218)
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 25,764 - 8,792 - 3456

Note: Other unallocated corporate liabilities mainly included amounts due to a
related company and associates as at 31 December 2023.

Unallocated corporate income and expenses mainly comprised dividend
income from trading portfolio investments and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, gain or loss on fair value changes in
trading portfolio investments and other corporate income and expenses of
the Group’s headquarter which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment. Other corporate expenses mainly
included employee costs and directors’ remuneration for administrative
purpose.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
The Group’s revenues from external customers and its non-current assets
(other than financial assets and deferred tax assets) are divided into the

following geographical areas:

Revenue from

external customers

5 JE B )
AR E AN F 2 U IR B

(4 Al 8 8 T R AL JE I FE BRAM) #2 DA M
(5 31 73

Non-current assets

AR E WA I ik B &
2024 2023 2024 2023
—® Y4 o= — B Py —Eo =4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T THIT T¥#IT T U T
Hong Kong it 75,371 44,432 139,101 365,922
The PRC H 653,060 782,066 1,597,645 1,598,783
Switzerland Hi+ 3,389 3,332 347,554 376,296
United Kingdom £ 52,915 51,666 8,488 5,908
Liechtenstein P& SR 499,799 491,839 444,815 481,098
Others HoAth 51,089 255,724 1,252 1,243
1,335,623 1,629,059 2,538,855 2,829,250

The geographical location of revenues from watches and timepieces and
watch accessories and property investments segment are based on the
location of customers, and the geographical location of revenues from
banking and financial businesses segment are based on the location of
operations of the cash generating units (“CGUs”).

Non-current assets (other than financial assets and deferred tax assets)
include interests in joint ventures, interests in associates, property, plant
and equipment, investment properties, intangible assets and goodwill.
For interests in joint ventures and interests in associates, goodwill and
intangible assets, the geographical location is based on the areas of
operation of CGUs. The geographical location of other non-current assets
is based on the physical location of the assets.

The Group has a large number of customers and there is no significant
revenue that is more than 10% of the Group’s revenue derived from
specific external customers for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.
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7. REVENUE

The Group is principally engaging in manufacturing and distribution of
watches and timepieces and watch accessories, property investments and
banking and financial businesses.

For banking and financial businesses, revenue mainly comprises net
interest and dividend income, net service fees and commission income
and trading income (notes 7(a), 7(b), 7(c) and 7(d)). For non-banking and
financial businesses, revenue mainly represents the net invoiced value
of goods sold, after allowance for returns and trade discounts and rental
income received and receivables (note 7(e)).

LN

A P AR 2 B ik T R E o L T BB
P AR S5 T G ~ SR O TR S T R
Wy SE L DL T SR AT R 4 TS o

BRERAT R RET T S o A FE A
BB R A TR ~ IR AR S U AR
B RS N (BiFEE7(@) > 7(b) ~ 7(c) &
7(d)) - whIEERAT R RZER TS o Ik AE
ERANBRIE B I G0 s R T
(B DA e B e S U AL A e A (B 3L 7)) -

Revenue recognised during the year is as follows: FERTERZ AT :
Net interest and dividend income from banking business (@) SATEEH A8 B B WA TR
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$°000
TG T
Interest and dividend income from T %) %% YE P e A 2 SR AT SE B
banking business arising from: ZHB B BB -
Interest income — due from banks FEMCA — HE NS 8R4 T 3K IH 253,027 169,796
Interest income — due from clients FE A — BN & P 3IH 44,609 28,608
Interest income from mortgage loans o4 Fr k2 A B A 79,253 75,175
Interest income from money market BT B AR 2 R E A
papers (322) 7,803
Interest income from financial assets & RVE E 2 A Bl A 95,088 48,521
Negative interest expense on due to JEAS % 5 3K IE 2 A RS BH %
clients 31,897 28,978
503,552 358,881
Interest expenses from banking T %) %% YE B e A 2 SR AT 3B
business arising from: Z B X
Interest expense on due to banks JEE A} R AT R IE 22 1B B 32 (288) (189)
Interest expense on due to clients JRE A} 25 5 R IE 2 I EL B 32 (216,098) (71,883)
Negative interest income on due from JRES ERAT I % P AR 2
banks and clients B AR YA (1,184) (841)
(217,570) (72,913)
Net interest and dividend income from  $RATZE#H 2 Fl & KB BB A
banking business b ] 285,982 285,968
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REVENUE (Continued) 7. WA @
(b)  Net service fees and commission income from banking (b) S4TSR Z kB & B E&BA
business ez}
2024 2023
ZE UL ===
HK$’000 HK$°000
TG THs T
Service fee and commission income T %) %% YE P e A 2 SR AT SE B
from banking business arising from: Z s e A AW
Commission income from loans =GR EL A N 7,112 4,647
Brokerage fees S 35,530 26,912
Custody account fees FEE R 2 25,870 27,046
Commission on investment advice and 1 R N A R
asset management 48,337 44,542
Commission income from service fees & lEAVON 27,020 4,308
Commission income from fiduciary fees (Ed- liEAON 385 29,825
Commission income from retrocession o R AR B A 4,082 11
Other commission income At AR < U A 60,972 61,532
209,308 198,823
Service fees and commission expenses SRAT TS 2 s B %
from banking business {48 BH = (32,189) (26,904)
Net service fees and commission income  $R47 26755 2 IR # & Rk M &
from banking business WA R 177,119 171,919
(c) Trading income from banking business () MITEBLZRIHBA
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt THs T
Equity instruments A T H = 1
Debt instruments s LR 7 269
Securities i I 4,103 2
Forex and precious metals A1 T K £ 4 ) 30,931 33,597
Funds H 4 268 38
Trading income from banking business SRATEERS 2 38 B A 35,309 33,907
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7. REVENUE (Continued) WA )
(d) Revenue from financial business (d S@EHEZWA
2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 ===
HK$°000 HK$°000
TG T
Service fees and commission income R 755 2 B AR 42 i A 20 12
Interest income FLE A 1,369 33
Revenue from financial business S ER 2 WA 1,389 45
(e) Revenue from non-banking and financial businesses () FHBITREMEBLZRA
2024 2023
—E Y4 ===
HK$’000 HK$°000
T 0 T
Sales of goods e 813,952 1,113,945
Rental income FHa A 21,872 23,275
Revenue from non-banking business and ~ JF $RAT 2575 e & 2 2
financial businesses e A 835,824 1,137,220
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OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS OR 8. o i A B i Wt £5 5K s 18 5 AR

Government subsidies mainly comprised of unconditional subsidies received for

subsidising the Group’s business.

B Z M B o

LOSSES
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TG THs T
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 12) A — Mg AR 2
Wt (B eE12) - 2,529
Gain on disposal of interests in associates HR A T A T A D RE A 2 AR = 1,349
Gain on fair value changes in trading portfolio FEERAT KB ZEWS 3 B LG
investments from non-banking and financial & 2 N 5 B 0 £ 1
businesses, net (note 19) #H (B 3E19) 282 136
Gain on fair value changes on financial assets/ Fe AR FEA e A 55 15 2
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss SRR BEZ AT
(note 21) S YR (K 5E21) 69,623 65,192
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 31) T (B G 18 (FRF 5T 31) (115,917) (13,389)
Impairment loss on property, plant and W2 ~ kB KA (e s 1R
equipment (note 28) (Jft 5% 28) (1,407) =
Impairment loss on intangible asset (note 30) 0T 6 7 U (R 4R (PR3 30) (1,732) =
Net deficit on revaluation of investment W) 3 Al 2 e 4 R AR
properties (note 29) (Pft 5% 29) (4,386) (1,218)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and YIS RS Bk 2 AR
equipment 1,533 1,021
Gain on early termination of lease BRI EHEZ i 519 =
Bank and other interest income from non- T SRAT Je 4 b SE s 2 SR AT I
banking and financial businesses ol A1 Bl A 1,029 797
Dividend income from financial assets at fair PN AR A HoAfth 22 T U A
value through other comprehensive income 2 &g E 2 R IR A
(note 20(a)) (Bff 5 20(a)) 7,941 10,578
Other operating income oA 288 Y A - 15,881
Government subsidies (note) B A Bh 4 (B 5E) 5,083 2,500
Reversal of provision/(provision) of litigation IR A R B AR R (] ()
risks (note 37) (Bf$ 5 37) 219 (4,121)
Provision of expected credit losses for due from  JEW 8- 17 & % 5 2K JE T8 1
banks and clients (note 18(b)) & B R (B 5E 18(b)) (5,327) (7,591)
Reversal of expected credit losses/(provision o S5 P B MR 22 At 4 il
of expected credit losses) for other financial /E T A (S Sl AR
assets at amortised cost (note 24(b)) (TEHA (5 B 1R )
([t 5% 24(b)) 618 (6,024)
Exchange gain, net A REE U #5178 5,913 7,579
Other sundry income, net At A T A Y BE 1,344 2,036
(34,665) 77,255
Note: P 3E -

SO A B <6 2 AL 4 WSS AR A U A 4 T
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9.

10. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

FINANCE COSTS FROM NON-BANKING 9. FEMATHER M B E A
BUSINESS
2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 -
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt TH T
Interest charged on bank borrowings, bank SATER -~ BATIE L
overdrafts and other borrowings HoAth A8 19 F B B 32 59,382 75,748
Interest on lease liabilities (note 38) L&A EALE (B 55 38) 3,713 2,494
63,095 78,242

(Loss)/profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

10. BRI 3BERT O 48) i A1
I T 8B AT OB i RIS R bR (G

A) T I AR R
2024 2023
e~y 11! [ e
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt THETT
Cost of inventories recognised as expense, THERR £ BA S 1 A7 B A

including: (R 526,644 514,001
— Reversal of provision for inventories —fF B (11,000) (38)
— Provision for inventories — AR 21,348 24,434
Depreciation and amortisation T 85 I B 92,736 93,838
— Depreciation for owned assets (note (a)) —HHAEEIE (@) 52,090 53,318
— Depreciation for right-of-use assets (note ()  — {3 Fl ## & 2= T 8 (5% (a)) 28,911 32,062
— Amortisation of intangible assets (note (b)) — MEJY A E AN (5T (b)) 11,735 8,458
Short term lease expenses i A B B S 19,038 27,436
Auditor’s remuneration A% S ETTT <5 4,600 4,700
Gross rental income FH 4B U A R R (21,872) (23,275)
Less: direct operating expenses B B 2,684 2,980
Net rental income FH 4 YA 3 AR (19,188) (20,295)
Research and development expenses (note (b)) 5t & B 2% B 3 (5L (b)) 11,215 15,434

Expected credit losses on other assets (note 32) At & /2 18 115 €5 18
(BfH3E32) 36,724 4,105

Expected credit losses on trade receivables A WA S o T A e s 4
(note 23(a)) (Bft 5% 23(a)) 6,027 10,810
Advertising JEE A 41,455 54,731
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(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued) ~ 10.

Notes:

(a) Depreciation expense of HK$5,823,000 (2023: HK$6,322,000) has been
included in cost of sales from non-banking and financial businesses,
HK$13,485,000 (2023: HK$24,076,000) in selling and distribution expenses
and HK$61,693,000 (2023: HK$54,982,000) in administrative expenses.

(b) Amortisation expenses and research and development expenses had been
included in the administrative expenses.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong profit
tax has been provided for certain subsidiaries within the Group and is
calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits (2023: 16.5%).
The subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to income taxes at tax
rates ranging between 15% and 25% (2023: 15% and 25%). Overseas tax
is calculated at the rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions.

The Group is also subject to PRC withholding tax at the rate of 5%
(2023: 5%) in respect of dividend income derived from PRC incorporated
company.

I it 45 B i i A, Ofs 48) (a0
b -

(@) 785 15,823,000 T (& = A4F
6,322,000 #:70) £ ik A JFSRAT e 4 il S5
Z 18 AR ~ 13,485,000 0 (& =
4F ¢ 24,076,000 % 50) wHA B B K o B
AL K 61,693,000 76 (& T 4R
54,982,000 % 76) 5H AT ECE ] -

(b) BRSPS LA BB T K B S B S B Wt AAT
B -

Fir 5 78 B 32

BME_EZ-NER_EFE_=F1+_H
=t —HIRFEE - AEED AETHBA
AR WS FIAT B M - A T B
1 M) 16.5% (& — =4F : 16.5%) w5 - it
Hh B T 2 [ S B ZE A A T 15% 2 25%
(T F T =4F : 15% % 25%) Z FT 15 4%
Pt o Vg SN TE Hc A [ ) 2 [ 0 P B e
%:o

AL B IR EE AR A A B R RS F 2
B AR 38506 (T % — =4F : 5%) 4k
2 H B FE AL o

2024 2023
ZE UL ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T U T
Current tax for the year AT PRy B A TE

Hong Kong s 61 238

PRC Hp 4,180 4,667

Liechtenstein G| 3L A 17,313 16,623

Switzerland Fig 1 543 479
Deferred tax for the year (note 39) AT P 3 AE ol TE (i 5 39) (492) (1,468)

Total income tax expense BT 154 B S A 21,605 20,539
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting (loss)/profit at

11. P BEB =2 ()

e B ARG 2 P A5 B B S B e at (g

applicable tax rates: B) % A 2 B
2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 -
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG T
(Loss)/profit before income tax Wi BT A A AT (ks48)  ts Al (260,047) 83,798
Tax on (loss)/profit before income tax, W BT A B AT k5 18) i A 2
calculated at the rates applicable to the tax B TE (R 5 A B Bl 455
jurisdictions concerned IR RO 2 B AR ET ) (32,645) 22,658
Tax effect of non-taxable income W ZHRRBLUR A 2 B 5 (15,693) (20,244)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ST 0 B S 2 Bl Y B 13,654 10,999
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised o e R B TE G 48 2 B 3 56,289 7,126
Total income tax expense BT 15 B BH S AR 21,605 20,539
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DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 12.

In October 2023, the Group has disposed the entire shares of Wisdom
Power for a cash consideration of HK$27,500,000 to Fair Future Industrial
Limited (“Fair Future”), an associate of the Company. The Group
recognised a gain on disposal of approximately HK$2,529,000. Details
of the Group’s loss on disposal of Wisdom Power for the year ended 31
December 2023 were set out as follows:

4 — ] B 2

REFE = H S AEE DB &R E
27,500,000 5 7T [8] 4 23 &) — [ Bt A |l R
FEERRAT (ML) BEREH 223
Ry o A= 45 B A R M B 2 U 45 4 2,529,000
WIC - AMALERERE - =41+
A="1—HIEFEHES 2 EEE G
FI4F

HK$’000
Tt
Net assets disposed of: i 2 G R E
Property, plant and equipment W2 - W IE Bk A 57
Investment properties i <L/ES 24,900
Other assets Ho A 14
24,971
Less: Proceeds from disposal Wc T ROE (27,500)
Gain on disposal & 2 g (2,529)
HK$’000
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEAZBE&RATH
Cash consideration received C s B 4 A 27,500
Net cash inflow for the year ended BE R =F+"H=+—HILFEEZ
31 December 2023 I i AR AR 27,500
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13.

14.

DIVIDENDS 13. S
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ERA RSB E _F_OFE+ A
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). = —HIEFERM B (ZF =
fiE) o
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. W (ER) B
The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable AN T A N AL B RORE AS R (s
to owners of the Company are based on the following data: 8) B TR R DL BT
2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 -
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG T
(Loss)/profit (Ed8) s #
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the GE XS0 ZNE & A0 Vg
Company for the purpose of calculating basic B P M AR 2 A 5 )
and diluted (loss)/earnings per share HeA NIEAG (B548) T F (254,072) 45,100
2024 2023
Number Number
of shares of shares
Ji& 4 B H it B H
’000 000
T T 1
Number of shares Jie i B H
Weighted average number of shares for the WA R A R (B R)
purpose of calculating basic and diluted B T AR5 2 RS- 1
(loss)/earnings per share Ji oy % H 4,351,889 4,351,889
The diluted (loss)/earnings per share is the same as the basic (loss)/ HAAREERRE T JUER R =
earnings per share, as the Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares AT H =4 H kA A A
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. WA > HCE B (R518) R B

A (B 1R) /BAAER -
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

15.1

15.2

15. @ B 6 A b 52 (B 9% 3 S &)

Employee benefit expense 15.1 1@ B A b %
2024 2023
ZE T xR =
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt THs T
Wages and salaries T& M4 471,485 474,765
Pension costs FERNEY N 47,883 56,462
519,368 531,227
Employee costs, including directors’ emoluments, of 1@ B A (6245 25 = M <5) 10,029,000
HK$10,029,000 (2023: HK$10,261,000) has been included W5 T (% — =4 1 10,261,000 T)
in cost of sales from non-banking and financial businesses, ELFE A R SRAT M 4 il 2E TS 2 8 B A
HK$179,521,000 (2023: HK$190,561,000) in selling A~ 179,521,000 76 (—F =4 -
and distribution expenses and HK$329,818,000 (2023: 190,561,000 5 7C) B EA S & K 434 2
HK$330,405,000) in administrative expenses. FH LA K 329,818,000 #5 T (& — —4F
330,405,000 %5 70) ELFFAFTECE ) -
Defined benefit pension plans 15.2 & BB K& m A G E
2024 2023
R YL ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt THETT
Net defined benefit obligations JE REAR A AL T AR 85,473 72,642

Net defined benefit liability has been included in “other liabilities”
(see note 40) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The defined benefit pension plans are primarily arising from
Eterna AG Uhrenfabrik and its subsidiaries (together the “Eterna
Group”), Montres Corum Sarl and its subsidiaries (together the
“Corum Group”), Bendura Bank AG and its subsidiaries (the
“Bendura Group”), and also Ernest Borel Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries (the “Ernest Borel Group”). The Group makes
contributions to the defined benefit pension plans that provide
post-retirement benefits for employees upon retirement. Under
the schemes, the employees in Switzerland and Liechtenstein are
entitled to retirement benefits based on the plan assets accumulated
on attainment of the retirement age and a fixed annual rate. Since
there is potential down-side risk for the employer to pay additional
contributions in case the plan has a deficit, plans in Switzerland and
Liechtenstein are classified as defined benefit pension plans.

BRI AL B O R A SR A
IRVLR [ HAt £ i ] (AR RE40) -

SERRIR RS AR R T8 £ 52k [ Eterna
AG Uhrenfabrik 5 H: Fff J& 2~ 7 (%% 7%
[#F4EHE4E [ ) ~ Montres Corum Sarl
B @A 7 (S B Em]) &
H ERAT IO RS R B FL B A
(5 2 ] 1) DA B AR 0% % 12 e 5 PR
N A B LI AN 7 (TR A ) o
7 £ 9 1) 7 AR IR A A A T A
e By R B IR R4 R AR 1%
A o R # > g K
BAR Bl AR A TR
B IR AR AE % I [ 52 R R BT BT 2 5
F R T o R — BLEHE R
5o MR AT R AL R S EOE
TE RIS A > WOE = B S Bt
w1 B R o BB K AR A S -
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)

The latest independent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the
present value of the defined benefit obligation on the Eterna Group
were carried out at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by Swiss Life
Pension Services AG, a member of the Swiss Associate of Actuaries
in Switzerland, using the projected unit credit method.

The latest independent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the
defined benefit obligations on the Corum Group were carried out
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by Banque Cantonale Vaudoise, a
member of the Swiss Associate of Actuaries in Switzerland, using
the projected unit credit method.

The latest independent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the
defined benefit obligations on the Bendura Group were carried out
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by AXA Pension Solutions AG, a
member of Swiss Associate of Actuaries in Switzerland, using the
projected unit credit method.

The latest independent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the
defined benefit obligations on the Ernest Borel Group were carried
out at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by Swiss Life Pension Services
AG, a member of the Swiss Associate of Actuaries in Switzerland,
using the projected unit credit method.

(@ The amount included in the consolidated statement of
financial position arising from the Group’s obligation in

15. @ B 6 A b 52 (B9 # 4 )

(%)

15.2

& BUR K & A E (48)

o T AL [ S G 2 ST R O
A1 B 7 BB R AT 2 BUE TS Hh
Swiss Associate of Actuaries 2 € £ Swiss
Life Pension Services AG Ji* -2 U4
KR - =F+ " H=+—HfifHE
BB AR IR AT -

B w L BRI G E 2 SO B
A (B S 72 BEAE A B AT 9 Ha iy 1 Swiss
Associate of Actuaries Z & & Banque
Cantonale Vaudoise i+ — 2 — PU4F J —.
T ZAE T A = H A R
S ARRTTIEHEST -

CRUESUES (R-yr s & A
A B K AR R AT T i i
Swiss Associate of Actuaries Z & 5 AXA
Pension Solutions AG it — 2 — PU4F K
TR AT A = B R
AT AR IEEAT o

MR % A T A 2 dob M ST A AL
A (B S 72 BEAE A B AT 9 He By 1 Swiss
Associate of Actuaries Z & B Swiss Life
Pension Services AG jit & U4
T AR T = H
PSR IRHEAT o

() FHAZREMBRILER AL
P A L E AR AL R B AR P

respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: FEAE 2 BEEIT -
2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F<3 -
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG T U T
Present value of defined benefit JE RAAR R EAL BLE

obligations 548,115 505,788
Fair value of plan assets FT I E E 2 AP E (462,642) (433,146)

Net liability arising from defined EREFIFALEAZ
benefit obligations AR 85,473 72,642
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit
obligations for both the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

(b)

(©

15.

D B 6 A B 32 (0035 2 3 <)

15.2 5 #UB P 4 4 At 8 (70)

(b) WEFPUER E
+ = H=+—H Ik R4 EE
FAEF EATHE BT

2024 2023
ZE UL ===

HK$’000 HK$°000

Tt THs T

At 1 January w—H—H 505,788 422,033
Current service costs B I R 5 A 32,587 43,672
Past service costs HEREH &7 95N (58) 9
Interest cost 2R A 8,289 7,593
Actuarial losses F A 3,920 12,672
Benefits paid EENEFE (33,592) (36,639)
Contribution by plan participants ) 2 B L 3K 9,299 11,535
Exchange realignment [ 51, 5 % 21,882 44,931
At 31 December wt-—H=1—H 548,115 505,788

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets for both the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

€ ®WE-FB-NER-FE=
+ = =+— B LW
A B

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
T 0 T
At 1 January w—H—H 433,146 399,959
Interest income FILE WA 5,920 4,638
Return on plan assets w3 E 2 R 3,507 12,161
Contributions by the employers fE 3= k3 17,462 18,708
Contributions by plan participants w3 2 B {1 3K 9,299 11,535
Benefit paid EENEEL (33,592) (36,639)
Exchange realignment [ 5, 3 26,900 22,784
At 31 December wt=—H="1+—H 462,642 433,146




217

CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 15.
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (%)

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

e I S S R T A I A B )

D B 6 A P 32 (B0 35 3 35 <)

15.2 5 HUB P 4 4 At 8 (70)

(@)

HRZ S T AR M R IA AR 4

comprehensive income in respect of these defined benefit THT IS A R N ffERR 2 AR AN T
plans are as follows:
2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 ===
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG TH T
Service cost: MR 5 BLAS
Current service costs B I R 5 A 32,587 43,672
Past services costs i A AR A A (58) 9
Net interest expense FILEL B S5 AR 2,369 2,955
Components of defined benefit costs /7 i Il sl 18 e 2
recognised in profit or loss E AR I R A 2
AR 34,898 46,618
Remeasurement on the net defined TP R AEAR A AT
benefit obligations: A
Return on plan assets FF 8 E 2 ] 3,507 12,259
Actuarial losses I A e 15 (3,920) (12,672)
Deferred tax arising on T R AR A EAT
remeasurement of the net defined TR AR IEBIE (F3E39)
benefit liability (note 39) (986) (4,549)
Components of defined benefit A At A T SO Hh R
costs recognised in other JE FEAR I A 2 ALK
comprehensive income, net [ aRE (1,399) (4,962)

The defined benefit cost of HK$34,898,000 (2023:

HK$46,618,000) has been included in the administrative

expenses. The remeasurement of the net defined benefit
obligation is included in other comprehensive income.

7B RE AR FI B S 34,898,000 #5 T
(% — =4 : 46,618,000 #5
J6) B RFAATEUE ] o FHE
O BRI S AT B R
2 HE WA o
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)

O

®

The major categories of the fair value of the plan assets at the

15.

D B 6 A B 32 (0035 2 3 <)

(%)

15.2 5 #UB P 4 4 At 8 (70)
() TR IIARE B K EAFE

end of reporting period are as follows: ZEBFRIT

2024 2023

ZE UL -
HK$’000 HK$’000
R TUs I
Equity instruments A TR 135,889 127,225
Debt instruments fE% T H 148,356 138,898
Properties L/ES 128,971 120,748
Commaodities instruments i LA 3,439 3,220
Assets from reinsurance TR & 8,959 8,388
Hedge funds E Rl S5 22,161 20,748
Cash Hl 4 14,104 13,205
Other HoAth 763 714
462,642 433,146

The fair values of the above equity and debt instruments
are determined based on quoted market prices in active
markets whereas the fair value of properties, commodities
instruments, assets from reinsurance and hedge funds are not
based on quoted market prices in active markets.

The principal assumption used for the purpose of the actuarial
valuations was as follows:

FABA R At TR 2 AFHE
T T 2 TR AR E
M4 - B T H - R E
S ESRUIE S /A R A
T T 5 2 TG R AR E -

()  HARKE BB 2 EER
B
2024 2023
Ry I

g S
TE I 2 R

Discount rate(s)
Expected rate(s) of salary increase

0.10%0-0.50%
0.1%-1.0%

0.10%-1.50%
0.1%-2.47%
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)

(9)

Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit pension plans

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the
defined benefit obligations are discount rate and expected
salary rate of increase. The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the
respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting
period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

. If the discount rate is 50 basis points higher/(lower),
the defined benefit obligation would decrease by
HK$32,687,000 (2023: HK$21,475,000)/increase by
HK$36,735,000 (2023: HK$24,569,000).

. If the expected salary of increase/(decreases) by 50
basis points, the defined benefit obligations would
increase by HK$45,281,000 (2023: HK$34,784,000)/
decrease by HK$47,841,000 (2023: HK$35,372,000).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligations as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions
would occur in isolation of one another as some of the
assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis,
the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been
calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end
of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied
in calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

15. @ B 6 A b 52 (B9 # 4 )

(%)

15.2 5 HUB P 4 4 At 8 (70)

(@

E B M S AR A ) 2 A ek
JBE 43 #

i 5 E BER M AT 2 T BOR
BB Ry W B R R TR A
B LR o N S BURUE A
T 4% E A A AR R PR A S
SEIRF > R R T A A B AR

R HL A RE A T8 I i

. fAE B LT (R %)
50 fiil K& B a2 48 48 A
AT % I 4 32,687,000
B (ZF =
21,475,000 4 5T) /410
36,735,000% o0 (- &
T4 24,569,000 HE
Ji) °

. (ERiEEUE e D IPAC
)50 1 SE R - 72 FHAR A
A 1% 14 in 45,281,000
woom(ZF = =
34,784,000 % 7T) /¥
1 47,841,000% o (&
. = 4F 135,372,000 i
Jo) e

R 43 47 T S
BRI R 2 HIRSE A
R 2 T BB T 0 B
B (R 2 B LR K AT R
B -

BeAh o a U S i 2 B
B> TR R A E B A AT
2 B AE i B BE AL A BR D7
R RBR &R A BB R DL
R H T Tl R AE RRAR M BAE
FHE BT E AR o

A AR R DA ) 52 SR 4y
W 2 T7 35 I Ml M e 5 ) -
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16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 16. 3 4 5 AR P T 4
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
16.1 Directors’ emoluments 16.1 EHHFME
Details of emoluments of the directors of the Company in AR B s ) B A W SR
connection with the management of affairs of the Company and its ZARN R ER M 2 RS
subsidiaries are set out below:
Salaries,
allowances  Contributions
Directors’ and benefits to pension
fees in kind scheme Total
i w Bk E
EHE U3¢kt w3 4t 5% A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
T T T T
2024 SRR
Executive directors TS
Mr. Hon Kwok Lung HE R L - 1,713 15 1,728
Mr. Shi Tao ARELE - 1,081 25 1,106
Ms. Sit Lai Hei (24 3/ - 924 18 942
Mr. Hon Hau Wong WA = 924 18 942
Mr. Teguh Halim Teguh Halim 5¢ 4 - 3,054 142 3,196
Mr. Siu Chun Wa R AE 3 S A - 1,705 18 1,723
Mr. Hao Xiaohui (note (ii)) BRI S A= (B 3E (if)) = 989 5 994
Independent non-executive B FEHATEF
directors
Dr. Kwong Chun Wai, Michael il & & fifi -+ 200 = = 200
Mr. Zhang Bin [ 200 - - 200
Mr. Li Ziging (note (iii)) = sEA: (B RE (ifi)) 47 - - 47
Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk ~ H 7 {5554 200 = = 200
647 10,390 241 11,278
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16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 16. 3 P < % v AR B N < (a0
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

16.1 #HM & (4D

16.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Salaries,
allowances  Contributions
Directors’ and benefits to pension
fees in kind scheme Total
o e NS
FHM S K EWEF aH & iR At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
THE T THE 7T T T T T
2023 SRS
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Hon Kwok Lung LA = 1,528 18 1,546
Mr. Shi Tao AL - 1,092 18 1,110
Mr. Bi Bo (note (iv)) A (BERE (iv) = 9% 3 97
Ms. Sit Lai Hei 2 'ew - 924 18 942
Mr. Hon Hau Wong WA = 924 18 942
Mr. Teguh Halim Teguh Halim 5&4 - 3,023 139 3,162
Mr. Siu Chun Wa i e - 1,721 18 1,739
Mr. Hao Xiaohui B IBE R 51 = 1,427 18 1,445
Independent non-executive xR HAT E H
directors
Dr. Kwong Chun Wai, Michael il #% 4% f& + 200 = = 200
Mr. Zhang Bin e ek 200 - - 200
Mr. Li Ziging 2T e A 200 = = 200
Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk 7R {515t/ 200 - = 200
800 10,733 250 11,783
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16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

16.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

16.2

Notes:

0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

Except for Mr. Teguh Halim, there was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any remunerations during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). Mr. Teguh Halim waived
his remuneration on the directorship of subsidiaries of HK$1,300,000
(2023: HK$1,300,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Mr. Hao Xiaohui has resigned as co-chief executive officer and
executive director with the effect from 27 March 2024.

Mr. Li Ziging has resigned as independent non-executive director
with the effect from 27 March 2024.

Mr. Bi Bo has resigned as executive director with the effect from 3
March 2023.

Five highest paid individuals

No director (2023: no director) of the Company was included in the
five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year. Details
of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals of the Group

16. HF B Ko ACE P & a0

16.1 #HM & (40

16.2

B

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

[ Teguh Halim Je4:4h » #i 2 =%
TR A S BIREE
Nf7 41 =S BT A AT AT T
ST TP (B SR E) W)
EoFZONEFTA=+—H1E
4B > Teguh Halim 56 4 i S H %
AT B 2 71 3 = 2 I 46 1,300,000
Wt (& = =4 : 1,300,000 i
Jo) °

SRR sk s A L e A W i A R AR
THATHEF > B FIE=A
ity o S

25T IS OB S TR AT
H,g-_F_NE=A_+tH

eI ES . B
FOEHFEZAZHEAR

hAEmEHANL

RN AR B 45 B e A N I
RS (TR A EEE) o
GRRES SUEA e N ot

for the years are as follows: R
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T U T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Ha - HR R EWAER 18,019 17,900
Contribution to pension scheme AR AR T E R 3,304 3,295
21,323 21,195
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16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

16.2 Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emoluments of non-director highest paid individuals were

16.2 i AL (4%)

16. #EHME LS REBEN S @)

FEHEEEHFANLZHENTLUF

within following bands: Al

2024 2023

TR -
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
AN# N
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 #5 7T £ 4,500,000 # 7T 5 5
5 5

No emolument was paid by the Group to the directors or the five
(2023: five) highest paid employee(s) as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2023:
nil).

16.3 Emoluments to members of senior management
The emoluments to members of senior management (excluding the
remunerations to directors which have been disclosed in note 16.1

AL ERR A (ZF =
4 T4 e R B SR 2
I BRI AS S 1] 05 2 38 > B
VB 2 BERRAH A (=48 - ) o

16.3 = A B g ik B B &

1o AR 8B A B (R B S B R
EOCHERE 16.1 i5E < M &) A F

above) were within the following bands: AR

2024 2023

—E Y4 e
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
N i N
HK$0 to HK$500,000 0 5 7t % 500,000 i 70 1 -
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 #5 7t £ 1,000,000 #5 7T 5 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 # 7€ % 1,500,000 ¥ JC - 1
6 3
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17. CASH AND DEPOSITS

17. BE& KRG

2024 2023
R YL —E =
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt THE T
Cash and bank balances (notes (a) and (b)) B K RAT 4
(K 3% (a) & (b)) 66,336 61,625
Pledged bank deposits (note (c)) LR SR AT A7 3K (B3 () - 5,000
Cash held on behalf of clients (note (d)) R&EF #A 2 B4 (F5E () 57,917 6,957
Sight deposits with central banks (note (e)) H L SR AT 2 1 A R
(BH3E (e) 3,657,877 3,687,849
3,782,130 3,761,431
Cash and deposits as per above b SC B A B AR K 3,782,130 3,761,431
Less: Cash held on behalf of clients (note (d)) W REFRAZ B S
(B 3% (d)) (57,917) (6,957)
Pledged bank deposits (note (c)) EL R 4R 1T 47 3K
(K 3E (c)) - (5,000)
Cash and deposits for the purpose of e BB &R ERZ
consolidated statement of cash flows B4 B A7 3k 3,724,213 3,749,474

Notes:

@

(b)

©

Q)

©

®

Cash at bank earns interest at the floating rates based on the daily bank
deposits rates.

Included in cash and bank balances of the Group are the amount of
approximately HK$27,324,267 (2023: HK$24,764,000) denominated
in RMB which are placed with the banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB into
foreign currencies through the banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank deposits of HK$5,000,000 are pledged to
secure the short term banking facilities granted to the Group (note 36).

In respect of the Group’s financial business of securities dealing, the Group
maintains segregated trusts accounts with authorised financial institutions
to hold client’s monies. The Group classifies clients’ monies under cash
and deposits in the consolidated statement of financial position and has
recognised the corresponding balances due to cash and margin clients
separately under trade payables (note 34) on the grounds that the Group is
liable for any loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies and does not have a
currently enforceable right to offset those payables with the deposits placed.

These balances with central banks represent sight deposits placed by the
Bendura Group and they can be withdrawn immediately without any
restrictions.

As at 31 December 2024, cash and deposits of HK$3,723,298,000 (2023:
HK$3,697,936,000) are attributable to banking and financial businesses.

b -

(@

(b)

(©

(d)

®

SRATBLE 14 H AT A kR R 5 5 2 7
B EEE o

A AR B B SR AT & 8RS 2 AN
27,324,267 #: 7T (& — =4F : 24,764,000
HETE) AN B HELAR I B 2 8R4 T 2 5
o NRMWEATR | iy seis /s FoAh

ARAE F I B T8 A1 MR AT L e A5 I - 5 T B
A MEAS B AE - A 4 [ W] 728 o 18 7 O
FTANMESETS 2 SRAT I N BB S A 7 S0 o

MRoZE-=#+—"A=+—H 17
5,000,000 5 JG C $E 4 LA HESZ AR £ [ 2.
S ERAT ALVE (FfFE36) °

AR S 2 2 ST S A%
VB A < AR B e 8 S £ wE IR P
DAFEAT % 5 30 o A 52 B £ 5K
DL A 72 5 BRI 0 S 2 B A
AR R IR BR 5 3 2 A (] 48 % 5 41
FRATAR] 80 B T 2 SR T A 8 20 B A iR
AIE N 4% 5 BT B 4 e AR 5 P 2 A
JRE&E B (B RE34) - HLAS A [ 51 IR SIf 48
58 1 BALA T 2 AR B8l R E T A i 2 A7 A
HRGH A B BB AT R

%S R ERAT 5 BRAE  HLAE [ P AP
TE A K o AT RV 5 BT A AT R A

RoZZEFZA=Z+—H BE&Rk
17 7K 3,723,298,000 1 7T (& — = 4F ¢
3,697,936,000 # 7T.) J3E [ 44T S 4l 2
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18. DUE FROM BANKS AND CLIENTS

18. MEWCSRAT K% P ak

2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 ===
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
Due from clients — mortgage loans JRE W 25 5 Rk B — e 4 K 2,047,246 2,265,389
Due from clients — other JRE S 2 5 K TE — oA 634,201 629,753
Valuation adjustments for default risk (note (b)) 7 49 & B8 A (EL 5 5% (B 5% (b)) (22,265) (17,213)
Total due from clients JE W % )5 3K T A 2,659,182 2,877,929
Due from banks on a daily basis JE W ERAT H # 3K IH 2,696,501 1,908,088
Due from banks other claims JRE e BRA T HoAth HY 2% 56,341 185,560
Due from banks — precious metals JE W ERAT BB — B &) 192,782 130,989
Valuation adjustments for default risk (note (b)) 7 £ JRU B i (EL 7R 2% (K 3% (b)) (354) (1,669)
Total due from banks JFE Wiz R 47 5K JEL A7 2,945,270 2,222,968
Notes: P 3E -
(@)  Reconciliation of gross carrying amount for due from banks and clients are as (@)  MEUCERAT KT B E R I AR 2 BRI
follow: T
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ER B OB 3B )
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T TG Tt TG
As at 1 January 2023 W _ZE =4 —H—H 4,394,787 13,800 1,433 4,410,020
New financial assets originated, net ¥ [ 35714 4 fil & 7
of amount derecognised FOBR AL HERR 4R 127,886 612 6,373 134,871
Exchange realignment [t 5, 3 4 441,945 1,401 553 443,899
As at 31 December 2023 and RE-F=EAE
1 January 2024 +ZH=Z+ Ak
ZZZE—~H—H 4,964,618 15,813 8,359 4,988,790
New financial assets originated, net I [ ¥ #% 4: fl & 7=
of amount derecognised BR#C 1L TR A 790,724 50,297 6,989 848,010
Exchange realignment i 4, o (398,856) (2,804) (851) (402,511)
As at 31 December 2024 1
+ZA=+—H 5,356,486 63,306 14,497 5,434,289
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18. DUE FROM BANKS AND CLIENTS (Continued) 18. MEWCERAT K% P K E ()
Notes: (Continued) B eE : ()
(b)  Movements in the expected credit losses in respect of due from banks and (b)  MEMCERAT K % 5 R IE 2 TS Bk R 5
clients are as follows: Banr -
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
AR B 2B B3R B FE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THIT Tt TG TG
Balance at 1 January 2023 )/ ST
—H—HzZ&H 8,202 196 1,433 9,831
Changes in valuation adjustments for 7 %) J&U K i (E 94 5 5 )
default risks (note 8) (Pt 5E8) 1,238 (20) 6,373 7,591
Exchange realignment EE 1, 890 17 553 1,460

Balance at 31 December 2023 and R =& =4

1 January 2024 FZAZF—HE
ZZNE—H—H
Z &R 10,330 193 8,359 18,882
Changes in valuation adjustments for 7 % J&l g fil (& 74 % 4 &)
default risks (note 8) (FftE8) (2,357) 695 6,989 5,327
Exchange realignment i 0, A (701) (37) (852) (1,590)

Balance at 31 December 2024 /e gy 1! £ 2

ToA= B2 AR 7,272 851 14,496 22,619
(¢)  Non-performing loans ) AREXK
No interest income impact from non-performing loans was recognised for the BWE_FWNER -F =4 2A
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. =t+—HIEFEE > SEERAREHE

EZ RIS B -
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19. TRADING PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS

ek ok 3 R B AR P AT PR )

19. REMEGRE

2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 —F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T T
Equity instruments AT H
Listed equity instruments in Hong Kong at FETTE A A s BT 2 A
market value TH 15,435 629
Listed equity instruments outside Hong Kong T E R WA LT 2
at market value A T H 204 =
Total equity instruments JBeAS T H 484 15,639 629
Debt instruments fB%TH
Unlisted debt instruments of financial SR JE D TER TR
institutions 4,439 189
Total debt instruments &% T H A% 4,439 189
Investment fund units V2@ T8 XA
Unlisted investment fund units FE b T B 4 A 19,486 19,890
Total investment fund units 1 Bk 4 W A B 19,486 19,890
Investment in other financial products H b 4> il g B = 6,850
Total trading portfolio investments Ry A RE AR 39,564 27,558
The investments under trade portfolio investments are held for trading S o A PE TR 2 B8 T 5 1E

purposes.

B R

o

Fair value of the listed equity instruments have been determined by
reference to their quoted market prices at the reporting date in an active
market. Fair value of the listed trading portfolio investments is Level 1
recurring fair value measurement.

Fair value of unlisted debt instruments have been determined using
significant inputs, which are market observable, directly or indirectly. The
fair value of the unlisted debt investments is Level 2 recurring fair value
measurement.

The fair value of certain unlisted investment funds is Level 2 recurring
fair value measurement while the fair value of remaining unlisted
investment funds is Level 3 recurring fair value measurement. The details
of assessment are set out in note 51.10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A T A2 AT S H
L3 6 B 5 LT 1 T A
AR S ALA B 2 AT A — S
AT -

I b A AR L0 A T-(EL T o PR T
T 43 G TS 1 B A A BRI - 3
R G 2 T 4 R S
P -

TR LR E A T E RS A
WA TEF R - MR T F Eii g s
A AT (ELJR 2 = AR AL TR T E R o R
il 19 LA P S R R B T 51.10
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TRADING PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Other financial products are referring to the insurance policy entered by the
Group. The fair value of investments in insurance policies are determined
based on the account value as stated in cash surrender value statements
issued by insurers. Fair value of other financial products is Level 2
recurring fair value measurement.

There is no transfer under the fair value hierarchy classification for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The fair value gain during the year was amounted to HK$282,000 (2023:
HK$136,000), which has been recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as other income and other net gains or losses (note
8) for the years ended 31 December 2024.

19.

2o a & @

H A <5 L E 4 A S T S ) PR o PR
BEE AP (E A R B2 7] 38 N BLG IR AR
YR 1 IR AT (L7 R o HL At <l 28 PO 8 P
o AR AT ER R -

BE-ZHNER_F=4+"AH
= HARAEIE AP AR ] S 4
5 o

R Z B U 25 £ 282,000 U8 (%
T4 136,000 00) 0 BRI E ZF
“EF A= A IEEZ AR
WAC A 2 TR 8 2 At T A T A e 4 B s
HIFEE (fgks) o

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  20. #%& 42 PR A H Al 2 H A Z
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 4 il ¥

2024 2023

TR -

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B &1 T#oo T U T

Listed equity instruments in Hong Kong AW L2 A T A () 202,745 254,754

Listed equity instruments outside NI Bz

Hong Kong JeA T2 (b) 25,812 25,342

Unlisted equity investments I BT AR E 5,336 5,531

233,893 285,627

The Group designated its listed equity instruments in or outside Hong
Kong and unlisted equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) as below, as those investments are held
for strategic purposes.

ARSI T 5 7 St HLA A s B A s Ak
L LA TH R IR b T BEA B G E
TR R A AR T (T AP EF
AFA TN L) B 5 a% 55 5 Tt
HWE IR FFA o
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

@)

(b)

As at 31 December 2024, the listed equity investments in Hong
Kong represented 14.76% (2023: 14.76%) equity interest in Min
Xin Holdings Limited (“Min Xin Shares”). As at 31 December
2024, the Group held 88,150,000 (2023: 88,150,000) Min Xin
Shares. A dividend income totalling HK$7,941,000 (2023:
HK$10,578,000) was recognised by the Group in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Particulars of the Group’s investments in Min Xin Shares are as
follows:

20. A PFHEFIARMBERmIEAZ
4 VB B (1)

@)

AZE A = —H s R
Fois b T 2 AR 18 45 A [ 4 4
HRAF Z1476% (—F =

14.76% ) JCHE ([R5 B M ]) o i —
FWAEFZA = —H s RERE
51 88,150,000 i (& — =

88,150,000 /i) [ {5 ey o A< 4 Bl i
#HEZFZDWELZA = —HIE
AR AR A AT A R I i ) B
R e RR B A A 4L 7,941,000 #5 G
(%~ =4F : 10,578,000 ) °

AL FA B AR R BOERE BT

Percentage

of ownership

Number of interest

Country of Particulars of issued shares held attributable

Name incorporation shares held by the Group to the Group

A 4 o] B A

7 42 [ Pir ¢ A RERE 22

41 ML BR Pk AT IR ety ¥ H AL

Min Xin Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Share 88,150,000 14.76%

1) 5 4 1 A KR 2 W His Spiiliie

The listed equity investment at fair value of HK$25,812,000 (2023: (b) FHAFEMEIEZ B A HE

HK$25,342,000) represented the investment in Citychamp Dartong 25,812,000 ¥# 6 (=& — = 4F :

Advanced Materials Co., Ltd. (Previously Known as Citychamp
Dartong Company Limited) (referred to “Dartong” and its shares
referred to as the “Dartong Shares”). During the year, no dividend
income (2023: Nil) is recognised by the Group in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Ms. Sit Lai Hei and Mr. Hon Hau Wong, the executive directors of
the Company are also the executive directors of Dartong. Dartong
is owned as to approximately 36.4% (2023: 36.4%) by Fujian
Fengrong Investment Company Limited (“Fengrong”). Ms. Sit Lai
Hei and Ms. Lu Xiaojun are the daughters-in-law of Mr. Hon Kwok
Lung and the beneficial owners of Fengrong. Mr. Hon Hau Wong,
an executive Director of the Company, is the spouse of Ms. Lu
Xiaojun.

25,342,000 #5 7T ) 48 JA 76 5% K 28 B 4
B 13- B2 (i 8 e 3 K 28 e
A BRA A (TR HB ARG L
(R EGY]) 2 & o N > AL E
WEE_F_WFE+ A =1+—H
L A B AR A 5 A THT MO A 3R 1Y T
Flok MR B ERA (ZF ==
A AE) o

AN T AT R A R b M
FIEAE TR KRB B TESE - K
Lﬂa%ai%@**&gmﬁ/\ﬂ r=
W) H A #36.4% (—F — =

36.4%) o fE RN At M e BEEE 4 &
4 0y v I E S A 2 G IR SR A
Ha A N o AN AT HEE
Y& S A 7y e R I e - 2 A o
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  20.
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

Particulars of the Group’s investment in Dartong Shares are as

A FHEGE AR AL 2 mB A Z
4 VB B ()

(b) ()

AEE MR B A B BEERE TR

follows:
Percentage
of ownership
Number of interest
Country of Particulars of issued shares held attributable
Name incorporation shares held by the Group to the Group
A 55 1 e A
7 55 B B RERE &2
EA GRL WA P Jie i © 88 AT JBE 0 A JBe 4y B H [iFig:1
Citychamp Dartong Advanced PRC Ordinary A Share 9,154,370 0.66%
Materials Co., Ltd.
TR I A A8 B IR A R A ) il At i

During the year, the decrease in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income of HK$51,538,000 (2023:
HK$10,308,000) has been dealt with in other comprehensive income and
FVOCI reserve. No cumulative gain (2023: Nil) has been transferred to
retained profits within equity as the Group has not disposed Dartong shares
during the year.

ER G A TEFEAEM 2w A 2 4
il & 7 N °F-{H 39 /) 51,538,000 5 0 (&
=4 110,308,000 5 70) B A HiAth 4 a7k
A B AT PAR T A A 2 T WSO (ot 5 1
F o by A A (A S 42 (B 51 0 1 B R R A
WO Z i as (R AR ) s R
HE %5 A 2 {2 B i ] o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[04F+ — ] =+—H IL4FE

21. FINANCIAL ASSET AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR 21.

0N PR T A\ 6 A0 s 1R ) <

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS B K
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt TH T
Financial asset at fair value through [ AR X A T BT i)
profit or loss A A e
— 2023 Profit Compensation (note i) — T AR A A (B - 32,410
— 2024 Profit Compensation (note ii) — T A g A Al (B ) 24,123 =
— 2025 Profit Compensation (note iii) — T AR U A A A (B R i) 595 =
24,718 32,410
Financial liabilities at fair value through  #% 2 Al 51 A %5 Al 28 48 19
profit or loss 4 il £ 0
— 2024 Profit Compensation (note ii) T T A g A Al £ (B R ) = 26,592
— 2025 Profit Compensation (note iii) :Egﬁimﬂﬁﬁﬁmﬂm = 18,313
- 44,905
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Group’s financial BE _F =R FUE+ N

assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss were
resulted from contractual term of its acquisition of equity interest in Gold
Vantage Industrial Limited and its subsidiaries (“Gold Vantage Group”).
The details were set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

() As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the Company estimated that
the audited profit after tax of Gold Vantage Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 would be less than HK$30,000,000. The balance represented
the fair value of the financial assets in relation to 2023 Profit Compensation
and the directors had engaged an independent professional valuer to assist
them to estimate the fair values as at 31 December 2023. The fair value
gain of HK$44,000,000 had been recognised in the other income and other
net gains and losses for the year ended 31 December 2023. 2023 Profit
Compensation has been settled by the vendor during the year ended 31
December 2024.

=t—HIE4E 7—1—‘%@?"?@%)\/@
R B 8 ) < il R < A AT e A
W B BT R A RO A~ A (3%
SR ) Bt 2 & HIBK BT EL « BRI HOR A7

G BA WS i % M 5k 47 -
B i -
0) MR =ZF T H=1—H - AAnAEHE

HGFIEBEEBRERE _F =41+
H = — A k4R BE 4 48 38 4% B B 4% ik A
A 30,000,000 H5 TT © % 4k fRTE HL &
T A A B AT B 1 A S E 2 AT
(B > 2 57 E 7 WP 7. B Sk (i B o B 45

EMETRE=F A=t —HZ
N o 2B U 25 44,000,000 #5 76 E 7%
BE_Z_=4#+_A=+—HILEE

Z FEAb S B FE b A % Ji 8 T o e
W o giiiimﬂ%ﬁﬁ% B 7 R

BERPEFZH =+ HIRAFERER
oo
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[U4F+ ] =+—H IL4F

21. FINANCIAL ASSET AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(D)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company estimated that
the audited profit after tax of Gold Vantage Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 would be less than HK$30,000,000. The balance represented
the fair value of the financial assets in relation to 2024 Profit Compensation
and the directors have engaged an independent professional valuer to assist
them to estimate the fair values as at 31 December 2024. The fair value gain
of HK$50,715,000 has been recognised in the other income and other net
gains and losses for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2023, the balance represented the fair value of the
financial liabilities in relation to 2024 Profit Compensation. The fair value
gain of HK$8,871,000 had been recognised in the other income, other net
gains and losses for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The directors of the Company estimated that the audited profit after tax of
Gold Vantage Group for the year ending 31 December 2025 would be less
than HK$30,000,000. The balance represented the fair value of the financial
assets in relation to 2025 Profit Compensation and the directors have engaged
an independent professional valuer to assist them to estimate the fair values
as at 31 December 2024. The fair value gain of HK$18,908,000 has been
recognised in the other income and other net gains and losses for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2023, the balance represented the fair value of the
financial liabilities in relation to 2025 Profit Compensation. The fair value
gain of HK$12,321,000 had been recognised in the other income and other
net gains and losses for the year ended 31 December 2023.

2. 12
v

ﬂﬁﬁ%’r)\iﬁﬂﬁl&ﬁﬁ PR <
H (40

BEGE - (B

(if)

(iii)

REoETPUEF A =+—H AN FE
Hiist & BmEMNEE _F UE+ =
H = — H k4R B A0 48 38 1% 1 B A% s A1l
AR 30,000,000 # TC © %A% BT L T
DA i A A A B Y 4 O E 2 AT
(B - o5 2 2 23 8 o S A (2 F o B 5
FEMETR-EZNE A= —HZ
INSTAE /3 FE R 25 50,715,000 # JT B it
BEZ PEF A= HIEEE
2 oAt A B A i 25 K% s 18 T 4

MRoE = A=+ —H o %R
Fi B 2 DU A i A 0 BRI & LA
fEZ N T{H » /A T-{E Ik 4% 8,871,000 ¥ JC
ERBE-Z =4 T-HA=1+—H1
AR 2 HAb YA~ HoAth i 25 B s 8 U AR
H RS

AAFEREMGEFGEELEARBE
“HE+FZA=+—HIEEENEE
1% B Bt 4% T 514 45 7% 30,000,000 75 TG
MR AE RS B T AR s R A B
SMEEZATHE EHECZEB I H
S il 6 F B B 0% 56 il 1R U L AR
FH=F—HZATE - AT{Ek
18,908,000 #5 70 LA #RZE —F PUAE
A=+ —H 14 B 2 HoAie A K Ho Al
Far S e 1RV A R R

ATECEEF A= —H o S

Fi B A T A R A A R ) A
52 T{E - 2T E ik 25 12,321,000 # 76
EREE-F=F+H=+—HIk
AR 2 A B A i a5 % f 1R R
R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[04F+ — ] =+—H IL4FE

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. fik&mTH
2024 2023
TR -
HK$’000 HK$’000
T L TUs I
Derivative financial assets i 2 4 il &
Forward and option contracts i 0 S RE A ) 33,061 5,136
Derivative financial liabilities 07 78 4 b £ 6
Forward and option contracts 7 BRE & ) 2,497 49,318
Notes: Mt
Forward and option contracts arising in banking business e ERAT T 2w ) B RE A 4
The Group’s subsidiaries under the banking business segment act as an intermediary A 4B B SRAT ZE T 0 T 2 B A B AR B R A 1
to offer derivative products including interest rate and currency forwards and swap to AP RO TR M SRR 0L &%
its customers. These derivative positions are managed through entering back-to-back A A o %A AE L HRR T35 i BN R
deals with external parties to ensure the remaining exposures are within acceptable N LAY SEH 395 28 ) AT 48 P DAEOR 68 JEUBR
risk levels. AT 45 52 JRU g 7K 1 o
The following tables and notes provide an analysis of the nominal amounts of TR I MR L R AR AT AR TR T E
derivatives and the corresponding fair values as at the year ended date. The nominal T BN T (B AR B4 BT o A7 A L H 2 T E B
amounts of the derivatives indicate the volume of transactions outstanding as at the A FHA 1 A 58 B2 28 ) T I 40 2 L e
reporting date; they do not represent amounts at risk. B

31 December 2024
“EF_WEFTFH=+—H

Nominal
amount Assets Liabilities
[i: A j93 £
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T#x T#

Non-hedging instruments FEH I T H
— Currency derivatives —BHfiE TR 3,317,322 33,061 (2,497)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[U4F+ ] =+—H IL4F

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. fik&m T H @
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) B eE : ()
Forward and option contracts arising in banking business (Continued) A& E RAT TS 2 1 A B ARE S 4 (A

31 December 2023
—Fo=gt A=t R

Nominal
amount Assets Liabilities
T {Ff R Ffi
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T¥ 0 T8
Non-hedging instruments F ¥ uh TR
— Currency derivatives — B TR 3,082,781 5,136 (49,318)
Nominal amount analysed by remaining maturity AR N B B 4347 2 1 {8
2024 2023
e Sy 111 f 2 SR
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#o T8
Within 3 months @A K 3,314,928 3,082,781
Between 1 year and 5 years 1FEFE 54 2,394 =
3,317,322 3,082,781
The remaining term to maturity of derivatives does not represent the Group’s A T EBIHA H AR BRI A AR A SR M 2 B
intended holding period. Change in the fair value of forward and option contracts A o K B ERAT R 2 m I B S 2 A
arising in banking business has been recognised in the consolidated statement of EEH) R 4R G R RN [HATERZ

comprehensive income under “Trading income from banking business”. G | fERR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[04F+ — ] =+—H IL4FE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

23. R W ke sk

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG TH T
Trade receivables arising from watches and S 6k S R EE DA R
timepieces and watch accessories business: SR SR A TS A 2
(note (a)) JEWS R« (i E ()
Trade receivables JE WS R 454,955 511,936
Less: Provision for impairment loss W VR R A (84,644) (82,202)
370,311 429,734
Trade receivables arising from financial G R ZETS A 2 BRI K
business: (note (b)) (B3 (b))
— Cash clients —BlexF 1,800 13,207
1,800 13,207
Trade receivables, net JRE A S 372,111 442,941

Notes:

(@)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers of watches and timepieces
and watch accessories business are mainly on credit, except for certain
customers, where payment in advance is required. The credit period is
generally for a period of 30 days to 360 days (2023: 30 days to 360 days)
for major customers. The credit term for customers is determined by the
management according to industry practice together with consideration of
their creditability. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a wide range of customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables arising from watches and
timepieces and watch accessories business are recorded using an allowance
account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote,
in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade receivables
directly.

ff it

(@)

W5 T 2 P ZE T e A 340 - A 48 ] B
ok e RS 5 DA K SR B S R P
WL BB E R ARl o F
KF— B #30 K 360K (& =
HE30KREI0K) ZHEEM - KF 2
5 1 e A L AR A T SE 1 81N e P
Z A o BN bl 2 IE S A 4 [
W oK AN 25 i 41 5 2
5 P R o REMCIR O R FHE.

S 6k N IR it DA B S Bk I S5 E AR
2 IENSCHR A AL e 4R (8 PR 18 AR RS 1R
W% 90 A 45 11 A0 0k ] A Rl < 2 T o
R AR U Bl iy > AECAE O T - (B s 4R
B B AR o



23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % . JU4F+ = =1 —H 14

23. MEWCHEK (40

BERE - (A8

@

(Continued)

Movements in the expected credit losses of trade receivables arising from
watches and timepieces and watch accessories business are as follows:

(@

(##8)

S ¢ e IRl 5 A % i Bk T A 2E 5 i A
Z MW SR 2 MR Sl A B W F

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T#T

At 1 January w—H—H 82,202 88,351
Written off Jii g5 - (10,421)
Expected credit losses for the year (note 10) AR N TEBAGE R 1 (FF3E10) 6,027 10,810
Exchange realignment [FEE 52, i8] (3,585) (6,538)
At 31 December WrH=_H=+—H 84,644 82,202

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables arising from watches and timepieces and
watch accessories business as at the reporting date, based on invoice dates,
and net of provisions, is as follows:

A S T N 0 2 S 4 B A A AR (TR A i o

S 6k N IRF TS it DA B SR Bk I S5 E AR
ZJREMSCR R (e 438 ) 45 R 88 55 1 R
o B2 MREg AT an

2024 2023
R4 TE AR

HK$°000 HK$°000

T 0 Tt

1 to 3 months 1E318AH 73,523 198,365
4 to 6 months 4% 61 H 21,555 22,421
Over 6 months A 611 H 275,233 208,948
370,311 429,734

The directors of the Company consider that as trade receivables arising from
watches and timepieces and watch accessories business are expected to be
recovered within one year, their fair values are not materially different from
their carrying amounts because these balances have short maturity periods on
their inception at the reporting date.

Ay FEE SR o R B ER Y IR R
DA B 8 i T P S 75 2 A < JRE WA BR Ak v A0
AR — A Rl lE] - B B A B 3 B A
AR 2 S 3 H i 4 - O 22 f SR

[IEERIRE N
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[04F+ — ] =+—H IL4FE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) The settlement term of trade receivables arising from the financial business of
securities dealing is two business days after trade date (“T+2”).

Trade receivable from cash clients related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default. Based on the past experience,
current assessment and the available forward-looking information, the
management believes that no additional impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable.

The Group has policy for impairment allowance which requires
management’s judgement and estimation as mentioned in note 5. The
directors are in opinion that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of trade receivables arising from the financial business of securities dealing
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED
COST

23. MEWCIE K (@)

BERE - (48

(b)

w7 B 4 i SE TS T A AR R R R
ZHAWR S AR MM EER
(Im+21) -

SRR P A B 2 BB & & P AR
AT I A R T Bk o AR 1 KR B - B IR
Ak K FT T R PR EORL o A BRE AR
SEJE % 5 A R R RN LA - T9 el
TR A R kSl e K 5 ) L% B 4
] 2 B[] o

RS BT - S8 BB AR 8
AR TR SR e B
EHRS R F IR S
ToAST—H BARESEEZ 4
PSS 7 2 M ST SR B -

24, R AR B R Z T At 5 kT

2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F<:3 —F =
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T
Listed debt instruments, at amortised cost FHifESH A

TR A 71 HR 3,511,829 1,878,805

Issued by: SRV NG - £
Governments and public sector BN BN 2,519,712 430,835
Financial institutions 4 R A 542,825 891,891
Corporations 3% 449,292 556,079
3,511,829 1,878,805

The listed debt investments represented the investments in listed debt
instruments mainly issued by financial institutions and corporations in
Europe.

AR £ T o R < A T
HERAITZ B TREE -
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24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 24. YRS B A H IR 2 o4t 45 Bl

COST (Continued) (%)
(@)  Reconciliation of gross carrying amount for other financial assets at ()  FEHESH A I R 2 H A 4 i EE 2
amortised cost are as follow: HR T A8 (R BT AR AN T

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BB oM B Eik] o At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T THTT THTT
As at 1 January 2023 N _ZE_=4#—H—H 1,566,996 - 31,836 1,598,832

New financial assets originated, & H 7 # 4: Rl& 2 >
net of amount derecognised R & 1L HERR 440 148,798 - - 148,798
Written off €] - - (32,861) (32,861)
Exchange realignment EE e, 7 164,227 - 1,025 165,252

As at 31 December 2023and R _F =4+ "H

1 January 2024 =t—HE

“ZZE—H—H 1,880,021 - - 1,880,021

New financial assets originated, i [ 1 4 Rl & 2
net of amount derecognised R LR R 50 1,832,602 = = 1,832,602
Exchange realignmen FE e, 3 4 (200,268) - - (200,268)

As at 31 December 2024 1 S 11 5 |
=+—H 35112 355 - - BIPASEh
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[04F+ — ] =+—H IL4FE

24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 24. YRS B A H IR 2 14t 4 Bl

COST (Continued) (#)
(b)  Movements in the expected credit losses in respect of other financial (b)  FEHE S Al 9 MR 2 H A 4 il 7 2
assets at amortised cost are as follows: TS SRR B I -
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BB B2k B IR B Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T oo T THTT THTT

Balance at 1 January 2023 R-Z_=4F—H—H

2 G 630 - 26,477 27,107

Change in valuation adjustments % %7 J& B 1 {F i % 5
for default risks (note 8) (Pft5E8) 492 - 5,532 6,024
Written off 6] - - (32,861) (32,861)
Exchange realignment EE e, 7 9% - 852 946

Balance at 31 December 2023 i =& =4+ H

and 1 January 2024 =t—Hk
ZENAE—~H—H
Z Bk 1,216 - - 1,216
Change in valuation adjustments %2 4 Ji g fit (B 4 4 % 8
for default risks (note 8) (Fff3E8) (618) - - (618)
Exchange realignment EE 5, 7 %% (72) - - (72)

Balance at 31 December 2024 A —& — 4+ H
=+ —HZHR 526 - - 526
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25. INVENTORIES 25. 78
2024 2023
ZE UL -
HK$’000 HK$’000
R TUs I
Raw materials JE A4 6} 274,076 309,729
Work-in-progress TE i 310,614 378,697
Finished goods and merchandises BB T2 T 929,143 1,117,473
1,513,833 1,805,899
26. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 26. Findli 8 A SR HE 4
2024 2023
—E YE e
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt TUs I
At 1 January n—H—H 496 491
Share of total comprehensive income of JEAG A A2 A TH
joint ventures W A Ha AR - 5
At 31 December wtHt=H=+—H 496 496
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{% % —[04F+ — ] =+—H IL4FE

26. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Particulars of the joint ventures, which are accounted for using equity
method in the consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

Fidli & 8 e AR (90

AR B MBI R R AR A AR A E
FEIEIR

Principal activities

Particulars of  Place of Percentage of  and principal
Name issued capital  incorporation interest held  place of operation
C#1fT RS FEEBER
1 A GES  RE R B Fifdsr e HEEEME
2023 and 2022
R EER
- St
Corum Investment Management US$100  Cayman Islands 40%  Investment holding in
Limited (“Corum Investment”) Hong Kong
100%7t  FHEHE 40% R EEBEEMR
Corum Capital Partners Limited US$10,000  Cayman Islands 40%  Investment holding in
(“Corum Capital™) Hong Kong
10000%7t  FHEHE 40% R EEBEEMR

Despite the Group’s holding of 40% equity interest in Corum Investment
and Corum Capital respectively, the directors have confirmed that neither
the Group nor other shareholders of the joint ventures has unilateral
control over the operating and financing decision of the joint ventures in
accordance with the joint venture agreement. These joint arrangements are
classified as joint ventures and have been accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using equity method.

{45 A= 52 ) 43 Il £ 4 Corum Investment &
Corum Capital Z 40% i A 45 > IRIE A&
Whk - EEHERMEAEESAEMNEY
At P8 SR T By T 42 A S 2 AR R
MBS POR - 2S5 G a LM B &S 4
3 FLA 7 B P 5 2% R P B £ 1 A ©
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27. Pl e o v B 4%

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$°000

TG T

At 1 January wh—H—H 108,411 122,202
Share of total comprehensive income of JRE A T 75 ) 2 A TH A

associates B 3,305 11,209

Dividend income from an associate KE—HEEARZ
& B A (25,000) (25,000)
At 31 December wt+—H=+—H 86,716 108,411

Particulars of the principal associate, which is a limited liability company,

at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

RoECPES A= —H > EERHE
NFE (BARAR) ZFEENT

Principal activities

Particulars of  Place of Percentage of  and place of
Name issued capital  incorporation interest held  operation
AR  EEEBER
4% AT BRATEN GRS FifiE e BN
Fair Future HK$600,000 Hong Kong 25%  Manufacturing of
ot 600,000% 76 il watches and related

accessories in the
PRC

T R R e B ik
K B e A
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217.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The summarised financial information of the Group’s material associate
extracted from its management accounts for the years ended 31 December

2024 and 2023 is as follows:

27. PrAliE 2 A v RE SR ()

DI A R AR K

TE T EET

H=t1—HIHFEAEEERBELFZ
WAHS ORI (I 8% B A IR )

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG THsTT
Fair Future o
As at 31 December »t+—_H=+—H
Current assets T 614,589 570,965
Non-current assets I Ui By E 113,365 167,230
Current liabilities i ) B 5 (533,512) (453,438)
Non-current liabilities FE i B B R (4,874) (8,376)
Net assets & B A 189,568 276,381
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in A% £E [ A R e 2 BE 4 2 IR
Fair Future:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A 4R [ A RE 2 EL A5 25% 25%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate A 4 [ E AL T N |l 2
B TR 47,392 69,096
Goodwill on acquisition Wi i 2 e 37,987 37,987
Effect of unrealised profits arising from the A& H B —HEE ARG Z
transactions with an associate % B B ik A g (310) (319)
Other reconciliation items HoAth IR TH H 1,647 1,647
Carrying amount of the investment G R T 86,716 108,411
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

27. Al o IR ()

2024 2023
ZE UL ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
TG THs T
For the year ended 31 December BKET_H=1T—HIL4EE
Profit for the year AT BE Y ) 13,186 54,579
Other comprehensive income RER TN (5) (10,533)
Total comprehensive income A TH A AR 13,181 44,046
Reconciliation to the Group’s share of results 7 £ [ HE £ 82 Y6 35 4 > BHIR ¢
of Fair Future:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AR AR B A REZ LA 25% 25%
Group’s share of profits of the associate IS A 8] R A\ e 8 ) 22 i 3,297 13,645
Effects of unrealised profits arising from the A BE— A ARG Z
transactions with an associate o B B i ¢ g 9 197
Share of profit of the associate for the year JRE A 4 7 T /5 ) i ) 3,306 13,842
Group’s share of other comprehensive income of 7 4 8] JiE {f i i 23 7] 2
the associate b A T WA @ (2,633)
Share of total comprehensive income of the JRE A B s W) 2 AT A
associate AEH 3,305 11,209
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28. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 28 W3k ~ W Kt
Furniture,
fixtures and
Right-of-use ~ Landand Leasehold ~ Plantand office Motor
assets buildings  improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles CIP Total
s [l AR

WRERE LHRBT  BERE  RERES  RAERH i hRIR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk Tikx T Tk T Tk T Tk

At 1 January 2023 REZZZE-A-H

Cost ik 613,69 794,646 138318 214,456 659,416 43940 116,657 2,581,128
Accumulated deprecition B3k (915%) (17043 (105496  (U75785  (6l46%)  (36899) - (L2580
Net carrying amount IR 0 42139 623214 32822 38,671 44,760 7,051 116,657 1,285,314

Yearended 31 December 2023~ &E_F-=E12A

Sh-HEEE
Opening net book amourt ERERTE M 6B 282 671 14760 1050 UBET 128531
Additions RE 768 4,645 1,092 3311 17,831 1,745 5,020 34418
Acquisition of subsidiaries YRR B A

(note 47) (W3kan) 2 - - 2903 1553 - - 284
Lease moification HEER 252 - - - - - - 25%
Transfer L - - - 21,080 - = (27,080) =
Depreciation i (208 (1313 (2815) (2 (867 (1479) N )
Disposal il - - - (285) (1,485) (252) - (2022)
Exchange realignment i (16917) 35,356 (304) (1558) 8740 (287) (7.108) 17922
Closing carrying amount R IRTE 396,798 650,084 30,795 82,931 4733 6,778 87489 1,297,608
At31 December 2023and 1 I |
January 2024 St-RRZZZNE

~R-A
Cost A 566,342 830,113 136,021 255,040 610904 38,852 87,489 2,524,761
Accumulated depreciation B3k (16954) (180029  (10526)  (I72109)  (6817)  (32074) - (219
Net carrying amount T 396,798 650,084 30,7% 82,931 42733 6,778 87,489 1,297,608
Year ended 31 December 2024~ KEZFZWEFZA

St—BIEEE
Opening net book amourt ERERT(E 679 650084 7% 891 073 6778 8409 1297608
Additions RE 9,290 3,656 8,027 1,218 11,464 1,961 4859 40475
Lease modification i T 41,587 - - - - - - 41,587
Depreciation i (B30 (18350) (749) GO (162) (1,466) - (Lom)
Disposel thte - - (199) (639) (18%9) (509) - (35%9)
Early termination of lease RELLHE (846) - - - - - - (846)
Impairment loss for the year EREEES (673) - ) (676) (56) = = (1.407)
Exchange realignment e (21,602) (25:362) (981) (2.247) (918) (312) (3.136) (54558)
Closing carrying amount RN 305,643 610,028 32,893 74,383 29,702 6,458 89212 1238319
At31 December 2024 RZBZMESZH

=1-A
Cost & 518911 803,800 135,610 254938 620,188 26925 89212 2,509,584
Accumulated depreciation it (183268)  (193772)  (102717) (180555  (590.486) (20467) - (L211.269)
Net carrying amount £ 395,643 610,028 32,893 74,383 29,702 6,458 89212 1,238,319
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, land and buildings in Switzerland with an
aggregated carrying value of HK$79,785,000 (2023: HK$81,875,000)
have been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note
36).

At 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets in PRC with an aggregated
carrying value of HK$157,215,000 (2023: HK$170,653,000) have been
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 36).

Property, plant and equipment with the net carrying amount of
HK$31,281,000 (2023: HK$40,900,000) (before the current year
impairment loss) is attributable to the cash-generating unit of smart watch
manufacturing business (“Gold Vantage CGU”) with which the goodwill
is recognised. Based on the result of the assessment, an impairment loss
of HK$1,407,000 (2023: nil) on the property, plant and equipment of
Gold Vantage CGU would be recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

28. W3k~ W Kkt (0

ATECEF A=+ —H > REH

L FE A A7 172 Fify - B i 44 (B 79,785,000 5 7T
(&~ =4F 1 81,875,000 7 7t) 2 - H K
M DA T SRAT R (B3 36) o

AT TPEF T A=+—H > AEEE
& A7 7% Hp B B 1] A4 157,215,000 ¥ It
(= =4+ 170,653,000 #5 70 ) 2 fii F HE
7 DU SR AT il (FfH3E36) ©

R T 9 (B /% 31,281,000 G (% — = 4F ¢
40,900,000 #5 78) (oK w1 A 45 J& 3ok (B 5 482)
2 ~ R R A R T e T ek
ExrBeEtEN ((SEHEEAE
A7) o T R R T B B G A RS — ) e
TR o RPEREAG AR > e S F e
A=1T—HIEFE RSB SR EE
D7 2 W3 ~ s B A I (E 5 48 1,407,000
WG (ST =AF ) o T FRAG G #
WA &7 A BB R R B 5 3L -

Right-of-use assets Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
{2 ) HE b i WH At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T THs T THs I
At 1 January 2023 W_F _=4—H—H 421,826 Bil8 422,139
Additions nE 395 8118 768
Acquisition of subsidiaries s i )2 2 ) 338 - 338
Lease modification B s 22,532 - 22,532
Depreciation e (31,770) (292) (32,062)
Exchange realignment [FEE 5, 5 (16,850) (67) (16,917)
As at 31 December 2023 and RoF=4F A
1 January 2024 =Z=F—HE
ZENE—H—H 396,471 327 396,798
Additions NE 9,290 - 9,290
Lease modification isR=Y Tl 41,587 = 41,587
Depreciation g (28,633) (278) (28,911)
Early termination of lease REZIEHE (846) = (846)
Impairment loss for the year AN EE 18 (673) = (673)
Exchange realignment [T 5, 3 (21,553) (49) (21,602)
As at 31 December 2024 /A Y 1 E
+=H=+—H 395,643 - 395,643
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29. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 29. HEWE
All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn 7 [ BT A gl S R 8 B8 A g {1 T DA 56
rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair AAFA 2RSS > TR A PEREK
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties. whit o MBI R AR BB -
Changes to the carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of TG BB IR 2 52 41 2 R T (5 o A 2
financial position can be summarised as follows: L/
2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 -
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt TH T
Carrying amount at 1 January B —H—H Z MR E 166,370 170,906
Net deficit on revaluation of investment WEWETEMHZ
properties (note 8) Jies 4t A (PG 8) (4,386) (1,218)
Exchange realignment [FEE 5, 5 R (1,686) (3,318)
Carrying amount at 31 December RTHZHA=1—HZKRH#E 160,298 166,370

The carrying amounts of the Group’s investment properties situated in the
PRC held under medium-term leases.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not obtained the relevant title
certificates for investment properties with an aggregate carrying value
of HK$43,335,000 (2023: HK$45,360,000). The Group’s legal advisors
have confirmed that the Group is the rightful and equitable owner of these
investment properties. The directors are now in process of obtaining the
title certificates from the relevant government authorities.

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2024 by Asset
Appraisal Limited (“Asset Appraisal”) and Chung, Chan & Associate,
independent professionally qualified valuers, at HK$160,298,000 (2023:
HK$166,370,000) in aggregate. Asset Appraisal is a member of Hong
Kong Institutes of Surveyors and Chung, Chan & Associates is a member
of Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Both have appropriate
qualifications and relevant experiences in the location and category of
properties being valued.

ASEE A2 77 P R DA AL A B 2 SR
S IR °

R = H s AREEN
R 5 HE Th] 48 {7 43,335,000 15 0T (& =
4T+ 45,360,000 #570) 2 15 & W) SE B AH BE
SEMERE I o A [ I O > AR
B Az EE SR A N\ o &
=5 500 ) A [ ERORT B R A SERE RS Y o

BaEhER _FE_NE+H=+—H
P 8 37 B 28 G RS A4l (L I b S R
(E R A R R ([haiEl) &fhEfrE
i B 4 3£ 160,298,000 7T (& . =
166,370,000 35 Ji) o H il e 2 A v T i
B B > e AT R e B R AR =
RTER Gl B o W38 SR AG () 3 2 (0
A HE 7 T ELAR R S A B A B
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Fair value hierarchy
The fair value of investment properties is a Level 3 recurring fair value
measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value
balance is provided below.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 29.

BEWE )

2 FAE 851
e CY/E PRSIV E N TN NS e
at 8 o AEA) BAF AR R B 2 B RS

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TG THs T
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring fair value) AR (5 A T
AFH) 166,370 170,906
Deficit on revaluation of investment properties Vi A B R AT R 2
charge to profit or loss & G 2T A 2 A (4,386) (1,218)
Exchange realignment [FEE 5, 5 B (1,686) (3,318)
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring fair value) ARG (5 = T
ARRIEN, 160,298 166,370
Change in unrealised loss for the year included MEZH=1T—HEFA
in profit or loss for assets held at 31 December R wT A A SRR 2
A JiE O 5 B e R 5 ) (4,386) (1,218)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

WEF NERFSET A
Sb— F LR - S SREU e I
S » IR 5 = 50 =
i < S SR B 2 R R
WA A TR BT 2 1 2 9608 -
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29.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

For the fair value measurement for investment properties in the PRC under
income approach, the fair value was determined by taking into account the
net rental incomes of the properties derived from the existing tenancies
with due allowance for the reversionary income potential of the tenancies,
which are then capitalised into the values at appropriate capitalisation
rates.

Significant unobservable inputs Range
Capitalisation rate 1.06% to 6.86%
(2023: 1.75%

to 5.90%)

Market unit rent per square metre HK$9.89 to HK$102.03

(2023: HK$10.12
to HK$105.6)

A lower in the capitalisation rate and a higher in the market unit rent used
would result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa. For the fair value measurement for certain
investment properties in the PRC under direct comparison method, it is
assumed that each of the properties is capable of being sold in its existing
state with the benefit of vacant possession and by making reference to
comparable sales evidence as available in the relevant markets.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the prior
year. The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ highest
and best use, which does not differ from their actual use.

29.

BEWE )

5P BB (48)

R AR 5 AT Al 2 T B B ) 36 AP (E R
BIE > A FETIFEAZEY TG
R A 2 WA R > A6 2% R8BI A AR

2 BWATE S > R m e E AR R
WA EATHHEE -

KN ] B8 i A\ B i [

G R 1.06% % 6.86%

(DB =5 175%

% 5.90%)

R VATIR it 9,895 7T £ 102,03 7T

(B 5 K) (CH =4

10.12 #5762 105.6 ¥ 70)

7T A AR A Al b 2 % i i B A2 7T 3 A
S EEBEEY S NFERM - R TR
IR o WUARYE BB A EH R T RS
WIENTHETT S > TR S TR e ] 2 5
BURZE T 8 > A 25 A B T i 15 2 )
P B B

S 4 6 P 2 A 7 M Y - 6
- TR 3 e T B R B
ST 3% PR i BB R P
il =
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 30. M &
Supplier and
distribution Computer Technical Customer
networks  Brand names Patents Software knowhow relationship Total
[k}
VL A THE BRI i EFR it

HKS$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tikn Tk T Tikn T T

At1 January 2023 e S i Rl
Cost ies 21,062 206,383 34,002 - - - 331497
Accumulated amortisation and by st 2

impairment losses (21,062) (233,089) (34,092) - - - (288,243)
Net carrying amount TR - 43254 - - - - 13254
Yearended 31 December 2023 BEZF-=E4ZR

SR

Opening carying amount kR - 13,54 - - - - B354
Amoriio B4 - - - ) B17) 622) (8459
Addition FE - - - 138 - - 138
Acquisiton of subsidaries (note 47)  WCOB R4 (1 47) - - - 88 46,050 038 69,211
Exchange realignment (e = 3048 - (20) (L074) (406) 1548
Clsingcarrying amount AT - #30 - 5 0s 16,706 105,693
At 31 December 2023 and REBZZEFZAZ-H

1 January 2024 REBZWE=R—H
Cost IS 2403 298,080 31457 966 44958 21,803 425,667
Accumulzted amortisation and ZHHEHRER

impaimentloses @4y (L (37457 %) (3159 GO (L)
Net carrying amount W - 46,302 - 880 41805 16,706 105,693
Yearended 31 December 204 REZFZIELZA

IR

Opening carying amount FREE - 46302 - 80 41,805 16,706 105,693
Amoriio B4 - - - 1) (44%9) (117) (17%)
Addition hE - - - 457 - - 457
Disposal & - - - - (80%) - (80%)
Impairment loss fo the year (note8) ~ 4E U 48 (i) - - - - (L309) (é24) {173)
Exchange realignment [ - (3489) - (34) (L068) (3%) {891
Closing carrying amount ERNRE - 2819 - 1,181 26,89 8721 79,620
At31 December 2024 REBZWEF A=
Cost A 2,281 260827 363 135 35,481 1% 304718
Accumulated amortisation and LR G

impairment losses (21,28) (238,008) (34,639) (184) (8.582) (12,404) (315,008)
Net carrying amount i - 42819 - 1181 26,899 871 79620
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30.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, intangible assets of HK$79,620,000 (2023:
HK$105,693,000) are attributable to watches and timepieces and watches
accessories business.

The disposal of intangible assets is a major non-cash transaction. The
details are set out in note 49(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
Supplier and distribution networks have been fully amortised in the prior
years.

Brand name amounted to HK$42,819,000 (2023: HK$46,302,000) are
attributable to the CGU of Ernest Borel Group.

The remaining balances of brand names and patents had been amortised or
fully impaired in previous years since the operating results of those CGUs
had not been performed as expected.

Computer software, customer relationship and technical knowhow are
attributable to the CGU of Gold Vantage Group with which the goodwill
is recognised. Based on the result of the assessment, an impairment loss of
HK$1,732,000 (2023: nil) on the intangible assets of Gold Vantage CGU
would be recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024. Details of the
impairment assessment are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

30.

& E (40

AR CPEF A=+ —H  BEEE
79,620,000 75 7T (— 2 — =4F : 105,693,000
5T ) R A S gk R IRE R o DA % S B i
1 2EH o

WEMEEE R - HEEEBELS 5
I S % A 5 i 3 B R 49(b) o A AR AR
AR {HRE P K 43 S AR 4 B A ol By -

i i 4 F6 42,819,000 1% T (T F T = 4F ¢
46,302,000 #5 7T ) 57 Ji 7 B 46 7 A= BV A
B o

R A 2% 5 B 45 7 A AL A AR SRR IE B
A o i A T T MR R T &5 BRIME
AF O o B A O -

TG ~ 57 BAR T 00 40 sl 5 Jo 2 4
FRAE P B 4 A B o PR T BSR4
A B — DR ERR o ARIEREAN AR A
TR PUAEA T H = H R ARG R
S EE LA A 2 ST A B E R R
1,732,000 #5 70 (=& = 4F ¢ 48) o (AT
il O S A A S SR R R 31
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GOODWILL

The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset recognised in the

31. wE

SEHS G O AR 2 AR TS AR LR T TR

consolidated statement of financial position, arising from business R EZEARLEESEMT
combinations, is as follows:
2024 2023
ZE UL ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt THs T
At 1 January B—H—H
Gross carrying amount W 1 AR E 1,313,737 1,231,933
Accumulated impairment losses E RN, F i (163,065) (139,921)
Net carrying amount H T ¥ {E 1,150,672 1,092,012
Year ended 31 December BET A= —HIL4EE
Opening carrying amount A7) HR T (B 1,150,672 1,092,012
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 47) S i 6 Jeg 2 ) (BfFRT 47) = 42,178
Impairment loss during the year (note 8) ENBE TR (EE8) (115,917) (13,389)
Exchange realignment [FE 5, 5 R (61,349) 29,871
Closing carrying amount AR R T (H 973,406 1,150,672
At 31 December R+_H=+—H
Gross carrying amount 1R T 48 (E 1,245,903 1,313,737
Accumulated impairment losses EaRcAEY il (272,497) (163,065)
Net carrying amount HR T ¥ {E 973,406 1,150,672
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31.

GOODWILL (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the CGUs
under watch and timepieces segment, banking businesses segment and
accessories of watches segment. The CGUs were identified as follows:

31.

2 ()

WUEAT A B > 7R 0 I 2 B R B R T
FEE b 0 H  SRAT S 0 J8T I o Bk A 0 8

Bl E A R o B4 AR B 2 kB

2024 2023
TE YL =
Segment HK$’000 HK$’000
vk} T#T THETT
Jia Cheng Investment Limited and its Watches and timepieces 582,354 603,646
subsidiaries
(ERIEitd gl SUNCIDSEN ) P! §i Bk I REREE
Corum Group Watches and timepieces 53,206 57,534
B §i Bk K REREE
Dreyfuss Group Watches and timepieces 90,230 92,142
G § Bk K REREE
Bendura Group Banking business 263,286 284,703
= H A SRAT WS
Ernest Borel Watches and timepieces 216,757 234,389
MR B 4R § Bk R REREE
Gold Vantage Group Accessories of watches 40,070 41,323
R §i §% e 1
Gross carrying amount 1,245,903 1,313,737
% Th7 AR

The Group’s management has engaged Asset Appraisal to perform
valuations for the purpose to assess the recoverable amount of the CGUs
to which goodwill is allocated. The keys assumptions as adopted in the
valuations, including the expected profit margins and the managements’
expectations for the future market performance.

AR B £ 08 P o AT A (E > D
ATl 7 0 B T A 2 B 4 7 AR B 2 TR
[E] < B o i (L BRF R A < 5 BB B4 FE
758 1R v ) R A P R B 4% T 3 R BN T
] o
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GOODWILL (Continued)

Jia Cheng Investment Limited and its subsidiaries

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on a value-in-use
calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, followed by an
extrapolation of expected cash flow at zero growth rate (2023: zero) which
do not exceed the long-term growth rate for the business in which the
CGU operates, and a discount rate of 13.48% per annum (2023: 16.88%).
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the
CGU. The directors believe that any reasonably possible changes in the key
assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable of the CGU
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. Impairment loss of HK$88,991,000
was recognised on goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2024,

Corum Group
The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Corum Group in the watch
and timepieces segment had been fully impaired in previous years.

Dreyfuss Group
The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Dreyfuss Group in the watch
and timepieces segment had been fully impaired in previous years.

Bendura Group

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on a value-in-use
calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, followed by an
extrapolation of expected cash flow at zero growth rate (2023: zero) which
do not exceed the long-term growth rate for the business in which the
CGU operates, and a discount rate of 14.90% (2023: 14.05%) per annum.
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the
CGU. The directors believe that any reasonably possible changes in the key
assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable of the CGU
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. No impairment loss was recognised for
this CGU since the acquisition of Bendura Group.

31.

LESEE )

5 3 A B ) B I 2 )
W23 4 A B 2 AT i [l 4 )G DL ETHE
i BB/ 0 > A B O 0 ) 280 = P it o
T AR 2 B TR 2 B U e TE
FHEHMER(CE =4 %) (A8
N B4 R A AR Y s 2 R
12 3) T A R 13.48% (& — =
16.88%) kBT 7 HH 2R 4 i &= o JUT A B R
Fy I LB 4 A B A R JE B 2 R AT L
R WA R E B AT A
I B 52 B 45 22 AT i (] 4 B A 2 Sl AR T
HA (BB AR B 4 AR R A R AR R
T H = H 2 a] i e EIE A
BHoEE_FE NEFT A=+ —HILFE
JE 50 PR R sl (B 75 88,991,000 5 T

SR

AT i i i A B A B 6 I IRE S 0SS
A B RN AR B 2B E -

7 1 IRy 4 [

DR] WAz S 4 I B (B S Bk S IR T A0 B
S LB ) T R A 4F 2 BORUE o
CEUE ]

W23 4 A B 2 AT [l 4 )G DL ETHE
i (B 0 > A B 5 0 ) 280 < Por it o
T AR 2 B T 2 B U e TR
FHREHMER(CE =4 %) (A8
N B A AR Y s 2 R
o R) ARG 2R 14.90% (% =
14.05% ) HfE B 7 0 B0 4 3 o o T A B R
Jy I WL B 4 A B A R JE B 2 R AT L
R WA R E B AT T A

I B 52 B 45 22 AT i (] 46 A 2 Sl AR T
AR R AR B 4 AR B R R AR R
T H = H 2 a] i e EIE A
B o IO A T DA SIS A AR A% B 4
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31.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Ernest Borel

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined by the directors based
on fair value less costs of disposal. The determination of fair value less
costs of disposal is based on the market price of Ernest Borel’s share.
The fair value less cost of disposal of the CGU is level 1 fair value
measurement. The directors of the Company concluded that, based on the
assessment result, no impairment loss on goodwill has been recognised for
the year (2023: Nil).

Gold Vantage Group

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on a value-
in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period, followed
by an extrapolation of expected cash flow at zero growth rate which do
not exceed the long-term growth rate for the business in which the CGU
operates, and a discount rate of 17.4% (2023: 20.15%) per annum. The
discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the CGU.
As the recoverable of Gold Vantage Group CGU is lower than its carrying
amount, impairment loss of HK$26,926,000 (2023: HK$13,389,000) has
been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Goodwill arising from business combinations prior to 2001
Goodwill arising from business combinations prior to 2001 had been
eliminated against the consolidated reserves. As at 31 December 2024,
the carrying amount of goodwill in the consolidated reserves was
HK$15,300,000 (2023: HK$15,300,000).

31.

2 ()

1R e #%

7% B 4 A R 2 AT Wi (] < R o S AR
DRI B A o 2 T (E I B AR
A THRRARAR Y % B Ay 2 T AR 52 © % Blse
M B 2 P B SRAS I 2 — AR
FAERHE - AN A EHGR S R

R AR 3 S 28 AR R R (R 4R (.
T4 ) o

AN
% B 4 7 AR WL 2 RS m] G REUY DA
FMEE 2 > B 5 00 ) 2 = P it v
ERFMZ M HEA 2 B e REEN -/
P RGN 8 A0 B 4 A B 4%
2R RN RR) RAEAEBIR 17.4%
(& = 4F 1 20.15% ) B B 4
o JUT B 6 R I W B 4 AR LA 4
JEBg 2 BRBLRT R o ik & AR FH A
Az WA 22 AT A ] 4 AR A B T 4 AR > Ok
§¥?4m$+ A =+ — H 1k 4F 5 e
FRISE T 1E 26,926,000 7 T (% =4
13389000&%;5 o

_EEF-HWEHGIEEZEE
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32. OTHER ASSETS

32. HAbE &

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TG THs T
Other receivables At B R 124,598 127,419
Amounts due from an associate (note 46.1) JRE s — P 78 2 W K
(K5t 46.1) 43,380 40,017
Amounts due from related companies JARE A B 8 2 ] T
(note 46.1) (FiH3k46.1) 1,065 1,065
Prepayments FAAT FRIE 75,419 119,405
Deposits e 5,468 9,200
Other interest receivables HC A 1 i A1), 43,506 47,456
Settlement and clearing account T K G FRR 1,504 471
294,940 345,033
Other receivables represented cash advance to staff, VAT receivable, other HoAb HE WO PR FEAT B T2 B4 ~ B {ERL
advances and deposits in the securities accounts. JRE AT T~ H At SR R R S TR P AR K
As at 31 December 2024, the amount of the Group’s other assets expected ATECETFZH=E+—H > AEE
to be recovered or recognised as expense after one year is HK$4,901,000 e A — 445 i Il B AR B S 2 HoAth
(2023: HK$9,368,000). The remaining other assets are expected to be B AR5 4,901,000 5 00 (& =
recovered or recognised as expense within one year. 9,368,000 %5 7C) © ik T HoAth ¥ 7 7w R —
A N Wi [e] S RERR 4 B ST o
Movements in expected credit losses for the other assets are as follows: HoAth & 7 2 G B R ) AT
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
TG THETT
At 1 January w—H—H 11,367 7,453
Expected credit losses for the year (note 10) S NTEME S S (M 10) 36,724 4,105
Exchange realignment [FE 5, 3 B (1,125) (191)
At 31 December wtrt=H=+—H 46,966 11,367
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33.

34.

DUE TO CLIENTS

33. WAt % Pk IE

2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 -
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt TH T
Due to clients — precious metals JREAS % 5k JE — 5 4 JE 193,069 131,180
Other amounts due to clients, mainly bank Ho At A % P 3K IH
deposits (EZ R ERATAE ) 12,140,101 10,024,131
12,333,170 10,155,311
TRADE PAYABLES 34, WEAHIRK
2024 2023
—E Y4 e
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt THETT
Trade payables arising from watches and S 6% S R EE DA L
timepiece and watch accessories business SEER M EHS LR 2
(note a) JEEAS AR (B 5t a) 187,775 201,095
Trade payables arising from financial business B ER R
(note b): JEAST AR K (B 5ED)
— Cash clients —BHEEF 2,346 6,135
Trade payables JRE A} AR K 190,121 207,230




34.

ok
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TRADE PAYABLES (Continued)

(@)  The credit terms of trade payables arising watches and timepieces
and watch accessories business vary according to the terms agreed
with different suppliers. Trade payables to watches and timepieces
and watch accessories business are non-interest bearing.

Ageing analysis of trade payables arising from watches and
timepieces and watch accessories business as at the reporting dates,
based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

34.

JRE £5F M 3K (s50)

()  SEGR TLIRF T E il LA e S 6K LA 6 75
JEE AR 2 AT ARG AR S AR R B AN
(] 45 1B T B o 2 A T 5 B o Bk
Te 5t I i DA % S8 6 PC A 26 85 2 I
AR ARFER -

Sl B T IR R EE i LA B S B A SE S
v 2 A= 22 A MRk 2 R B 5 H AR
el B Z BRE AT E

2024 2023
— R T PY4E - S
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Fioo
1 to 3 months 1% 310 H 127,183 116,744
4 to 6 months 4% 610 H 9,152 8,774
Over 6 months R i 6 11 A 51,440 75,577
187,775 201,095

(b)  The settlement term of trade payables arising from securities dealing
of the financial business is “T+2”. Trade payables arising from
securities dealing of financial business during the “T+2" period are
current whereas those which are outstanding after the“T+2" period
are repayable on demand.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The contract liabilities mainly represented the advance consideration
received from customers. The Group will recognise the expected revenue
in future when or as the work is completed, which is expected to occur in
the next 12 month.

ek

(b) 7 E e R E A 2 AT IR K
ZEEIAMR A TT+2] - A T+21
M > 75 E e RS R 2 AT
FF B B > T A T T+2 ) B M 4%
i A i 2 2 R AST R B 2 4 R A
;;% o

HRAE

FHAMERR AR W EAHUE -
ARAE - AR [ R BB 5 B A e BB TE
WA > RPFEIIHE A R A 12 1 H AT -
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35. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 35. GHAM @
Movement of contract liabilities R AEED
2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 —F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T T

Balance as at 1 January h—H—HZ 4% 11,846 41,946
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of A TN RO SR A

recognising revenue during the year that & # AR g

was included in the contract liabilities at the G R A D

beginning of the year (11,658) (41,622)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of IR P AT Sk TR A 4 & AR RS

receipts in advance 8,384 11,885
Exchange realignment [FE 5, 5 (353) (363)
Balance as at 31 December W H =1 —H 2 &5k 8,219 11,846

Information related to the aggregated amount of transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations has not been disclosed as the

Group had applied the practical expedients under HKFRS 15.

FH A A 45 [ 8 R 7 o 0 5 s Y U 5
155% F 2 BB 88 U7 i » WIS D A B
DELEG TR ERBEZE

Ko
36. BORROWINGS 36. fHE
2024 2023
—R T4 —E =
HK$’000 HK$’000
T 0 THETT
Bank overdrafts (note 36.1) 47475 3 (K45 36.1) 29,519 41,576
Bank borrowings (note 36.1) SRATIE B (B 5E36.1) 470,628 575,645
Other loans (note 36.2) HoAth 83K (B 5% 36.2) 94,935 64,033
595,082 681,254

36.1 Bank overdrafts and bank borrowings

36.1 SATIE X MHRUAT
HoZ o NEFFH=+—H 4R

As at 31 December 2024, bank overdrafts and bank borrowings
are related to the Group’s non-banking business. Bank borrowings
repayable within one year, or otherwise subject to accelerated
repayment provision is HK$410,234,000 (2023: HK$571,240,000).

Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand.

1195 3 K SRAT 5 S B A 45 [ 2 3
SRAT G A B o ZEIN — N R B
2 0 A AR PR 2 SR AT e B
£4410,234,000%5 76 (& — =4 ¢
571,240,000 %5 7G) © $RAT % SR B
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36. BORROWINGS (Continued)

36.1 Bank overdrafts and bank borrowings (Continued)
Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on demand
clause. Borrowings are repayable as follows:

36. 8@

36.1 SRATIE X MAATHE ()

R4 SR B K

TﬁiJ ui&:z n+$Jf§

W B RARZOR R R
B o fEEZHIL T 577 A AT

2024 2023
TR PR e S

HK$°000 HK$’000
R TUs I

Borrowings payable: JREAS 5 £
Within one year —4FEN 177,602 443,445
In the second year A AR 156,238 117,792
In the third to fifth year R = HE 115,915 4,405
After fifth year FAEDL E 50,392 51,579
322,545 173,776
500,147 617,221

The above mentioned borrowings are charged at floating rates
ranging from 0% to 7.73% (2023: 0% to 8.15%) per annum.

At the reporting dates, the Group’s borrowings were secured by:

0]

(if)

(iii)

(v)

V)

corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries within
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023;

entire equity interest of certain subsidiaries within the Group
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023;

subordination deeds signed by the Directors of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023;

guarantee provided by the government of certain country as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023;

personal guarantee provided by an non-controlling interests
of a subsidiary of the Group and certain independent third
parties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023;

b o 8 R 4% T B AR R A T 0% &

7.73% (=
i -

ET=4E 0% F.8.15%)

R H > AL 2 B E LT 5
HIAVEAEA

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

AENER -F =
T A= HAE R T
J& o~ TR B 2 A RIAE AR

RFCAER F =
ToAZ=ZtBAKEET
B Jag > T 2 T IR

AT UER F =
ToA=Zt - HAEEESR
& PRI L

AR TPAE R F =
TZH=1T—H&ETEREK
I BT 2 44k 22 BB AR

A F AR R R =

T H = H AR [ R
JE AT 2 FE R REHE RS A T
SR =7 BT R AR 2 AR AR
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36.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

36.1 Bank overdrafts and bank borrowings (Continued)
(vi)

36. 58w

36.1

certain assets of the non-controlling interests of a subsidiary

of the Group and certain independent third parties as at 31

December 2024 and 2023;

(vii)

a legal charge over the Group’s property, plant and equipment

with the carrying amount of HK$237,000,000 (2023:

HK$252,528,000) as at 31 December 2024;

(viii)

a legal charge over the Group’s certain financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income of not less than
52,890,000 Min Xin Shares as at 31 December 2023;

(ix)

a legal charge over the Group’s certain financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income of 23,338,000

Min Xin Shares as at 31 December 2024;

)

the value of the deposits charged shall at all times be not less

than HK$5,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies as at

31 December 2023;

(xi)
balances as at 31 December 2024 and 2023; and

a standby letter of credit with the correspondent borrowings’

(xii) personal guarantee provided by a director of the Company.

Certain of bank overdrafts and bank borrowings contain clause
which give the banks the right at their sole discretion to demand
immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the Group
has complied with the covenants and met the scheduled repayment
obligations. Borrowings due for repayment after one year which
contain a repayment on demand clause and are expected to be settled
within one year. The carrying amounts of the bank overdrafts and

bank borrowings are approximate to their fair value.

36.2 Other loans

36.2

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other loans is unsecured,

charged at 5% per annum and repayable within one year.

SRATIE 3 B SRAT i £ (70)

(vi) ROFPUER -F =
+ A=+ —BAR%EH M
R > W 22 JF 8 T 2 T
THIE =2 ETERE

(viiy REpUEF—H=+—H
ﬂi%@lﬂﬁﬁ{ﬁtﬁmoooooo
woo (2% - =
2&&mw&m2%% m
F‘&nxﬁZ(fZE#ﬁnaa

(viii) R=F_=F+_H=+—
F A~ 7> 14 52,890,000 A% [ 15 B
PN S P o /NS [ i
A HoAth A T i A 2 4 Tl A
ZIEEMT

RFEpUE+ A =+—H
23,338,000 /i [ {5 2 A 4
B35 T4 TE R A H A 2 T
WA 2 4 V& e 2 15 B T

(ix)

RE-F_=F+HA=+—
H Fie 4 158 (B 70 AT AT g i 25
5 7> jiA 5,000,000 # 7T B, H A
B 2 R

Q)

A_F_NERF =
ToAZ=Zt—HMEAER
i 228 ) AR R A B 5 I

(xi)

(xii) A2y m) PR AR AR -
TR AT B X XBRAT A K
X’ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%é%M%%ij
B 5 2 BRI > A AS 42 2

S R BB AT R B E %E ﬂ
— AR B WE AT 2 S B R E R
AT SC - AR —4F R &5 A« 4R
1195 3 BARAT 5 B2 AR T (B A1
{EARE

Ay £ 5

i Sa 11 K2 oS S S Sy ey |
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37. PROVISIONS 37. B
2024 2023
ZE UL -
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt THs T
Provision for litigation and tax risks Wr e B B 25 D ot %
At 1 January w—H—H 4,812 387
Utilised in accordance with designated purpose %48 & JH & B Tl (1,605) =
Newly formed and charged to profit or loss BT B i ) B
Jies 8 4T R 1,776 4,149
Released and credited to profit or loss B i B B w1 A T A S 18 (1,995) (28)
Exchange realignment [FE 5, 5 R (302) 304
At 31 December mt+—-H=+—H 2,686 4,812
Maturity of the provisions iR
Within one year — A 2,686 4,812

During the year ended 31 December 2024, reversal of provision for
litigation risks of HK$219,000 (2023: provision for litigation risks of
HK$4,121,000) has been recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

As part of the normal business activities of banking business, the Group
is exposed to a wide range of legal risks. These include in particular risks
relating to litigation. The Group recognises provisions for such litigation
risks if the Group’s management and its legal advisors are of the opinion
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount of the
provisions and their timing are by their nature subject to uncertainty.
However, these uncertainties are evaluated as being low since it was
possible to reliably estimate the individual amounts and the majority of the
recognised provisions will probably become due within one year.

BEZFEUETFHA=1T—HIEFE
IR B A 8 9] 219,000 #E T (- F =
A R EA R B4 4,121,000 #5 7T) R 45
HAEWA R DR -

TR BRAT 365 H W B E B — 30 A 4R
VR T 2 5T 1 Y = % 68 e L 4% B
A B 2 SR o i A 2 T A L %
VAR R TR 2 B R A i 2 U T BRI
i HL B R AE AT SE AL ST o B B R R A
L i T B AR o A i A S EC IR [ AR
PEBL S AT E TSR AR R « SRTIT > phy A RE AT
5 o At A1 < K 22 B TR A T
BB —4F N B - O AL RO 7% 55 AN E
SEp AR
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38.

LEASE LIABILITIES 38. MEHfH
The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position ENFEA LS MBHIR LR N A B S A R
in respect of the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements ST L A A AR DA S B a0
during the year is as follows:
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
=+ 3t R b HHL At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THs T THE T THETT
As at 1 January 2023 R_-ZE_=H#—H—H 48,738 148 48,886
Additions NE 395 373 768
Interest expenses FILE B 3 2,473 21 2,494
Lease modification GEN=E TS 22,532 - 22,532
Lease payments L A5 3K (24,357) (339) (24,696)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 15 i ) 2 )

(note 47) (Wt3E47) 372 - 372
Exchange realignment e 52, 77 % (1,316) (14) (1,330)
As at 31 December 2023 and R =E4ATFH=1+—H

1 January 2024 BB NE—H—H 48,837 189 49,026
Additions nE 9,290 - 9,290
Interest expenses B % 3,674 39 3,713
Early termination of lease ERS S|y (1,365) — (1,365)
Lease modification iEN=R T 41,587 = 41,587
Lease payments T B AT K (27,293) (221) (27,514)
Exchange realignment [FE 5, 3 (2,365) ) (2,372)
As at 31 December 2024 R_ZE_WE+_H=+—H 72,365 - 72,365
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38. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 38. MLE AR @
Future lease payments are due as follows: RACHH B AT 2 B R BT
2024 2023
ZE UL ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt THs T
Minimum lease payment due o AR AR B AT R BRI
— Within one year ——4FERN 39,421 25,067
— In the second to fifth years, inclusive — B FE R
(HE W aETEN) 53,587 38,330
93,008 63,397
Less: future interest expenses s ARARFE B S (20,643) (14,371)
Present value of lease liabilities & A B 72,365 49,026
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
T#T THs T
Short term leases expenses J HAFH B BH 52 19,038 27,436
Aggregate undiscounted commitments for S A E B R B B R s AR
short term leases 16,253 23,781
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39. DEFERRED TAX 39.
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the
liability method using the applicable tax rates prevailing in the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates.

Details of the Group’s deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and
movements are as follows:
Fair value
adjustment
Revaluation arising
Revaluation  of property, from
of intangible  plant and business

assets  equipment  combination

3 ]

Bl EMWE ARk
EEEE REKEE  ATHEE

B %L Bt JE

Y 0 T L 2 F 0 4 ) 7 B S S T A )
o 2 04T 980 T S 0 W B A T
ﬁo

AL 2 CHERRIE RIS E (A K

HEHREERsmT
Decelerated Other
tax  temporary
Taxlosses  depreciation  differences Total

g B b
G ol WRER it

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T Tl T T Tl T T
At 1 January 2023 WoBoZE—H—H (10039)  (32830) - 4102 64) (471 (44290
Credited/(charged) to profitor A RITERFFA/
loss (note 11) (410) (3£ 11) - 161 2113 (95) (2,008) 1207 1,468
Charge to other comprehensive I AT IA B
income (note 15.2) (MiE15.2) - - - - - (4,549) (4,549)
Acquisition of subsidiaries R I A
(note 47) (MrzE47) - - 70%) 7,690 - - (9,406)
Exchange realignment W . 7 902 (841) 83 168 (315) 4139 4136
At 31 December 2023 and S X Y
1 January 2024 J‘ AR
2 WE-A—H O437)  @B5) (1490 11865 Q97 (388 (5254
Credited(charged) to profit or A SR AT A/
loss (note 11) (1) (3 10) - 164 3,609 (2652) (450) (179) 19
Charge to other comprehensive i FLAlh A Tt A TR
income (note 15.2) (M5t 15.2) - - - - - (986) (986)
Exchange realignment W 3 2 (145) 1,03 396 (251) 283 1,159 2,465
At 31 December 2024 R=ZZMETZA
=t—H 0282  (32330)  (108%) 8,962 G134  (38%) (50570
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DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The
following is the analysis of deferred tax balances for financial reporting
purposes:

39. MEuEBLIH (41)

RIRAR S M BHIR LR P 23 & TIEER
TH T E T B THRES o LU 2 R B 5
oy 2 IR SEBLIE A BRI

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt T 0

Deferred tax assets % JE Bl U 14,439 16,019
Deferred tax liabilities R S T £ i (65,010) (68,561)
(50,571) (52,542)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has estimated unused tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of HK$649,325,000 (2023: HK$557,875,000),
subject to the agreement of Inland Revenue Department, that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose.

In addition, the Group has estimated unused tax losses in United Kingdom
of HK$170,400,000 (2023: HK$171,608,000), subject to the agreement of
tax bureau in United Kingdom, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
No deferred tax assets (2023: nil) have been recognised in respect of these
estimated unused tax losses as these were incurred by the companies that
have been loss-making for some time.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has estimated unused tax losses in
Switzerland of HK$1,524,751,000 (2023: HK$1,446,990,000), subject to
the agreement of tax bureau in Switzerland, that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets of HK$11,305,000 (2023: HK$11,865,000) have been
recognised in respect of these estimated unused tax losses to the extent of
deferred tax liabilities recognised in respect of revaluation of identifiable
assets as a result of the acquisitions.

AR PUEF A= AEER
A s I A Al T AR 1) B T 5 1H 649,325,000
0 (& = 4F : 557,875,000 % 7C) > A
Top BB 55 o) i e » o] 40 3 R AV G & A
18 A 7 2 H AR FERR B i A o

WEAN o 7 45 A e [ 7 A A T R B A B
JH J#5 48/ 170,400,000 #% T (% — =
171,608,000 #5 70) > A 1 B b B B # )5 1)
ke o ] PR DT AR B E A R A R 2 H
5 E GBS F o N Mk 2 S5 Al s R B R B
TH e R AR R A B TR o (% A
40E) > T3 R A B R R A 1A — B RE ]
NERR R A o

AR ZWAEFZH = —H A&
S I - N =i i SO [ =
$H1,524,751,000 % J6 (=& = = 4F
1,446,990,000 # Jt) > A7 ¢ EL 5 L BLH 5 1)
ko AT TR E A 1R T 2 H AR MERR
b taz A1) o DA B 5 Ak TT kA 2 B e R
RIEBHA M AR > stz S st R B8 AR
TH Jii5 15 e 78 2 4% S ol JH 7 /% 11,305,000
W (% = 4F : 11,865,000 #78) ©
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39.

40.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 39. MEHEBLIH (1)
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of AN > AR ) 7 48 8] 1) EL P R S A R L T
dividends by the Company to its shareholders during the year. JE RS AT 0] B A5 Bl A% AR -
As at 31 December 2024, deferred taxation has not been provided in AR PR H = —H o SRR
the consolidated financial statements in respect of taxable temporary e 2 S A0 gt IR B 2 D o S BB s A TR
differences attributable to the profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries Z JRE T i BT Ry 22 %6 1,765,259,000 #5 7T (—
amounted to HK$1,765,259,000 (2023: HK$1,835,259,000) as the Group =4 ¢ 1,835,259,000 5 7T ) 1 H R AEFL
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences TETEA > Do ] 2 74 402 A /6 A0 2 ol 48 7 Ty
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the ZERA L IRF ] > T IR ZE AR T RE S € iR
foreseeable future. TG A 4 [l o
OTHER LIABILITIES 40. H At £1
2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F<:3 ===
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG THs T
Accruals JE w2 1 87,035 87,608
Warranty provision PRI 2,686 =
Net defined benefit obligations (note 15.2) FE AR A AT IR
(K 5% 15.2) 85,473 72,642
Accrued interests and commission JEEFT S B A 46 30,498 12,765
Other tax payable HC A A A K 26,677 27,866
Commission payable JRE AT AP <6 = 1,044
Other payables A A K 536,100 571,529
768,469 773,454

Other payables represented accrued management and performance fees,
accrued services fee, accrued salaries and bonus, accrued audit fee and
accrued other operating expenses, amount due to a related company and
amount due to associates.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of the Group’s other liabilities
expected to be due after more than one year is HK$85,473,000 (2023:
HK$72,642,000). The remaining other liabilities are expected to be due
within one year.

At REAT SR B 4 A8 B R A e - ERT
JeBs & - T 8 R AEAL - MGt wh e I
B T A 422 B 52 ~ RS — D 2 ) K
TE % M AR W 85 2 R A -

WEFEZWEFZH=+—H > AEHE
T A — A A% B 2 A AR A
85,473,000 #5 T (% — = 4F 1 72,642,000
WETT) o BT HAth B FE W A — 4R R F
1y o
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SHARE CAPITAL 41, WA
2024 2023
it ] 11 3 —ERC=E
Number of Number of
shares shares
Je 4 B H i 55 %
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000
T SR Tk T
Authorised: RIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at —H—HEt+ZH=+—H
1 January and 31 December o F TG (5 0.20 5 T 2 % 7 6,000,000 600,000 6,000,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: 84T BB -
At 1 January and 31 December W—HA—HE+ZH=+—H 4,351,889 435,189 4,351,889 435,189
RESERVES 42. fikfh
Group A4
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein during the AR B2 T T A TR 2 (ot A R A TR S T 2
year are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. AL BB RP R o

The share premium account mainly includes shares issued at a premium.

The share options reserve represents the cumulative expenses recognised
on the granting of share options to the employees over the vesting period.

Other reserve represents (i) the cumulative expenses recognised on the
granting of share options to an independent third party and (ii) the effect
of transactions with non-controlling interests as disclosed in note 48 to the
consolidated financial statements and (iii) the effect of the redemption of
convertible bond.

Certain amounts of goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries in
prior years remain eliminated against the consolidated reserves.

In accordance with the PRC regulations, certain of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC are required to transfer part of their profits after tax
to the statutory reserve before profit distributions are made. The amounts
of the transfers are subject to the approval of the boards of the directors of
these subsidiaries, in accordance with their joint venture agreements and/
or articles of association. The statutory reserve is non-distributable and has
restricted use.

e A7y i AP PR = 4 2 i 5 B AT < BB o

R P B 14 i 1 e S T 1 B 4% o
i S TR R 2 B AT PR S -

oAt (i) m— 4 M S 58 = 4% 3R
H&ﬁﬂ‘%qjﬁﬁ Z 5B 5 (i) B IR Ak
WERHEAT R 5 2 R 28 (R iy ﬂ%%’(%@ﬁﬁ
FEA8 T ) K (iii) i [m] T R e e 2 2

TP A A I B 2 W) P A 2 A T P
BANIA KA kB 8 o

T B B AL A B TR R BGE 2
WEF 8 2 W1 JP A 3R R 2 R R > ZEUHE HL AR 23
WA A5 i ) 4B 2 U E A o BB R

HZF B~ A 2 EHGHS A Z a8
e S BN F R A AL UE o 58 RN
AR UR o EHUT @A By R o
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42.

RESERVES (Continued) 42. il a0
Group (Continued) A M (%)
Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising A1 REEfet A 0 35 AR TR MR 5 4.16 B 40 2 wHIEL
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations in SRAG S Vg SN ST A 55 3R BT I LB 22 P A B
accordance with the accounting policy adopted in note 4.16. SRR o
Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve represents gains or PN TAE R A A T WA ft i 35 T 5 T
losses on remeasuring the financial assets classified as financial assets at EOB BN TEFA KA Z A 2 &
fair value through other comprehensive income. il 4 I 2 A RO AR
Revaluation reserve for property, plant and equipment is the revaluation W ~ B B oM B A Rl 21 2 IR
gain arising from the transfer of property, plant and equipment to [ M s i 2 5 ) S Iy e A 2 E Ak
investment properties. % ©
Company A ]
The reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as RARJAZEZER —FE =4+
follows: = t—HZffEmT
Fair value
through
Share other
premium  comprehensive Other Retained
account  income reserve reserve profits Total
Y]
it A3 Al
ELTLION
Bt 4 8 ik bR A TR B A bk
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T T
At1 January 2023 RoB S —H 60208 (106,964 2269 214,656 812413
Profit and total comprehensive AR A 2
income for the year I A S - (3,049) - 61,462 58413
At 31 December 2023 and I S S S
1 January 2024 =R E YA
—HA—H 682,028 (110,013) 22,693 276,118 870,826
Profit and total comprehensive A JE e A R AT
income for the year N L - (44,978) = 40,765 (4,213)
At 31 December 2024 REZZMETZA
=+—H 682,028 (154,991) 22,693 316,883 866,613

Under the Companies Law Cap. 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account
of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which a dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

RIER 2 B S A FIESE 225 (— LN —4F
S 3MRIEN] - KEERG RAEHT) o AN A
i B AR BB AT IR T AR FIBR > HE
BRI IRBCR H AR > AN RIZHA BE
TR LR F W SRS AR B 2 AR -
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43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS/
COMMITMENTS

43.1 At 31 December 2024 and 2023, total future minimum lease

43.2

receipts by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as
follows:

43. REMBLH R

43.1

A F_NER_F_=F+_"H
= H o REEA A RS 2 A
#) > A I B AR B A (R A 1 AR
RFEME

2024 2023

ZE Y -
HK$’000 HK$’000
R TUs I
Within one year —4EN 3,972 3,697
In the first to second year BB A 1,812 425
In the second to third year B AR SR 1,875 467
In the third to forth years B = AR PUAE 1,628 514
In the forth to fifth years B V0 AF 22 56 AT 1,495 -
After fifth years 5 HAER 1,016 =
11,798 5,103

The Group leases certain of its properties under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for initial terms ranging from
one to five years. None of the leases include contingent rentals.

The Group is required to pay an annual fee in respect of the
leasehold land in the PRC from 1992 up to 2042 with a 20%
increment for every five years. During the year ended 31 December
2024, an annual fee of HK$651,000 (2023: HK$600,000) was
charged as an expense in profit or loss of the Group.

43.2

A S L A B L4 % DL O T
W WE LSO BN —FE
AR o SR QRS

4o

AREHMEH NN FEE TN 4
1E 5 28 B 2 — i AR S A
R B R AR 20% o B E
SECNEFTH =+ —HIEE
JE > 4E%% 651,000 5 0C (—F = 4F
600,000 ¥ 70) E. A 4 48 13 i ] 5% s
TR N4 B 32 S 8 o
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44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

e I S S R T A I A B )

44, BARFEYE

At the reporting date, the Group had the following outstanding

commitments:

R B AL EREAT ZRIEWT

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$°000
TG T
Contracted, but not provided for S EORER R 2
— Investment in an associate — Citychamp Allied ~— — % — [ & A & 2
International Limited (note) 5 — 5o 3 A 2
AR E (BE5E) 270,000 270,000

Note: On 28 September 2016, Union United Investment Limited (“Union United”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement
with Citychamp Dartong (Hong Kong) Limited (“CD(HK)”) and Fengrong
Investment (Hong Kong) Company Limited (“FI(HK)”), in relation to the
formation of the joint venture company (“JV Company”) in the British
Virgin Island. JV Company shall be owned as to 40% by FI(HK), 30% by
CD(HK) and 30% by Union United. JV Company is engaged in potential
overseas equity investment. Pursuant to the agreement, Union United

agreed to contribute the maximum capital commitment of HK$270,000,000

to JV Company. Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 28 September 2016.

45. OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

BEGE - R =F—AFEIHA ZHAH - AR R 2E

I g 2 ) W R 3 AT PR (T WA ) B
TSR (s ) A BRAS ) ([ e ok (&
W) 1) B AR ECE (Fris) A BRA A (s
B () 1) wTor ek - 24T B S 52
ARSI AEEAR ([FEAF]) °
WSS (B ) -~ ORI (B is) K
FHE53 Rl A A /A 7] 40% ~ 30% 1 30%
HERR o A8 A F VB AL B A A 8
25 o MBERZ Ik - WEAN IR 2 1) A A W
VBt 5 15 B AR 7R 35 270,000,000 75 7T © 38 5
FERE R AR AT B A = Z—RNEILA
“HANBHZA -

45. BREAMFEIEHE

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$’000

T-# It ARV

Irrevocable commitments AS AT [ R A 45,721 47,398
Contract volume G = 3,317,322 3,082,781
Fiduciary transactions with third-party banks B =T R T 2 BREsC 5 1,036,791 1,473,768
4,399,834 4,603,947
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46.

46.1 Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions carried out

BN £ 52 5

R IS i 5 B 5 i 2 EL A 0 4 BT 4B R
HOh > AR G BB A AT LA

with related parties: T2

(i)  Transactions with an associate, Fair Future and its () B[] Bk A R 4R 6 B H b
subsidiaries BAFZRE
2024 2023
ZE T -

HK$’000 HK$’000
R THETT
Sales of goods BhaE 9,362 3,811
Purchases of goods W B 10,940 9,380
Rental expenses paid E A5 AH 48 B 32 408 408
Inspection fee paid REORE-E=4;E! 47 51
Interest expenses FIE B 4,424 1,876

(i)  Outstanding related party balances included in trade
receivables, other assets, trade payables and other

(i) WA REWARK -

Fofl A - R

oF Rk B LAl £ £ 2 AR 5 °F

liabilities R 2E N L &5 i
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
TF#T THs T
Due from an associate (note (a))* JHE AL — ] Bt 4/ ) 2k B
(B 5E (@) * 43,380 40,017
Trade receivables from associates B WS B 5 ) R K 4,003 23,163
Due from related companies ARG Wiz R 222 ) 3 I
(note (b))* (B3 (b)) # 1,065 1,065
Due to a shareholder (note (d)) AT — 44 B Bk JE
(B 5E (d)) - 9,025
Trade payables to associates JREAST T 425 ) IR 3K 19,763 42,208
Due to directors (note (c)) JREASS S8 = 3KCE (5 () 73,731 66,772
Due to a related company (note (e))”  ME A — i B 220 &) 3K IH
(B 5E (e)) 125,413 148,000
Due to an associate (note (f))* JE At — [ B %5/ ) 3 TE
(5% () 37,243 50,000

#

*

Included in other assets (note 32)

Included in other liabilities (note 40)

B R A A & A (B sk 32)

* at A A £ (K 5E40)
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

46.1 (Continued)

(i)

Outstanding related party balances included in trade
receivables, other assets, trade payables and other
liabilities (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The balance was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand. The maximum outstanding balance of amounts due
from associates during the year was HK$43,380,000 (2023:

HK$40,017,000).

(b) The amounts were due from companies of which Ms. Sit
Lai Hei and Mr. Hon Hau Wong, directors of the Company
are also the directors of the related companies. The balance
was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The maximum amount outstanding during the year was

HK$1,065,000 (2023: HK$1,065,000).

() As at 31 December 2024, amounts due to Mr Teguh Halim
and Siu Chun Wa, directors of the Company, were unsecured,
interest bearing 5% per annum and repayable within one year.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, interest expense
of HK$3,875,000 (2023: HK$4,103,000) was payable to the

directors.

(d) As at 31 December 2023, amounts due to a shareholder of
aggregate principal amount of HK$9,025,000 was unsecured,
interest bearing at 5% per annum and repayable within
one year. There is no amount due to a shareholder as at 31

December 2024.

(e) As at 31 December 2024, amounts due to a related company
of aggregate principal amount of HK$125,413,000 (2023:
HK$148,000,000) was unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per
annum and repayable within one year. The related company
is controlled by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, a director of the

Company.

46.

BN 22 5 (4
46.1 (%)
(i) B AREMON R - FAl R - HE
o Mk e Ml £ 1 2 o B £
B3 A 55 % (4
B 5E
() B 45 A% A AR B

(b)

©

@

©

i 78 1 BEOR fE R o AR
Vq I e A A A5 B s
N T SR A B £y 43,380,000
ot (2 F =
40,017,000?:%?5) o

Tk

% 5 K Ty B A R A
I - T AR A ) 3 A AL
W e+ RO e A TR
HEAT 2 EE o B
% 5 SRR A~ G S K E
BRI - RERN - B
R A& £t 45 %6 % 1,065,000 5
I (=& =4 : 1,065,000
WIT) ©

g

;‘

e S 111K o i & e
H o JEAT A2 7] 3 2 Teguh
Halim 76 4= B il 4 2 Jg 28 3K
TE 5 MK - 4 4 ) 32 5%
FHE SR ZE IR — AR N R -
FEORTEFTH =
HOEARRE - R 2 5 S A A
J3 B 23,875,000 76 (&
TU=A4F £ 4,103,000 #57T) ©

P/ S S S [
H > 74 88574 9,025,000 5
TG [ JE A — 44 I R T A
FEARAP ~ H2 4 F] 5% 51 B
FEIR— AN R o R F
“WEFZA=Z+—H
M A — 22 Sl AR o

e S 111K S i E ey
H > 7 4 8% J 125,413,000
ot (D F =
148,000,000 5 7G) 14 HE £+ —
TP PR AL ) I 2 AR

FEAE I R 5% L S ZE R —
ARIRER o SZBE A R B AR
7 ) S R R SR o
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 46. BHEEAN LR @)
46.1 (Continued) 46.1 (%)
(iiy  Outstanding related party balances included in trade (i) wRAREBORK - Kb g -
receivables, other assets, trade payables and other Rk B 1 A £ 155 =2 oK A

liabilities (Continued) R 3N - &5 % (48

Notes: (Continued) FERE © (4)

()  As at 31 December 2024, amount due to an associate of ® e 13 2 o = e
aggregate principal amount of HK$37,243,000 (2023: H o A4 407 1% 37,243,000 15
HK$50,000,000) was unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per JG (— & = 4F : 50,000,000

D) [ MEASS — PRI g 2
AT AL ~ 54 % 5%
At B R AR N E R

annum and repayable within one year.

(iii)  Financial guarantee provided to Fair Future (i) ARG B I AR
As 31 December 2024, the Group has provided a corporate AZF_PEFZH =+ —
guarantee in respect of a banking facility of up to Ao AEE SR TRE—H
HK$55,000,000 (2023: HK$55,000,000) granted to Fair %2 55,000000 0 (—F —.=
Future (note 50.1). The corporate guarantee is ending on the 4F : 55,000,000% 7C) 2 #R4T ﬁT
expiry of the term of the revolving loan facility. BRI A M AR (M 5E50.1)
N RIS LRI AE BR Bk %Qﬁﬁﬁﬁ

Jih 0 PR 2 11 o
The above transactions were conducted in accordance with 3 ) T A A [ B
the terms mutually agreed between the Group and the related il 22 R 78 ) AR 5 A2 22 AR
companies controlled by the directors. HEAT -
46.2 Key management personnel compensation 462 FEBEHUANBZME

FEEHMANB ZMEFA B TR
NERTE IS V3 I

Included in staff costs are key management personnel compensation
and comprises the following categories:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt T U T

Short-term employee benefits st 1 4 5 A A 11,037 11,533
Post-employment benefits Tl i 1% A 1) 241 250
11,278 11,783

FEEMANB/ARNATAES -
el A R S
G R MR 16.1 o

The key management represents all directors of the Company.
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 16.1 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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47.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisition of Gold Vantage Group

On 19 April 2023, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire equity
interest of Gold Vantage Group at the consideration of HK$108,456,000
from Fair Future, an associate of the Group. Gold Vantage Group
are principally engaged in the business of design, development and
manufacturing of stainless-steel alloy watches cases, smart watch cases on
ODM or OEM basis.

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, the consideration and profit
guarantee were contractually termed as follow:

The consideration shall be settled by way of issuing 38,461,538
consideration shares of Ernest Borel Holdings Limited (“Ernest Borel”,
a subsidiary of the Company and listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong) and HK$40,000,000 by cash in different
timeslots. The number of consideration shares and the amount of cash
consideration for the settlement shall be subject to the adjustment pursuant
to the profit guarantee, in which Fair Future guarantees to the Group
that the net profit after tax of Gold Vantage Group for each of financial
years ending 31 December 2023, 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2025 shall not be less than HK$30,000,000 (the “Profit Target”). If there
is any shortfall of the Profit Target in any such year, an amount equal to
1.5 times the amount by which the actual net profit after tax is less than
the Profit Target (the “Profit Compensation™) shall be payable by Fair
Future to the Group. In the event that Gold Vantage Group recorded loss
in its consolidated financial statements, Fair Future shall compensate
the Group 1.5 times of the difference between the net loss after tax and
HK$30,000,000.

The consideration shall be reduced by the amount of the Profit
Compensation firstly by the reduction of the outstanding consideration
shares for the instalment and then the balance of the Profit Compensation
shall be reduced by the outstanding cash consideration for the instalment.
If the unpaid instalment is not sufficient to set off the Profit Compensation,
the difference between the Profit Compensation and the unpaid instalment
shall be paid in cash by Fair Future to the Group within 30 business days
after the issuance of the annual financial statements of Gold Vantage
Group for the respective financial year.

The first instalment of 12,820,512 consideration shares has been issued to
Fair Future at the completion date on 19 April 2023. The first instalment of
cash consideration of HK$13,333,333.3 shall be paid to Fair Future (i) on
1 April 2024 if the annual financial statements of Gold Vantage Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 has been issued on or before 31 March
2024 or (ii) within 30 business days after the issuance of annual financial
statements of Gold VVantage Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
if the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
issued after 31 March 2024.

47.

W B B 2 )

W i 4 7 4

RO E AR A LH > AL ERE
108,456,000 ##5 T [ A= 45 9] () Wi 2 ml AR ok
WO & R 2 e - &
R =5 ARG B e e R S P I o
SRwl ~ BREE K R KR SR A A ek S RE
B TS o

MR B ek o B R AR B 2 & #UE
HUE

AR 19 DA 38 A 40 T 5 2 A PR A ) (TR D%
B 1o AN B A ] T v B A i =
# ) 2 38,461,538 % AU AR AL 10 K B 4
40,000,000 # T 2 77 A S A o AT 2
FRAE A3 B ) e B 4 A o 14 AR 032 3 )
FRB 1 R AL - Eoh i e AR [ AR 35 &
BEEEEE_FZ =+ _A=1+—H"
SECNES AR E RAE
+ A =4 — B A B 2 B BLAR
) 1 %8 A 150 15 30,000,000 7 7T ([ %5 A1 H
1) o A4 faT A B 46 BE 22 %86 ) I AZE o BT
A2 > BIVPR SE 1) A4S 42 B S A) — 45 i
B PRBR B AR i A1)V R B A B AR 2 =R 2
L5f5 A ([HAIwE D) - e m LR
Har & IR b B A 18 > BIROBZE
7 4 [3] 4 E  6 4% s 18 1 %8 B2 30,000,000
Wt 2 M ZE RN 1515 o

PR Bl 25 i A 1 2 8 > Sk 0
BT AR R 1 B AT 2 ARIE R - 2 A%k Pl 4
18 2 A5 BRIE S 25 W20 WA R 2 R A Bl
PRAE o il AR AT 20 AR 2 AR i 1 4
5 i 1 4 BEL A A 58 3k 22 T 1 2
REURE £ 2 DA < 4 A o B BB 4 BE 22 4F
J3E W s R T B 4% 3011 36 1A DL B &
[6] 7% 42 ] A

55— 11912,820,512 B AR % 13 B2 A 52 % H
W —F =P H - JLH BT TRE - 58
— 1 51 4 1R 18 13,333,333.3 % 7T i (i) 1
T PEN A —H (& BERSE —F
T A=+ HIEEZ MR
WEER ZUE=ZA=+—HHx
HrFIEE) 5 Bk (i) S EEEEE T 4
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Acquisition of Gold Vantage Group (Continued)

The second instalment of 12,820,513 consideration shares shall be issued
to Fair Future (i) on 1 April 2025 if the annual financial statements of Gold
Vantage Group for the year ending 31 December 2024 has been issued on
or before 31 March 2025 or (ii) within 30 business days after the issuance
of annual financial statements of Gold VVantage Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 if the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 is issued after 31 March 2025. Payment for the second
instalment of cash consideration of HK$13,333,000 is subject to the net
profit after tax for the six months ended 30 June 2024 attained by Gold
Vantage Group (“2024 H1 Profit”):

0]

(D)

(iii)

If the 2024 H1 Profit is not less than HK$14,000,000, an amount
up to HK$13,333,000 shall be paid to Fair Future on 1 September
2024.

If the 2024 H1 Profit is HK$12,000,000 or more but less than
HK$14,000,000, an amount of HK$12,000,000.00 shall be paid
to Fair Future on 1 September 2024. If the 2024 H1 Profit is
HK$10,000,000 or more but less than HK$12,000,000, an amount
of HK$10,000,000.00 shall be paid to Fair Future on 1 September
2024. The respective shortfall between HK$13,333,000 of the
second instalment cash consideration and the amount of cash paid
under the aforesaid scenarios shall be paid to Fair Future (i) on
1 April 2025 if the annual financial statements of Gold Vantage
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been issued on
or before 31 March 2025; or (ii) within 30 business days after
the issuance of the annual financial statements of Gold Vantage
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 if the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 is issued after 31
March 2025.

If the 2024 H1 Profit is less than HK$10,000,000, an amount up to
HK$13,333,000 shall be paid to Fair Future (i) on 1 April 2025 if
the annual financial statements of Gold VVantage Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 has been issued on or before 31 March
2025; or (ii) within 30 business days after the issuance of the annual
financial statements of Gold Vantage Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 if the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 is issued after 31 March 2025.

47.
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47.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 47, WV B B 2 W) ()
Acquisition of Gold Vantage Group (Continued) e B 4 B4 (%)
The third instalment of 12,820,513 consideration shares of shall be % = 11912,820,513 ik & 18 I 15 I 55 — 1
issued to Fair Future and the third instalment cash consideration of 13,333,000 ¥ 70 i 4 A AE % (i) it —F N
HK$13,333,000 shall be paid to Fair Future (i) on 1 April 2026 if the M —H (s ZEEERE —F HF
Annual Financial Statements of Gold Vantage Group for the year ending T H =+ — B R B R
31 December 2025 has been issued on or before 31 March 2026 or (ii) Eﬁ/\: TONFE=ZH =T —HEZ AT
within 30 business days after the issuance of annual financial statements of (i) ERERBRE _F _HFET
Gold Vantage Group for the year ending 31 December 2025 if the annual H *1‘* IR AR 22 4F B B s R T 3%
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2025 is issued after VMAEEHN (M E—F _HETZH
31 March 2026. =t HILEEZFEMFHRER %
TAEEZA ST HZ B BT KT
75 -
The consideration is determined as follows: OB E anF
HK$’000
T
Issuance of first instalment consideration shares at the S8 IR EEAT 56 — B AR AE I 1y
Completion 30,769
Derivative financial liabilities in relation to the 2023 Profit A B — 2 — = 4E it Al 8 > A7 2E 4
Compensation =K 11,590
Derivative financial liabilities in relation to the 2024 Profit A B 2 — U 4F i A w5 2 A7 24 4
Compensation AR 35,463
Derivative financial liabilities in relation to the 2025 Profit A B — 2 — To. 4F i Al A5 2 A7 25 4
Compensation =i 30,634
Total consideration HAE 108,456

Details of the net assets acquired as at the acquisition date are as follows:

TP WS B SO0 ST T R R AT

HK$’000

T

Total consideration HARME 108,456
Less: Fair value of net assets acquired B DR EE 2 A TE (66,278)
Goodwill [k 42,178

The goodwill of HK$42,178,000 arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the synergies expected to arise from the business combination and the
growth and profit potential in the expansion of smart watches business.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income
tax purposes.

Wi B 7E A 2 7 42,178,000 7 T B IR R TE
W5t B 2B D 2 A 2 Tih [ 5k B 9 JR o
RE T ok 27 2 VEAE = ST ) - MERE AT e
R 2 R TEE A K0 AR A o
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

A7, W B R 4 W o)

Acquisition of Gold Vantage Group (Continued) B B 4 B4 M (4%)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the T i i T L T o A 2 T kA A
acquisition of Gold Vantage Group as at the date of acquisition: U B2 A A -
Fair value
N
HK$’000
T
Property, plant and equipment W2 - R Jm Mk A 24,806
Intangible assets TV B 69,211
Deferred tax assets 0 SE A T 7,690
Inventories ft & 7,679
Trade receivables JRE LR 3R 11,067
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TE AT FRIE ~ 42 4 R L Ath B A AR 3K 2,755
Cash and cash equivalents B4 Je Bl & S B 12,186
Deferred tax liabilities AR A Fod TEL 2 £ (17,096)
Trade payables JE A5} Bk (10,506)
Bank borrowings SRITIE R (5,336)
Lease liabilities GER= SR (373)
Other payables and accruals HC Al A TR R R R R (35,805)
Fair value of net assets acquired O A R E 2 A E 66,278
HK$’000
T
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries: W5 B Jog A R 2 B 4 U A U AR
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired O S B o o A ) 22 B4 e L4 (B 12,186

Gold Vantage Group contributed revenue of approximately
HK$21,203,000 and net profit of approximately HK$5,257,000 to the
Group from the date of acquisition to 31 December 2023.

Had the business combination taken place on 1 January 2023, revenue of
the Group for the six months ended 31 December 2023 would have been
increase by approximately HK$14,549,000 and net profit would have
decreased by HK$6,893,000. The pro-forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
the operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition of Gold Vantage Group been completed on 1 January 2023 nor
are they intended to be a projection of future results.

The details of the development on profit guarantee and profit compensation
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 and for the year ending
31 December 2025 are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

I s - F =+ =+—
H o1k > 4 2 4L B 1) A 45 BB Ok die A 40
21,203,000 5 7T M ¥ Al 15 % 41 5,257,000 i#5
on

7> AERMEE_FZ =4+ =1—
H 1k 7S H 2 WA FE 3 i1 £ 14,549,000 #5
JG > 1 Ja 1] 5% 48 1 ok 2 6,893,000 75 T - fh
ZERMEMEIE > R—ERER T ==
AE— H— H 5E I & AR B R AL
(ISP E L E S Pkt W) VN
MR AR LA 2 ) -

WE-F SR F WA
St AR DL R R A
H = B R P R R R 0
BRI 3 BB M 721 -
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48. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

(a) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interests in Bendura
Group in 2024

0]

(iD)

(iii)

(v)

In January 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 6 equity shares
of Bendura Bank AG (“Bendura Bank™) at cost CHF5,000
(equivalent to HK$50,000). Following the repurchase,
the Company’s effective equity interest in Bendura Group
increased. The Group recognised a decrease in non-
controlling interests of HK$30,000 and a decrease in equity
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$20,000.

In March 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 4 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF4,000 (equivalent to
HK$32,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased. The
Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
HK$15,000 and a decrease in equity attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$17,000.

In April 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 75 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF71,000 (equivalent to
HK$610,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.04%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$313,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$297,000.

In June 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 46 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF44,000 (equivalent to
HK$380,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.02%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$234,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$146,000.

48.

LI 2 B B 4 2 32 %)

(@) 2 =% DU AR RO AR
Z WM HE

0]

(D)

(i)

(iv)

AT TIE—H o E I EE
L 7 5,000 Fif - 35 BB (KA 5
JiA 50,000 %5 JT.) M [E] 6 B &
SRAT A A PR A (& HhgR
171) HERR T o BRI 4% > AN ]
A A [ 2 B AR o
A A ) T . 4 25 ek A
30,000 #5 70 S AN ml A A
ik #E 25 8 2 20,000 #5 T o

MR TWAEZH > B
DA B A% 4,000 Hi = 325 BB (HR &
J7 32,000 %5 JT) B ] 4 % & H
SRATHE SR B o BE[RI AR > AR
T AR B 2 B R RO R i o
A 42 (B il R I 5 8 HE 25 ok D
15,000 5 70 S AN m A A\
ik 1 25 380 2> 17,000 #5 7T o

AT TPUAEDD A w A
DL A AR 71,000 H -1 25 BE (FH &
Ji* 610,000 5 7T) fif [0 75 % &
HERATHE 25 B o BE )45 > AR
A AR 1 2 S I RE R o
0.04% o 7 42 8 e 58 I #5¢ e i
% I 2 313,000 5 6 K A T
A N A6 HE 45 8070 297,000
WL o

AR PUAEN A > E
D A7 44,000 H -1 25 BE (FH
774 380,000 %5 7T) JifE [ 46 I &
HERATHE 25 B o BE AR > AR
LA b AR 1 2 B I AR RE R o
0.02% o 7 42 8] il 578 I #5< I i
15 J8l 2P 234,000 7 7T K AR A
A N {5 22 952 146,000
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48. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

@)

Deemed acquisition of additional equity interests in Bendura

Group in 2024 (Continued)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

In July 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 420 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF399,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,544,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.23%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$2,191,000 and a decrease in equity
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$1,353,000.

In July 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 27 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF26,000 (equivalent to
HK$228,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$160,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$68,000.

In August 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 8 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF8,000 (equivalent to
HK$69,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased. The
Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
HK$40,000 and a decrease in equity attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$29,000.

In September 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 6 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF8,000 (equivalent to
HK$53,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased. The
Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
HK$30,000 and a decrease in equity attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$23,000.

48. BAIEENRME 4 Z A 5 ()
(@) B 2 DU AR U M 4R
Z A I HE (%)
(v) MRIEFZELH > FHEE

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

DL A 399,000 B - 5 BB (A
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B MR AT £ B o BRI 4% >
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RELE 111 0.23% o A< 4E [ e w8 FE
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e AN T AN I A B 25 Tk
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ATETIUELH o HE
Dk A7 26,000 Fj -1 25 BE (AR &
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HERATHE 45 B o BE R AR > AR
A A b A T B R b
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48. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

(a) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interests in Bendura
Group in 2024 (continued)

(x)

)

(xi)

(xii)

In October 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 10 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF10,000 (equivalent to
HK$85,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$50,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$35,000.

In November 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 80 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF76,000 (equivalent to
HK$672,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.04%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$398,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$274,000.

In November 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 15 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF14,000 (equivalent to
HK$126,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$78,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$48,000.

In December 2024, Bendura Group repurchased 27 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF26,000 (equivalent to
HK$220,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$134,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$86,000.

48.
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48. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

48.

S I 2 B B 4 2 52 B (#0)

(@) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interests in Bendura (@) B AT 2 U AR W R H 4R
Group in 2024 (continued) Z A I HE (%)
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Bendura Group on AEIN > F AR R RERE A 2 AR )
the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is BN F A N EAGAE 25 2 5 22 A
summarised as below: AR
2024
ot L3
0@ @ ™ v M @ im0 K ) To
R TR I T I T T T I O I I
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tibn Tl Fic Tk TiEx Tk Tk T T TEx T TEx T
Canyingamountof  EUREAE 1k
non-controlling iz
interests R
acquired 30 15 Kk} 24 2191 160 40 30 50 398 18 B4 361
Consideration paid Y FE £
for acquisition Exe
of non- Mz
controlling i@
interests 6) () 6O () G5 @) ) ) ®) ) ) @) 606
Bxcess of TR
consideration ZEX
naid recognised Bz
within equity BEEE | @) @ @) M 0B 6 @ ) 6 @ @ @ 1
(b) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interest in Bendura (b) B2 =2 = AR W R AR

Group in 2023

Z @ B HE

(i)  In January 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 22 equity (i) MoEB_=F—H ZHEH
shares of Bendura Bank AG (“Bendura Bank™) at cost DA AR 19,174 Fig 175 BB (FH &
CHF19,174 (equivalent to HK$163,000). Following the 7 163,000 %5 7T) i [0 22 i &
repurchase, the Company’s effective equity interest in SR AT e A A BR 2 7] ([ b
Bendura Group increased by 0.01%. The Group recognised SRAT D) MERR A o BEMI 4R > AN
a decrease in non-controlling interests of HK$102,000 and a A b A [ 2 B I RE
decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of J10.01% o 7 4 3 e 58 Ik £ ik
HK$61,000. HE %2 70 102,000 75 7T S A4S 23

F A A E 52 970 61,000
T °
(i) In February 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 11 equity (i) R-FE_=4H_"H, &

shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF9,587 (equivalent to
HK$80,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$51,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$29,000.

] DA A% 4% 9,587 Fiy + 72 BB (£
17 80,000 #5 oG ) Mg 7] 11 A &
HERATHE 25 B o BEEIAR 5 AN
AL b AR 2 B I RE
J110.01% o 7 42 [ 7 52 J #¢ F
HE 25 354> 51,000 #E 7T K A 7]
A N MEAGHE RS 32> 29,000 15
=
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48. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

(b) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interest in Bendura
Group in 2023 (Continued)

(iii)

(v)

V)

(vi)

In March 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 8 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF6,972 (equivalent to
HK$60,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased. The
Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
HK$38,000 and a decrease in equity attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$22,000.

In April 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 3,700 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF3,370,000 (equivalent to
HK$29,578,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
1.97%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$17,753,000 and a decrease in equity
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$11,825,000.

In May 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 100 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF91,000 (equivalent to
HK$784,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.05%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$492,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$292,000.

In June 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 17 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF15,000 (equivalent to
HK$135,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$85,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$50,000.

48.
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(iv)
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(vi)

e s g = %Y
DL A 6,972 F - 35 BB (KA &
Ji* 60,0005 JT.) M [E] 8 i &
SRATHE S B o BE[EIAR > A0 ]
i Hh AR B 2 B R R S T o
A A [ T R 48 HE 25 ek A
38,000 #5 70 S A A ml HEAT A
ik FE 25 8 2 22,000 #5 7T o

AR =FNAH S g
] DA A A 3,370,000 H 1 32 B
(FHE i 29,578,000 #5 T 1 [#]
3,700 Ji¥ & Hh SR 47 HE 25 % o B
G N7 A L S =
I S HEE 85 100 1.97% = A 52 ] e
8 I 452 1 HE £5 96k 20 17,753,000
W 0 B AR N R e N A E
25 38 2 11,825,000 # JT -

MEEC AR B AR
DL A7 91,000 Hi -f 25 BE (FH
J7 784,000 ¥ J6) B 9] 100 it &
HhERATHE 35 B o BE 4% > AR
A E AR 1 2 I I RE R o
0.05% o A= £& [0 e 52 I 422 FRe e
% I 2 492,000 5 0 K AN T
HEA N A6 HE 45 3570 292,000
WL -

RTEZEXRH S E IR
DA A% 7S 15,000 Hi - 325 BE (FH %
J7 135,000 #5 ot ) W 1] 17 [ &
HhERATHE 25 B o BE R AR 5 AR
A & b AR ) 2 B R I RE
J110.01% o 7 42 [ 1 52 < 1
HE 25 35k 0> 85,000 ¥ 7T [ A4
A N B HE 25 38020 50,000 H5

IG ©
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48. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

(b)

Deemed acquisition of additional equity interest in Bendura

Group in 2023 (Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

)

In June 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 10 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF9,000 (equivalent to
HK$76,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$50,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$26,000.

In August 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 38 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF35,000 (equivalent to
HK$308,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.02%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$198,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$110,000.

In September 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 52 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF47,000 (equivalent to
HK$405,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.03%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$264,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$141,000.

In October 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 25 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF23,000 (equivalent to
HK$197,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$129,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$68,000.

48. BUIEEEIRMEZ RS (19
(b) B % = AR G R AR
Z AR HE (40
(vii) RZFEZ=AEARH > B g

(viii)

(ix)

)

] DA A A 9,000 B - %5 BB (41
& A 76,000 #5 7T) B[] 10 B
HhERATHE &5 B o BEEIAR > AR
A A b B T B I R b
J110.01% o 7S 42 B i 58 S ¢
HE 25 387> 50,000 75 TC X AR A
WA N IEAGHE 2 152> 26,000 5

G °

MIZEZ=FNH > & HbEE
DL RS 35,000 Fi - 325 BB (FH
Ji* 308,000 %5 Jt.) B 1] 38 %
HERATHE S5 B o BRI AR > A
A E AR I 2 I AR
0.02% o A= £& [0 ffe 52 I 442 e i
28 3 2 198,000 7 G K A2 H
A N {5 HE 22 9822 110,000
I -

T E AR E R
PR 7S 47,000 Hi - 325 BE (FH
J7 405,000 #5 ot ) W 1] 52 1% &
HERATHE 25 B o BE I 4R > AR
A E AR 1 2 I R RE R T
0.03% o 7= 4 M fifE 52 I 442 J e
25 Yok 2P 264,000 5 7T K AR\ )
HEA N A6 HE 45 570 141,000
WL -

REEZ AT A
DL A AR 23,000 Hi = 75 BB (FH 3
J7% 197,000 #5 ot) M 7] 25 I &
HhERATHE 25 B o BE R AR 5 AR
A b AR B R I RE
J10.01% o 7 42 [ 7 52 Jf 1
HE 5 38 2P 129,000 7 76 K AR 24
AR A REALHE SR 3820 68,000
WL o
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48.

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

(b) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interest in Bendura
Group in 2023 (Continued)

(xi)

In December 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 46 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF41,000 (equivalent to
HK$389,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.03%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$237,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$152,000.

The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Bendura Group on
the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is

48, BLIEPEIEHE #2225 (40

(b) WA T =AR 00 AL
Z A EHE (%)
(xi) MoEFT=AFETTH i
4] Lk A% A 41,000 F 35 BB (41
& 17 389,000 75 JT) B [7] 46 %
SR AT AE B R o B 1%
AR N TR & 4 ] B
RELE 111 0.03% o A< 4E [ e 5 FE
e B HE 25 3 70 237,000 35 7T K
AN B HEA N A HE 25 D
152,000 % T °

SRR > M T R A HE R A 2 AR
SBEAO T AT N AL 2 2 5 B

summarised as below: R
023
Seamalis
0 G @ M v o) w) @) 0 0 ) Tod
T N R .
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tkt T#r Tt THr Téx Tx Thx T TEx TEx T Tx
Caryingamountofnon- U R S
controlling interests b ]}
acquired 102 51 3B 153 492 85 50 198 264 129 21 1939
Consideration paid for Y FE R BEGR E
aoquisition of non- SUPAIY
controling ntress (8) ) () (959 () () (8 (00 @5 () (8 (1)
Bxcess of consideration Mt EA ERRZ
i recognised BRMfEZ
within equity BiLER 6) ) (2 (L85 (9 () () (10) () (68 (1) (1277
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48. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 48. BRI AE AR Z A 5 (40)
INTERESTS (Continued)
(c) Deemed disposal of equity interest in Bendura Group (c) LA ZF PUAE B E AL
without change of control in 2024 Z JBeHE (Sif 40 42 o) i 52 )y )
In April 2024, Bendura Group issued 826 equity shares of Bendura W FME N H > b 4E E
Bank at consideration CHF785,000 (equivalent to HK$6,667,000). DA B 785,000 3 + 35 B (FH & i
Following the issue, the Company’s effective equity interest 6,667,000 #57T) #5417 826 I & L SR-AT
in Bendura Group decreased by 0.45%. The Group recognised WERR I o BEATAR - AR A & Hh AR ]
an increase in non-controlling interests of HK$4,028,000 and 2 BRI ) 0.45% o A% 42 [ e R
a decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of T 1 JRAE 45 48 0 4,028,000 5 7T B A
HK$2,639,000. 25 F AN RE A B 1 B8l 2,639,000
DT
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Bendura Group on AEIN > E AR R A RERE A 2 AR )
the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is BN T N EAGAE 25 2 5 22 A
summarised as below: AR
2024
R4
HK$’000
Tt
Carrying amount of equity interests disposed e 6 I HE 2 MR (4,028)
Consideration received for disposal of equity 8 R O Y i 2 AR
interests 6,667
Excess of consideration received recognised A TR HRE T e R 2 L S R AR A 2 e A 2
within equity 2,639
(d) Deemed disposal of equity interest in Bendura Group (d) AR T =40 AR

without change of control in 2023

In April 2023, Bendura Group issued 630 equity shares of Bendura
Bank at consideration CHF549,000 (equivalent to HK$5,037,000).
Following the issue, the Company’s effective equity interest
in Bendura Group decreased by 0.33%. The Group recognised
an increase in non-controlling interests of HK$3,047,000 and
a decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$1,990,000.

Z JBEHE (Sif: 40 47 i) i 52 1B )
T T AR OH > F A
D) A% {8 549,000 i £ 75 BE (FH & i
5,037,000 % 7T ) #5417 630 /I & MR 1T
WEAR I o B84 TR > AN B A & b 5L
2B BRI HE TR 2 0.339% o A 4 3 e 2
FE F32 JBEHE 25 48 0 3,047,000 75 I K A
N B HEA N A HE 45 3520 1,990,000
WIT
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48. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 48, BRI AE LR Z A 5 (40
INTERESTS (Continued)

(d) Deemed disposal of equity interest in Bendura Group (d) BRI T Z=AEHEE HAEE
without change of control in 2023 (Continued) Z JBHE (oif 4 ¥ I B 22 ) ) (%)
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Bendura Group on AEIN > E A A RERE A 2 AR )
the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is AN T A N EAGAE 25 2 5 22 A
summarised as below: AR

2023

HK$°000

THE T

Carrying amount of equity interests disposed . B IR HE 2 TR T (3,047)

Consideration received for disposal of equity B IR B i AR

interests 5,037
Excess of consideration received recognised A TR A R 2 LSRR 2 e L 2

within equity 1,990

(e) Deemed disposal of equity interests in Ernest Borel without () WAR-EB =2 AHEREKEZ
losing of control in 2023 Ji RE (312 S0 J2 o) i 522 ) )

In April 2023, Ernest Borel issued 12,810,512 shares as the AN A A B S R M RE 47 P
consideration shares for the acquisition as set out in note 47 to AR ARG H > AR B AT
the consolidated financial statements. Following the issue, the 12,810,512 & A& 3 A 75 Wi B = JH 2
Group’s effective equity interest in Ernest Borel Group decreased FRAF I o BEAT AR - A0 A A K %
from 62.69% to 60.47%. The Group recognised an increase in non- 5 45 [ 2 B TR RO P 62.69% ek 2 &2
controlling interests of HK$15,137,000 and an increase in equity 60.47% o A4 [ A 52 I 122 R A 4 348
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$15,632,000. 115,137,000 # 76 & A~ ®l BEA A

JHE 5 HE 5 3% 10 15,632,000 #E 7G ©

2023
_E =4
HK$’000
T IT
Carrying amount of equity interests disposed Lt B IR HE 2 IR T (15,137)
Issuance of consideration shares as set out in Bt 5 47 Jr s A7 A8 e 1
note 47 30,769

Excess amount recognised within equity i e HE TR il R 2 R = 15,632
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48. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 48. BRI AE AR Z A 5 (40)
INTERESTS (Continued)
(f)  Partial disposal of equity interests in Ernest Borel without ) RE-F=ESHERERZ
losing of control in 2023 JBe HE (S S0 J2 i) i 522 ) )

(i)  In October 2023, the Group has completed the dispsoal (i) MR-FEZ=4F1H KEE
of 1.94% equity interest of Ernest Borel Group to the £ 58 B A 14,000,000 ¥ 75 7] 4%
Group’s substantial shareholder at HK$14,000,000. Upon AR T o 2 RO A S AR I AR
the completion, the Croup’s effective equity interest in [ 2 1.94% R HE o ST HiAz > A
Ernest Borel Group decreased from 60.47% to 58.52%. The 45 ) A MK U6 itk 4 I 2 B TR AR
Group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests HE FH 60.47% Ik > % 58.52%
of HK$3,699,000 and an increase in equity attributable to A% 42 B il R I 5 I E 25 45 0
owners of the Company of HK$10,301,000. 3,699,000 5 7T M A</ B B A

N A HE %5 14 1 10,301,000 7%
=

(iiy  In December 2023, the Group has completed the dispsoal (i) MEFZ=FTTH o AEE
of 1.39% equity interest of Ernest Borel Group to the £ 58 B 4 10,000,000 ¥ 75 7] 4%
Group’s substantial shareholder at HK$10,000,000. Upon A8 T RO AR AR
the completion, the Croup’s effective equity interest in [ 2 1.39% R HE o S8 BifE > A
Ernest Borel Group decreased from 58.52% to 57.14%. The 45 B A K U8 I 4R T 2 B TR T
Group recognised an increase in non-controlling interest HE H 58.52% Ik 2> 5. 57.14% °
of HK$2,756,000 and an increase in equity attributable to 7 412 9] il R IF 2 I HE 2 4
owners of the Company of HK$7,244,000. 2,756,000 ¥ 70 J2 A 23 F] HE A

RE A HE £ 38 1 7,244,000 1
=
2023
(i) (i) Total
(i) (ii) e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T
Carrying amount of equity £ B I 2 IR T (H
interests disposed (3,699) (2,756) (6,455)
Consideration received from B R L iR 2 A
disposal of equity interests 14,000 10,000 24,000
Excess of consideration received i Bt HE 7 B 582 B T HiL
recognised within equity A 2 8 2= 3 10,301 7,244 17,545




289

CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

ek ok 3 R B AR P AT PR )

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

49. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 49.

OF CASH FLOWS

@)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

&6 Bl i B R W

(@) MEIREEAC ARCHIR

Borrowings
excluding Due to
bank- Duetoa Due to related Dueto Lease
overdrafts  shareholder directors company associates liabilities
(note 36) (note 46.1) (note 46.1) (note 46.1) (note 46.1) (note 38)
fid s Bf7 Eff—4 30) T TE A v
BT sk | FET Y] Al Al HEAR
(Wikse)  (Wakel)  (Whkaed)  (Wbdel)  (Whkded) (Mk38)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#x T#n T#n T T T
Asat 1 January 2024 REBZWE—H—H 639,678 9,025 66,772 148,000 50,000 49,026
Proceeds from new loans M SR 168970 = = - - =
Repayment of borrowings [ (204,681) - - - - -
Advance to the Group I 52 [ B3R - - 14,440 - 2,000 =
Repayment from the Group REBRK - (9,025) (3,556) (22.587) (14757) =
Repayment of principal portionof &M & & A 44
the lease liabilities - - - - - (23.801)
Interest paid EATFIE (46,419) (10) - = (793) (3713)
Total changes from financing BERATEEE A
cash flow (82130) (9,035) 10,884 (22581) (13550) (27514)
Other changes: Kbz
Interest expenses HEHX 46419 25 3074 6,253 3401 3713
Transfer to acoruals BRAEER - (225) (3074) (6,253) (2,608) =
Additions WE - - - - - 9,290
Lease modification HEEY - - - = = 41587
Early termination of lease RELEHE - - - - - (1,365)
Exchange adjustments I 5.3 (38.404) - (3929) - - (2372)
As at 31 December 2024 REZZNE
+oHEF R 565,563 - 73,731 125413 37,43 72,365
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49. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 49,
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

@)

(b)

B B TR B R W RE ()

(Continued) (@
Borrowings
excluding Dueto
bank- Duetoa Dueto related Dueto Lease
overdrafts shareholder directors company associates liabilities
(note 36) (note 44.1) (note 44.1) (note 44.1) (note 44.1) (note 38)
8 $f7 JEff—% Fef Fehf B TET e
BB kA e UNGEY] UNGEY HEAH
(WEE36)  (WEkaal)  (MhRas)) (WD) (HRR4D) (W7 38)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T T T THT THT
Asat 1 January 2023 REZFZ=E—H—H 906,225 12,000 81,515 148,000 10,000 48,886
Procegds from new loans W SR 71378 = = - - =
Repayment of borrowings R M E (322010) - - - - -
Advance to the Group I 52 [ B3R - - 10223 - 40,000 =
Repayment from the Group RERRK - (2979) (23860) - - -
Repayment of principal portionof &R & & A 44
the lease liabilities - - - - - (22,202)
Interest paid EATFIE (62823) - (2404) - - (2494
Total changes from financing BESERREH AT
cash flow (307,444) (2975) (16,041) - 40,000 (24,6%)
Other changes: HfbzH) -
Iterest expenses HEHX 62823 575 4103 7400 847 2,494
Transfer to accruals BRAEER - (575) (2,699) (7,400) (847) =
Additions WA - - - - - 768
Lease modification BN - - - - - 22532
Acquisition of subsidiaries i 2 7,088 - - - - 3
Exchange adjustments I 5. (29,014) - (106) - - (1,330)
Asat 31 December 2023 S
+ZAZ+—H 639,678 9,025 66,772 148,000 50,000 49,026

Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has disposed
of certain intangible assets to Fair Future, a related company of
the Company at the net book value of HK$8,092,000. The proceed
from the disposal has been recorded in the current account with Fair

Future accordingly.

(b) ERFEBHERH

#HEZFDWETFZA =+ —HIE
AR > A4 B D) IR T I (H 8,092,000
G [ AR T B AR O i
TIEAE G o B BT A EE B A
FEA B S 2 B AR o
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50. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CREDIT CARD
COMMITMENTS

50.1

50.2

50. S B IR KA B R R

Financial guarantees 50.1 BA%IE IR

2024 2023
e~ <y 11! F< 3 -
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG T
Banking facilities granted to an associate %% — [l A 7 2

SRATALVE 55,000 55,000
At 31 December 2024, the Group had provided a corporate W_F_NE+_H=+—H>

guarantee in respect of a banking facility of up to HK$55,000,000
(2023: HK$55,000,000) granted to an associate. The corporate
guarantee is ending on the expiry of the term of the revolving loan
facility.

In the opinion of the directors, it is unlikely that a claim will be made
against the Group and no cash outflow under the financial guarantee
contract. The directors have assessed and considered the financial
impact arising from the above guarantee is insignificant.

Credit card commitments

As 31 December 2024, the Group had credit card commitments
of approximately HK$87,309,000 (2023: approximately
HK$92,977,000) given to third parties. Credit card commitments
represents the undrawn amount of credit card limits. In the opinion
of the directors, those credit commitments are given with collateral
and financial impact arising from the undrawn amount of credit card
limits is insignificant.

50.2

A% 22 E Ak — W A R R
455,000,000 o6 (& — =
55,000,000 #5 7G) 2 $R1T Rl & $2 {1
AIYEOR o 20 F S ORI IR 503K il
H B JiE T PR AR AL o

EHRERR > REMBRERS A
EEEH R RZEE LM HIFE
Bl o #F Bk a8 & Lt
PR L 2 ISR B AR o

fa H R R ¥
RZFZPAEF A = —H > A&
BB T8 =07 205 R
#787,309,000 % 70 (—F =4 4
92,977,000 #70) ° 15 i RARIETE (G
A REEEZ RIR IR -FEHR L
% 55 (5 BRI 2 DA 5 2 T =
PEAE > RIRULZ A5 R AE BT A
2 BAHS 5 SEACT H A o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group has various financial assets and financial liabilities such
as trading portfolio investments, derivative financial assets, cash and
deposits, due from banks and clients, trade receivables, financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income, other financial assets at
amortised cost, other assets, derivative financial liabilities, due to banks
and clients, trade payables, borrowings, due to a shareholder, due to
directors, lease liabilities and other liabilities, which arise directly from its
operations. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, fair
value risk and equity price risk.

It is not the Group’s policy to actively engage in the trading of financial
instruments for speculative purposes. Its treasury department works
under the policies approved by the directors and identifies ways to access
financial markets and monitors the Group’s financial risk exposures.
Regular reports are provided to the directors. The board has reviewed and
agreed policies periodically for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

51.

St 5 I B 4 B H B % R

AR HARR A XEE 2 2 HE M E
Tzl & i - I 5 e 8508 - ik &
T - Bl RAF K MEMCERAT BB K
TH ~ REWCRAK A A A 42 T i
AZ & EE - RSN IR 2 HoAb 4
T ~ AL E - ATAE SR A A B
B A i A 208 1H < B - EAT SR
17 RF P A ~ AR - - A —
2 AR ~ AT SO - HE R E R
HAb B A o AL E G M TR E R R
o 2% M) 5 LB~ APREEJEBR - 5 SRR ~ U
Bl B A B~ S (B R B B B A (A

B -

ASAE M 2 BORAR I e H F R NG B
il L o JEC TR IS AR 42 A et v I
AT > W HEEW RS < 5 ik R
SR A [ O T 3 B R IR A 1
PRI o 3 4 A K e B
Al TR i 2 BOR > A B BOR B IR -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51. S %5 L B 4 BE H B B BB ()

51.1 Summary of financial assets and financial liabilities by 51.1 4Rl B 4l A AR 4 SR
category
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial R_F m%&#i@ —EFT
liabilities as recognised at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are X+ H it 58 ZZ’-‘E@%F%QF&
categorised as follows: S Al B AR T (T BT T
2024 2023
—E U E =
HK$°000 HK$7000
T TH5 7T
Financial assets < 9l s
Financial assets at fair value: F N TE S MR 2 4 V& -
— Due from banks (note 18) — RE W R AT 3R (B 18) 192,782 130,989
— Trading portfolio investments -5 ?ﬂﬁ?ﬁ < 39,564 27,558
— Derivative financial assets — 1 A 4 il 33,061 5,136
— Financial assets at fair value through *T”/WF{E wh Al A1 5 5 48
profit or loss 2R E 24,718 32,410
290,125 196,093
Financial assets at amortised cost: Fe o8 AR B e 2 4 R 7
— Cash and deposits — Bl R AE 3,782,130 3,761,431
— Due from clients — RENSC& P RRIE 2,659,182 2,877,929
— Due from banks — RS ERAT 3R IH 2,752,488 2,091,979
— Trade receivables — MEI AR K 372,111 442,941
— Other financial assets at amortised cost — F A B A B R
2 Ho A 45 il 3,511,829 1,878,805
— Other assets — HAth & E 226,801 225,157
13,594,666 11,278,242
Financial assets at fair value through other % /A-F iﬁff AT A
comprehensive income 2 4xfl %? 233,893 285,627
13,828,559 11,759,962
Financial liabilities 4 il LA B
Financial liabilities at fair value: f"%ﬁﬁ]ﬂﬁZéﬁ!ﬁﬁﬁ :
— Due to clients (note 33) — A % P A (B 5E 33) 193,069 131,180
— Derivative financial liabilities *1(]%%%&'% L 2,497 49,318
— Financial liabilities at fair value through —H N PR A B R 5 1R
profit or loss Z AR - 44,905
195,566 225,403
Financial liabilities measured at amortised %485 s A 58 2 4l & 1
cost:
— Due to banks — REATSRAT SRIH 18,393 =
— Due to clients — REAT & P 3KIH 12,140,101 10,024,131
— Trade payables — REAT IR 190,121 207,230
— Borrowings — 8 595,082 681,254
— Lease liabilities —HEA R 72,365 49,026
— Due to a shareholder — AT —2 Hﬁ% = 9,025
— Due to directors — JRE A 5 3K 73,731 66,772
— Other liabilities — HAth & 5 654,878 672,946
13,744,671 11,710,384
13,940,237 11,935,787




TR TPUAEAER 2024 ANNUAL REPORT 294

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % . JU4F+ = =1 —H 14

51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.2

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings and bank deposits. Borrowings and bank deposits
bearing variable rates and fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
interest rate and repayment terms of the borrowings outstanding at
the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 36.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings and bank deposits with
a floating interest rate.

Sensitivity Analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s loss after
income tax and decrease/increase the Group’s retained profits
by approximately HK$14,611,000 (2023: increase/decrease the
Group’s loss after income tax and decrease/increase the Group’s
retained profits by approximately HK$19,920,000). The assumed
changes have no impact on the Group’s other components of equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of reporting
period. The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to
be reasonably possible changes on observation of current market
conditions and represent management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the next twelve month period.

The calculation is based on a change in average market interest rates
for each period, and the financial instruments held at each reporting
date that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. All other variable
are held constant. The sensitivity analysis for the year ended 31
December 2024 has been prepared on the same basis.

51. S %5 b 45 BE H B B BUBR (s0)

51.2 FI 3 )E B
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.3 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group mainly operates in
Hong Kong, Switzerland, United Kingdom, Liechtenstein and the
PRC with most of the transactions denominated and settled in HKS,
US$, Euro, CHF, GBP and RMB. The Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk primarily arise from certain financial instruments
including financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, other assets, cash and deposits, due from clients and banks,
trading portfolio investments, derivative financial assets, other
financial assets at amortised cost, due to clients, derivative financial
liabilities, other liabilities and borrowings which are denominated
in US$, Euro, CHF, GBP and RMB. The management continuously
monitors the foreign exchange exposure.

The following table summarises the Group’s major financial assets
and financial liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the respective group companies as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

51. S %5 L B 4 BE H B B BB ()

51.3 AbRE )& B

A1 R B 4 < LR 2 AT ECR
B H 42 i ) R 4 43 Bl 1 5 B 2
B o AL LN AWE - It
OISR B R A R
oy 22 5 A IT ~ 30T ~ BT - ik
LR~ B R N RWEHIE KA -
A AR [ T B 2 A REE e g R A
TRAZETC ~ BT - i ik B - Se gt
RANRWIE 2 G T G
OFEFEA AL R T I 2 5l
E o~ A E - Bl RAF R - IR
B RRATHA > R HAGHE
T A 4 A~ SRR A S R
Fofth il & - MEAT 2P 3R0OH - AT
EEmAs - HMAELES - H
H g — B B A M JEL B o

TR T R F =
A=+ IAEMUA R
M A R4 B D RE B LU 2 B A
Bz EZEEREE R e AR

Expressed in HK$’000
VLT o5 2 51
us$ Euro RMB
e &7 N R
As at 31 December 2024 £ S 11 2
+=A=+—H
Cash and deposits Bl BAE 1,799 2,428 32,924
Due from clients HEW K F #0H 173,484 1,390,198 -
Due from banks JE M AT 3R 1,948,243 553,411 -
Trading portfolio investments XHAAE 8,860 = =
Derivative financial assets RTtE & 31,765 131 =
Financial assets at fair value through O PR R A HoAth 2 T YA
other comprehensive income 2 & MEE - - 25,812
Financial assets at amortised cost FeBEGH AAR 51 B 2 42 VB 693,347 723,770 =
Other assets HAt & 29,585 10,854 -
Due to clients JRE 15 % B 3k I (7,002,124) (3,877,838) =
Derivative financial liabilities ATtk & A A (83) (2,059) -
Other liabilities HAth & 65 (13,514) (7,326) =
Overall net exposure e 436 D, ot ¥R A (4,128,638) (1,206,431) 58,736
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. W%l ba 4% B B B & B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.3 Foreign currency risk (Continued) 51.3 bR B (48)

Expressed in HK$’000

AT HIC 25
us$ Euro RMB
e oG NG
As at 31 December 2023 /A Y 2
+ZA=+—HR
Cash and deposits Bl B AF 1,344 564,547 28,676
Due from clients e F #0H 128,140 1,494,918 -
Due from banks JE M AT AR 1,307,975 388,225 -
Trading portfolio investments THHAAE 8,876 = =
Derivative financial assets RTE & 2,423 = =
Financial assets at fair value through N PAE R A HoAth 2 T A
other comprehensive income & MEE - - 25,342
Financial assets at amortised cost TS AR B R 2 42 Tl B 1,076,303 461,882 =
Other assets HAh ¥ (11,917) 11,885 =
Due to clients JRE A5 % F 3k (5,319,632) (3,360,879) =
Derivative financial liabilities i A 4 AR (48,747) (571) -
Other liabilities HAth & 65 48,807 (1,160) =
Overall net exposure e 406 D, ot ¥R A (2,880,208) (441,153) 54,018

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s
loss/profit for the year and fair value through other comprehensive
income reserve (due to the change in fair value of the financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income) in response
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end of reporting
period. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between Group
companies where the denomination of the balances is in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. A
positive number below indicates increase in loss (2023: a decrease
in profit) and increase in fair value through other comprehensive
income reserve where the underlying functional currency weakens
against the relevant foreign currency. For a strengthening of
the underlying functional currency against the relevant foreign
currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss/
profit and fair value through other comprehensive income, and the
balances below would be negative.

TREURAEE (H%AFEEA
HoAb 2T A 2 4l e 2 AT
S ) WA 42 IR o R A R
JE\ B 2 S REE T 5 2 5 1 ] RE S8 ) By
1t 2 AR LR i A1) R 45 00 F
(L A At 4 T WA At 4 2 AR A6 5
B o SURUE O A B4 AR B 4 T ]
ZHEER o AEER DL IR BN BAE O
2R 2 BWEIIE - LT IES
o M I Ty e B LA B SN R Sz (E
B > BRI (T2 =4 - i
FIB) Bt ERT A A 2w
A fit G < ik AR B 0 BE N LA
B AN W TH(E > RIS 4R, A R f
ONST(EFE A A 2 T A A A S R
MR > T DA &5 8RB B
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.3 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

St 5 J B A BE H BT M BOR (a0

51.3 AhEE R BE (%)

2024 2023
R4 R CEHE

Effect on Effect on
fair value fair value
Change in Effecton  through other Change in Effect on through other
foreign loss for  comprehensive foreign profit for ~ comprehensive
exchange rates the year  income reserve | exchange rates the year  income reserve
Bz A TH N T
At A Al AT A A
BARERE AW G HAEE WA
R  EHIBE ZHE R ) i M) 2 5% ba %
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T#T T#x T T
uss$ ey +5% 206,432 - +5% (144,010) -
-5% (206,432) - -5% 144,010 -
Euro BT +5% 60,322 = +5% (22,058) -
-5% (60,322) - -5% 22,058 -
RMB UNRL +5% (1,646) (1,290) +5% 1434 1,267
-5% 1,646 1,290 -5% (1,434) (1,267)

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the
period until the next annual reporting date. In this respect, it is
assumed that there is no significant exposure expected on financial
assets and liabilities denominated in US$ for Group companies
whose functional currency is HK$ since HK$ are pegged to USD.
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ profit
for the year and equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of reporting period for presentation purposes. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2023.

B 7 2 5 AR 3R A B i 3 A1 B e 6
REET 4 EHE BB E 2
AT RE AR ) L BEAN o UL
H A T B R T 8 - i (R
RER W R ITTZ AEE AR X
P et <l 5 7 T B AN AR IfE
FEAT E KRB o | 3R 25 2 o M &S
R AU 255 B TR A 4 12 ik A
Be A (LA A D Re B Wt & Jedk
o SR B SE A 2 47 ) ok T A
HAEIT) <R . 2=
HEAT 2 53 i B A (] S e
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. W%l ba 4% B B B & B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.4 Credit risk 514 & &R B

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms of
the financial instruments and cause a financial loss to the Group.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of assets and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the assets
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition.

It considers available reasonable and supportive forward looking
information. Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

. external credit rating (as far as available)

. actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the counterparty’s ability to meet its
obligations

. actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the counterparty

. significant expected changes in the performance and
behaviour of the counterparty, including changes in the
payment status of counterparties in the group and changes in
the operating results of the counterparty

A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make
contractual payments when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery.

The assessment of credit risk and the estimation of ECL are
unbiased and probability-weighted, and incorporate all available
information that is relevant to the assessment including information
about past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable
forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting
date. In addition, the estimation of ECL should take into account the
time value of money.
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 51. W%
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.4 Credit risk (Continued) 514
The credit risk of the Group is primarily attributable to the cash
and deposit, due from clients and banks, trade receivables, other
financial assets at amortised cost and other assets.

The credit risk of the cash and deposit is limited because the
majority of the counterparties are banks with good reputation. No
impairment had been provided under 12-month expected credit loss
assessment.

The credit risk of due from clients and banks (excluding the precious
metal) is determined based on the combination of the internal
and external credit rating, the average debt recovery, peer review
information and comparison with publically available date. The
Group calculates ECL using three main components: a probability
of default, a loss given default "LGD’) and the exposure at default
(‘EAD’). The 12-month ECL is calculated by multiplying the
12-month PD, LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated using
the lifetime PD instead. The 12-month and lifetime PDs represent
the probability of default occurring over the next 12 months and
the remaining maturity of the instrument respectively. The EAD
represents the expected balance at default, taking into account the
repayment of principal and interest from the reporting date to the
default event together with any expected drawdowns of committed
facilities. The LGD represents expected losses on the EAD given
the event of default, taking into account, among other attributes,
the mitigating effect of collateral value at the time it is expected to
be realised and the time value of money. Expected credit losses for
due from banks and clients of HK$5,327,000, has been recognised
(2023: expected credit losses for due from banks and clients of
HK$7,591,000) under expected credit loss assessment for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The balance of due from clients also subject to concentration risk
which the ten largest single exposures encompass HK$990,171,000
(2023: HK$1,121,053,000), which are related to due from clients of
the banking business as of 31 December 2024.
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. W%l ba 4% B B B & B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.4 Credit risk (Continued) 514 fa &E B (48)

The Group adopts the “ECL model” on its debt instruments which
are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost in
accordance with the provisions of HKFRS 9. For financial assets
that are included in the measurement of ECL, the Group evaluates
whether the credit risks of related financial assets have increased
significantly since initial recognition. The “three stage” impairment
model is used to measure their loss allowances respectively to
recognise ECL and their movements. The ECL assessment made
by the Group is mainly reference to the internal and market credit
rating information. Amount of HK$618,000 (2023: provision for
impairment allowance of HK$6,024,000) reversal of provision for
impairment allowance has been reversed after the assessment during
the year.

For the trade receivables, the Group carries out regular review
on these balances and follow-up action on any overdue amounts
to minimise exposures to credit risk. The Group measures the
lifetime expected credit losses based on the outstanding balances
and historical credit loss experience adjusted to reflect the Group’s
view of current and forecast economic conditions that may affect
the ability of the debtors to settle receivables. Amounted of
HK$6,027,000 (2023: impairment allowance of HK$10,810,000)
impairment allowance had been reversed under expected credit loss
assessment which is calculated using simplified approach according
to the ageing by due date.

742 B BHE B T L SR 4N [T 145 &
M AT o AR A U A S R
HIZE o9t 2 Ml » A BHAEH TH
L B BT R S RE E o
MENEEEEG R A2 &ME
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B > S e R TE A (S B 1R e L
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B e 1B R A B 5 T B2 R R T
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51. S %5 L B 4 BE H B B BB ()

51.4 Credit risk (Continued)
The loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 was determined for
trade receivables arising from watches and timepieces and watch
accessories business as follows:

51.4 5B JEE (%)
AZEUEF A=+ —HEE
2 SEER SRR T DA B S gk e 4 3
BB UOR S B R E A an F

31 December 2024
ZEZONEFZA=ET—H

Gross carrying

amount

Expected credit  (after excluding

loss rate —weighted  credit-impaired
average (%) balance)  Loss allowance Net amount

I Y 1 4 08

JE %~ (0B s £
MEEEYy W) N 5 45 A T
(%) HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(%) T T#x Ti#T
Not yet pass due 1 A4 1 1.07% 74,320 (797) 73523
Overdue within 90 days /R A 90 K 1.63% 21,913 (358) 21,555
Overdue 91 to 180 days WL E 180 K 4.29% 79,313 (3,403) 75,910
Overdue over 180 days i ) 4 180 K 8.50% to £ 100% 279,409 (80,086) 199,323
Total M5t 454,955 (84,644) 370,311

31 December 2023
“EC=FFZA=Z1+—H

Gross carrying

amount

Expected credit  (after excluding

loss rate —weighted ~ credit-impaired
average (%) balance)  Loss allowance Net amount

T fR I A 1

R~ (nBrfz &
METE HESRR) o SE B A i
(%) HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000
(%) T T T
Not yet pass due 1) A 16 1 0.6% 199,447 (1,081) 198,366
Overdue within 90 days s/ R A 90 K 1.5% 22,762 (341) 22,421
Overdue 91 to 180 days 91 F 180 K 3.8% 90,741 (3,448) 87,293
Overdue over 180 days i 4 4 180 K 8.50% to % 100% 198,986 (77,332) 121,654
Total i 511,936 (82,202) 429,734




TR TPUAEAER 2024 ANNUAL REPORT 302

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % . JU4F+ = =1 —H 14

51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. W%l ba 4% B B B & B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.4 Credit risk (Continued) 514 fa &E B (48)

Other assets mainly comprise of rental deposits, dividend
receivables, amounts due from an associate and related parties.
Management considers rental deposits do not have significant
credit risk since the deposits are refundable from landlords upon
end of lease term or recoverable by the Group through using
the leased property. For the remaining balance, given the short
term nature of these assets, the ECL is had been provided under
12-month expected credit loss assessment given credit risk has not
increase significantly since initial recognition. The management has
provided an reversal of ECL provision of HK$36,724,000 (2023:
provision of HK$4,105,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024
after their assessment.

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the Company
have assessed the past due status of the debts under guarantee, the
financial position of the debtors as well as the economic outlook
of the industries in which the debtors operate, and concluded that
there has not been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of the financial guarantee contract. Accordingly, the
loss allowance for financial guarantee contract issued by the Group
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

In both years, the amount of loss allowance is lower than the
premium less cumulative amortisation, therefore, no loss allowance
was recognised in profit or loss for the financial guarantee contract.
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Jo) °

AHCE IR - AN T HE B R A I
PRIE N8 2 @ TR a IR UL~ A5
N Z B IR L A Be A5 5 N\ R84 BT A
T2 KEPSHI R - W AT i &5 > A
BRI B IR G A USRS B
B Il K BT e BRI - A SR
P MBSO G 2 2 s IR A 1 A
E 1218 A S Bk 1 2 S E

B o

P T 1 4 B2 2 e 1 8 A < R (Y
i (8 2 S > PRIk > Sl A
B DR A0 T v M) ks 4R R AT
AT fles P13 A



303 CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

e I S S R T A I A B )

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

51.4 Credit risk (Continued)

0]

51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. BA % & ke 45 B H £ K BOR (e
AND POLICIES (Continued)
51.4 fu 8RB (44)
Maximum credit risk exposure of the Group ()  AHE Z 5w A 8RB
The maximum exposure to credit risk (excluding cash AR B IR > BB 8 I A
and deposits as at the end of reporting date without taking S Z s B ERE (5
into consideration of any collateral held or other credit T AT AT BT ¢ HE i A AR
enhancement) is represented by the net balance of each type PG H%5 6 ER LR
of financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial T4 VA E 2 B R E (48
position (after deducting any impairment allowance). A HIBRAT s (i 12 ) 251
summary of the maximum exposure is as follows: I BB AN R
At 31 December 2024 RoZOMEFZH=+—H
Non-banking
Banking Financial  and financial
business business businesses Total
Je AT R
CITE S SRR SR Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tkt Tkt Tkt Tt
Due from clients Tl % 3R 2,659,182 - = 2,659,182
Due from banks TE IR T FOR 2,945,270 - - 2,945,270
Trading portfolio investments & H A AR E 23,909 - 15,655 39,564
Derivative financial assets ik S MARE 33,061 = - 33,061
Trade receivables JE M I3 - 1,800 370,311 372,111
Financial assets at fair A TR A2 A
value through other ZEMERE
comprehensive income - - 233,893 233,893
Financial assets at fair value A TR A A BUE 1
through profit or loss ZEMEE - - 24,718 24,718
Other financial assets at A AT R
amortised cost Hit &g E 3,511,829 - - 3,511,829
Other assets HiwEE 65,905 - 160,896 226,801
9,239,156 1,800 805,473 10,046,429
Credit card commitments, {5 FRRHE ~ Rn]ififal
irrevocable commitment RIE ARt 7 HE AR
and guarantee provided 133,030 - 55,000 188,030
Maximum credit risk exposure ¢ 5 {7 S JEUBR 9,372,186 1,800 860,473 10,234,459
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51.4 Credit risk (Continued)

0)

At 31 December 2023

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % . JU4F+ = =1 —H 14

Maximum credit risk exposure of the Group (Continued)

51. S %5 b 45 BE H B B BUBR (s0)

514 f5&E K (5%

() AU 2 i 5 SE B (4
RoBo=AFZA=1—H

Non-banking
Banking Financial and financial
business business businesses Total
AT R
AT & TS % R A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T Tt Tt
Due from clients JE % F3k0H 2,877,929 - - 2,877,929
Due from banks JE SR AT H 2,222,968 - - 2,222,968
Trading portfolio investments & H A A E 8,876 - 18,682 21,558
Derivative financial assets it & E 5,136 - - 5,136
Trade receivables FEMUHR K - 13,207 429,734 442,941
Financial assets at fair A TR A A2 IA
value through other ZEMERE
comprehensive income - - 285,627 285,627
Financial assets at fair value A TR A A Sk 1
through profit or loss ZEMEE - - 32,410 32,410
Other financial assets at A AT R
amortised cost Hofl 4 b 5 1,878,805 - - 1,878,805
Other assets HiuEE 62,237 - 162,920 225,157
7,055,951 13,207 929,373 7,998,531
Credit card commitments, {5 AR RS - An] i
irrevocable commitment TRIE AR 2 (R
and guarantee provided 140,375 - 55,000 195,375
Maximum credit risk exposure ¢ 7 {7 SRR 7,196,326 13,207 984,373 8,193,906
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. A%l ba 4% B B B K& B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.4 Credit risk (Continued) 51.4 5B EE (%)
(ii)  Credit exposure by quality of assets of the banking business (i) BT EBEEERI S
is as follows: {5 B m g an T
As at 31 December 2024 R_Z_WEF_H=+—H
Book value
No external of impaired
AAAt0 AA A+toBBB- BB+ or lower rating oans net Total
CR{ F 3
MARZEAAS A+HI%BBB-#  BB+ARER  WMEHAE  ZREEE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
Due from banks FE R 7308 2,080,312 465,590 - 399,368 = 2945270
Due from clients W% F 3R - - = 2,649,733 9,449 2,659,182
Financial instruments SHTHE 3,000,565 511,264 - 8,860 = 3520689
Other assets Hi g 34,065 4489 - 21,351 - 65,905
Derivative financial it eB TR
instruments 15,734 12,063 - 5,264 - 33,061
5,130,676 993,406 - 3,090,576 9,449 9,224,107
Credit card RRFRE-
commitments AT
and irrevocable TR AL
commitment and IR
guarantee provided - - - 133,030 - 133,030
As at 31 December 2023 W=+ "H=1+—H
Book value
No external of impaired
AAAt0 AA A+toBBB- BB+ or lower rating [oans net Total
BB
AAREAASL A+ZEBBB-&  BB+IEM IS ZREFE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Tk Tk Tk Tk T Tk

Due from banks TEUR T30 982,881 695,287 400,217 144583 - 2222968
Due from clients W& F H0E - - - 2,869,570 8359 2,877,929
Financial instruments SHTH 1,084,981 793,824 - 8,876 = 1,687,681
Other assets HAh g 39488 7907 = 14,842 - 62,237
Derivative financial it 2@ TH

instruments 1,705 1,836 - 1,59 - 5,136

2,109,055 1,498,854 400,217 3,039,466 8,359 7,055,951

Credit card RHFRE

commitments Nl

and irrevocable EiER

commitment and U2 ER

guarantee provided - - - 140,375 - 140,375
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(Continued)

51. S %5 b 45 BE H B B BUBR (s0)

The above table shows the quality of assets according to the
external ratings available. Financial instruments without a
rating are mainly instruments for which there is no external
rating available. Amounts due from clients are allocated to

the category “no external rating”.

Credit exposure by collateral of the banking business is as

follows:

As at 31 December 2024

514 fa &E B (48)

Giy (@)

b R HLR B AT SN A
B E % o MR R T
EE BRI R L TH -
HE 1% SR A
R -

(i) H&ERAT EHHEAT

BB

TR

REZZPESZA=+—H

Mortgage- Other
backed collateral  No collateral Total
DR R AL At
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T
Dug from banks JE SR AT R - - 2,945,270 2,945,270
Due from clients of which it B 2 IR
mortgage loan % FHIE - = = =
— Residential property —fEEYE 1,427,269 68 - 1,427,337
- Office and business property S /YL ES 118,620 - = 118,620
— Commercial and industrial EaNit/ES
property 490,627 - - 490,627
- Other —E A 62,420 547,153 13,025 622,598
Other financial assets at S AT R 2
amortised cost Hl & B - - 3,511,829 3,511,829
Trading portfolio investments oA HE - - 8,860 8,860
Derivative financial instruments s T - - 33,061 33,061
Other assets oA - - 65,905 65,905
2,098,936 547,221 6,577,950 9,224,107
Credit card commitments and {5 FRAEIE ~ AT el
irrevocable commitment and I AR 2 HE (R
guarantee provided 46,048 81,931 5,051 133,030
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. A%l ba 4% B B B K& B3R ()

AND POLICIES (Continued)
51.4 fu 8RB (44)

(i) (4

BB =+ ZA=+—H

51.4 Credit risk (Continued)
(iii)  (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023

Mortgage- Other
backed collateral No collateral Total
DV AR JESE A 5 At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T Tk Tt T
Due from banks JE NS SR AT 2 - - 2,222,968 2,222,968
Due from clients of which et B 2 IR
mortgage loan % FHIE - = = =
— Residential property —fEEYE 1,562,475 - - 1,562,475
- Office and business property —WNE R R E 147,445 - - 147445
— Commercial and industrial ~ T
property 544,223 - - 544,223
- Other —H A 42,802 565,818 15,166 623,786
Other financial assets at HHES AT R 2
amortised cost Hofl 4 B - - 1,878,805 1,878,805
Trading portfolio investments oM ERE - - 8,876 8,876
Derivative financial instruments fiEEmTA - - 5,136 5,136
Other assets HiuEE - - 62,237 62,237
2,296,945 565,818 4,193,188 7,055,951
Credit card commitments and {5 R &E ~ Aul i
irrevocable commitment and TRIE AR 2 1R
guarantee provided 47,714 87,965 4,696 140,375

The above table shows that secured lending represents
constantly more than 90 per cent of the total due from clients.

R BUR A A& R UG

- IRE e E

A 90% o
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

514 fa &E b ()

51. S %5 b 45 BE H B B BUBR (s0)

Credit risk by geographical sector of the banking business is (iv) % SR AT 6755 1 [ 3ol ) 73 2
as follows: B R AR
As at 31 December 2024 W WESH=+—H
Europe
(excluding
Switzerlandand  Switzerland and
Liechtenstein Liechtenstein) Other Total
Wtk (AEEHmLR
X E+% P X HA%) Hity Mgt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T
Due from banks JE R 1T 3R 1,845,552 1,095,932 3,786 2,945,270
Due from clients JE % F 3 830,241 662,725 1,166,216 2,659,182
Trading portfolio investments T oA ATE 8,860 - - 8,860
Other financial assets at THSH A SR 2
amortised cost Hoh 4 G e 16,911 683,094 2,811,824 3,511,829
Other assets bR 28,372 28,820 8713 65,905
Derivative financial instruments M TR 20,998 12,063 = 33,061
2,750,934 2,482,634 3,990,539 9,224,107
Credit card commitments and fa I RA&YE ~ An]
irrevocable commitment and g e 7 4 S
guarantee provided A Z B R 86,920 45,721 389 133,030
2,837,854 2,528,355 3,990,928 9,357,137
As at 31 December 2023 R _=#+_A=+—H
Europe
(excluding
Switzerlandand  Switzerland and
Liechtenstein Liechtenstein) Other Total
el
iﬁi& (K@E}ﬁ”ﬁi& ‘
(BT G %) HAl At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
SRV Tkt SR Tl
Dug from banks T SRAT FOR 1,300,288 921,217 1,463 2,222,968
Due from clients JEL % F 3R 1,045,163 1,621,263 211,503 2,877,929
Trading portfolio investments ZHHAE 8,876 - - 8,876
Other financial assets at TS RA SR Z
amortised cost HoAh 4 G 17,454 757,160 1,104,191 1,878,805
Other assets S & E 10,703 39,315 12,219 62,237
Derivative financial instruments e TR 4,308 380 448 5,136
2,386,792 3,339,335 1,329,824 7,055,951
Credit card commitments and R HF&ME - Ru]
irrevocable commitment and I e 7R3
guarantee provided A7 R 18,493 47,398 74,484 140,375
2,405,285 3,386,733 1,404,308 7,196,326
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.4 Credit risk (Continued)

51. S %5 L B 4 BE H B B BB ()

514 fa &E b ()

(iv)  (Continued) (iv) (&)
The above table shows a concentration in due from banks and 3R R R E & B 3R
clients as well as financial instruments outside Switzerland HEBELINMET REF R
and Liechtenstein. As at 31 December 2024, outside TH R & THEF - R ZF
Switzerland and Liechtenstein commitments amounted to ZWHEFZHA=Z+—H
HK$6,519,283,000 (2023: HK$4,799,916,000), or 70% + F B 52 B DA R B
(2023: 67%) percent of the total lending volume. 6,519,283,000 %% 7 (—&F = =
4F 1 4,799,916,000 i y0) - BA
R 2 700% (T = = 4F
67%) °
(v)  Credit risk by counterparty of the banking business is as (v) IRBITEH LSBT G2
follows: {5 B EBEaT
As at 31 December 2024 REFWET_A=1+—H
Private and
institutional
Public sector investment
Central banks Banks entities clients Other Total
BAR
i g i ABER KREREEF Jofl #gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
il il il il il il
Due from banks HEC SR A7 30R - 2,041,290 - - 3,980 2,045,270
Due from clients HE % F 3R - - - 2,659,182 - 2,659,182
Trading portfolio RHAARE
investments - - - - 8,860 8,860
Other financial assets i & LA
at amortised cost 5l 2 EoAly
SHEE - 542,825 2519712 449,092 - 3511,829
Derivative financial ik e LR
instruments - 32,685 376 - - 33,061
Other assets oty 7 480 32,352 3 20,702 12,368 65905
480 3,549,152 2,520,091 3,129,176 25,208 9,224,107
Credit card R &L
commitments L EN
and irrevocable Rt 2 R
commitment
and guarantee
provided - 4,591 - 128,439 - 133,030
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(v)  (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

51. S %5 b 45 BE H B B BUBR (s0)

514 fa &E B (4

#H)

v) (&)

[ =L Bt

Private and
institutional
Public sector investment
Central banks Banks entities clients Other Total
AR
R #i7 ARER BEREERF ity A5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk T Tk Tk Tk Tk
Due from banks TEdU R AT 300 - 2,222,968 - - = 2,222,968
Due from clients P& F 30R - - - 2,877,929 - 2,877,929
Trading portfolio RHAARE
investments - - - - 8,876 8,876
Other financial assets #4488 LA
at amortised cost 5l 2 Bty
SHEE - 891,642 431,083 556,080 - 1,878,805
Derivative financial ik EMIH
instruments - 4,620 516 - - 5,136
Other asses g 1976 39,735 3,408 10,283 6,836 62,237
1,976 3,158,965 435,007 3,444,292 15711 7,055,951
Credit card G RR&LE
commitments N e 7 4
and irrevocable Rt 2 R
commitment
and guarantee
provided - 4,546 - 135,828 - 140,374

The above table shows a concentration of bank
counterparties, which is managed by a limit system. This
process ensures the diversification of the counterparties
themselves as well as the counterparty domiciles. Financial
instruments issued by corporate entities are allocated to the

category “private and institutional investment clients”.

51.5 Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,

or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

ERERBOTR S HTFEPH
AT PR R o SRR R
32 5y T T L g b T Sy R
NERE BT M T AR
B RN REESERS ] -

51.5 K&

WA A IEAT RIS O R
TR B R Y > B Ry
BEEERGHEARRE  SMEE
S il B fEAE ELAR Y - BRI AR
A B IR DLR S o
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.6 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will not able to meet
its obligation associated with its financial liabilities. The Group
manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled
debt servicing payments for long-term financial liabilities as well
as cash-outflows due to day-to-day business. Liquidity needs are
monitored on a day-to-day basis. Long-term liquidity needs for a
360-day lookout period are identified monthly.

The Group maintains mainly cash to meet its liquidity requirements
for up to 30-day periods. Funding for long-term liquidity needs is
additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total bank overdrafts and
bank borrowings amounted to approximately HK$500,147,000 and
cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$58,833,000 related
to non-banking business. In assessing the appropriateness of the use
of the going concern basis in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements in light of the circumstances as mentioned in
note 3.3 and its possible consequent financial effect, the directors
of the Company have prepared a cash flow forecast covering a
period of not less than twelve months from the reporting date. The
directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity and performance of the Group and the Group’s
available sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern,
particularly taken into account the following plans and measures:

(@ The Group and the lender have agreed a supplementary
arrangement to avoid any possible accelerated repayments;

(b)  The Group will consider to disposal of certain assets to
generate more cash inflows if needed; and

(c)  The Group will continue to maintain its operational capacity
in order to improve the profitability in the future.

51. S %5 L B 4 BE H B B BB ()

51.6 il B) & & A B5

B g B A S IS R AT
<l B A B AT 2 LB AT B o A
AR EERIN SR AL
{58 2R I B HH RS Bl i
DUAE B B E oK o AL
H B HR B # e 7R oK o B4 360 H
B 2 RN B E & RN 8 A
flESE

4 1] 3 ORI B B I AT iR 2 30
H I 2 i B e /oK o Frils =
LB B A PR T R
B -

RZEZNAEFFZA =+ —H>
75 4 [ SR 47 3 3 SR AT S R AR
#1 £5'500,147,000 #5 7T > B IE SR AT 2
BHHBEME S RESEE\mYWH 5
58,833,000 #5 7T > & 7 Bff 5 3.3 fT 4l
19 UL B H AT BE B A 2 IS R s A
FEAG A A B 47 B 55 2% IRF 17
BUREREBETEE  AAFES
BETECE R SN NS
A 2 B e T o A
4N )T A AR R A I
BG4 KRB DR A ] B A
Z AR > DARTAR AR 4 18 2 5
LS S IR DR AR U
JE 2 R E AR 5B R 45 it

() S BT i E M
P > DU S A T T RE B AY
T K

(b) WA TEEL > ASE I R
HTEE  DEEEZHAR
A5 K

(c) S 5% [FH M A A p FL 4 7 g
T3> DR R AR LA o
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. W%l ba 4% B B B & B3R ()

AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.6 Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities
at the reporting date of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flow (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay. Specially, for bank borrowings which
contain a repayment on demand clause which can be exercised at
the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based
on the earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, that
is if the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect.

As at 31 December 2024

51.6 i By B < JABE (%)
T SRR R R B4 B 4 A
2 FBEHEHA > HUAHR
Sl B B A (LA DA & A st
W FRHIE . S E RS o &
A B R ) /SUF%@
A e ZA AT R 2 o5 R A S o
e = HE"@A?&%ktﬁﬁ%
A BRAGESR T FR R AT 4 R A 155 47 et
ZARATAEEE > SZ A BT AR DR B T B
ZANT IR e R B R Bl i i
BV AR N 8 AT (o G R R R 2
N AMRATRER] -

REZZWE+ZH=+—H

Total contractual
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year
amount cash flow or on demand Over 1 year
ARABR VR

KifE  BAeRERAH RER B4
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Tl T T T

Non-derivative financial Jefid SR 1

liabilities
Due to hanks JE {847 U 18,393 18,393 18,393 =
Due to clients FER % F HH 12,333,170 12,333,170 12,333,170 =
Trade payables JEE f Bk 190,121 190,121 190,121 =
Borrowings fE & 595,082 640,931 624,836 16,095
Lease liabilities HEAR 72,365 93,008 39421 53,587
Due to directors JE {3 2 5UH 73731 77417 77417 =
Due to a shareholder JE A — 4 B OR - - = =
Other liabilities Hi AR 654,878 654,878 654,878 =
13,937,740 14,007,918 13,938,216 69,682
Maximum contractual amount % & 414 H

Financial guarantee issued T AR R - 55,000 = =
Credit card commitments {5 R = 87,309 = =
Irrecoverable commitments AT ] A = 45721 = =
= 188,030 = =
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. A%l ba 4% B B B K& B3R ()

AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.6 Liquidity risk (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023

51.6 i B & & BB (7)
REZZ=#+"H=+—H

Total contractual

Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year
amount cash flow or on demand Over 1 year
B AR LR

REE  BenE8E HEX R 14
HK$’000 HK$7000 HK$:000 HK$'000
T T T T

Non-derivative financial JeRi A R 15

liabilities
Due to clients FER % F 3H 10,024,131 10,024,131 10,024,131 =
Trade payables B f Bk 207,230 207,230 207,230 =
Borrowings fE & 681,254 718,115 710,691 7424
Lease liabilities HEAR 49,026 63,397 25,067 38,330
Due to directors JEE {3 2 U 66,772 70,111 70111 =
Due to a shareholder JE i — 4 TR S 9.025 9,476 9,476 =
Other liabilities Hi A5 672,946 672,946 672,946 =
11,710,384 11,765,406 11,719,652 45574
Maximum contractual amount 3t & & £1 & %

Financial guarantee issued B3 MR - 55,000 - =
Credit card commitments {5 AR &YE = 92,977 = =
Irrecoverable commitments ] g ] 2 A - 47398 = =
= 195375 - =

Liquidity risk also arises when there is mismatch between amounts
and maturity dates of financial assets and financial liabilities.

The Group manages liquidity risk by holding liquid assets
(including cash and deposits, financial instruments and other assets)
of appropriate quality and quantity to ensure that short term funding
requirements are covered within prudent limits.

B A B T R R 4 il K e
il i A AR B LT A o

AR 8 A R R
VBB (A B AT Bl
TH R HALE ) & B B) & 2 A
B o LAfREOR7E AE A HH i 2 2 BRI
FEHMERTR
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. W%l ba 4% B B B & B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.6 Liquidity risk (Continued) 51.6 i B & < JEL R (%)
The following tables indicates the analysis by remaining maturities TR I R A A B F R T E W A R
of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities: B R B AR AT
As at 31 December 2024 R_FE_NWEFT_H=+—H
Repayable on Within Morethan ~ No maturity
demand 1 year 1year date Total
TREK R TR A bR At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T Tix T T
Total financial assets SR A 7,690,197 3,610,477 2,527,885 = 13,828,559
Total financial liabilities 4l & 54448 7,673,227 6,207,268 59,742 = 13,940,237
Financial asset-liability 4 ¥ & £ fifkh 0
gap 16,970 (2,596,791) 2,468,143 - (111,678)
As at 31 December 2023 W=+ -H=1+—H
Repayable on Within More than No maturity
demand 1 year 1 year date Total
B R R ¥R R 14 w2 A At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T Tt SR T
Total financial assets BB ERE 5,883,207 5,838,045 38,710 = 11,759,962
Total financial liabilities  4: /il £ (54848 7,702,231 4,225,880 7,676 = 11,935,787

Financial asset-liability 4 & i £ f& &t 11

gap (1819024) 1612165 31,034 - (175,825)
As the financial instruments such as trading portfolio investments H A 4 il BN 22 5 40 A 4% T g
may be sold before maturity or due to banks and clients may mature TSI HA T L B SRR AT R AT IR R
without being withdrawn, the contractual maturity dates do not TH W] BE7E AN AR B 2 0L 203
represent expected dates of future cash flows. A AVB A B I IE A 2R Rl B 4 U

ZTERFHH -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. A%l ba 4% B B B K& B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.6 Liquidity risk (Continued) 51.6 i B B < JE R (%)
The below table summarises the maturity analysis of borrowings T R ABRE 20 R A R K Tt T AR 1 o
with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed scheduled JE I8 ORI R 2 B B
repayments set out in the loan agreements. The amounts included Z B H A o A RS A
interest payments computed using contractual rates. As a result, KRR GHE 2 A B ZKE o B > 7%
these amounts were greater than the amount disclosed in the “Within SN EXBMA ST 2 [—
one year and on demand” time band in the maturity analysis above. A 1A B 5K IRy [ 66 R BT R
X
The maturity analysis of bank borrowings is shown as below: SATEEIE TN
Total
contractual Over 1 year
Carrying  undiscounted ~ Within 1 year but within
amount cash flow  or on demand 2years  Over 2 years
HHE B A R 14
IR 514 A HER RN i 2 4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt T Tt T Tt

Asat 31 December 2024 & —% — 44
+=-H=+—H 404,656 424 888 424,888 - -

2 S

As at 31 December 2023 it
+ZHA=+—H 342,820 362,823 362,823 - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % — % . JU4F+ = =1 —H 14

51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.7

51.8

Fair value risk

The fair value of the Group’s current financial assets and liabilities
are not materially different from their carrying amounts because
of the immediate or short-term maturity. The fair values of non-
current financial assets and liabilities were not disclosed because the
carrying values were not materially different from their fair values.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk related to the risk that the fair values or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
change in market price (other than changes in interest rate and
foreign exchange rate). The Group is exposed to equity price
changes arising from equity investments classified as trading
portfolio investments and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Decisions to buy or sell trading portfolio investments are based on
daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities and
other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
are based on their longer term growth potential and are monitored
regularly for performance against expectations.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s profit after income tax and consolidated equity in response
to reasonably possible changes in the share prices of the listed
investments classified as trading portfolio investments and financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income to which
the Group has significant exposure at the reporting date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

51. S %5 b 45 BE H B B BUBR (s0)

51.7

51.8

AR RN

A A S T 7 T8 <l 0 T 4 i D
(E R SN ES G I @ WA
R T (LSl 4 Hh R 22 5 o R IR R )
5l 7 T M R T (LB T (L
A MR LT > B EE AP -

e A {1 A JEL i

e A A i e Bt < il T B 2 A3 F-{H
SR A B < i £ R T A7 2 58 17 904 )
(] 256 T 1 ME 22 52 B BR A 2 R B
A B - AL BRI AR B o B AL
5 M5 BOE AR N T EEFA A2
T A 2 4l 7 2 BBEAS B 2
A MR A% 2 ) JL o

HELHAGTERE LS H EE
I8 731 i 2 2 R R HAR AT AR B A
LALEH 2 WENE ST - %
AFEFIA KA R T I 2 5l E
JEE AR 1 ) 2 S RV )
WM BB ERBE GG HY -

TRERDBEAZGAGREZ L
T 45 B B A 4 B ik i H O B
R ES PN P /N S AN
b2 TR A 2 4 il E 2 5 BT e
SEE) > AR G ) 2 IR T A5 B AR ik A
Refpffias < A EE) - —F =
AT Z O AT HR T A ] 22 ¥ o
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

51. S %5 L B 4 BE H B B BB ()

51.8 Equity price risk (Continued) 51.8  JBt A B % L B (%)
2024 2023
ey 113 SRS
Effect on fair Effect on fair
Effect on loss value through Effect on profit value through
after tax other after tax other
and retained  comprehensive and retained ~ comprehensive
profits  income reserve profits  income reserve
HERHEEE Hiea PEsA | HRBZEN HHEATHEFA
Rk EEA  HibamEiA RAREER  HfhRmERA
ZHE fif 2% & a7~ | i ps 7
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
SR T Tt TiBT
Trading portfolio investments: RHAERE
Increase in share prices of the listed -l & 2 & L 7 30%
investments by 30% (2023: 30%) (ZF =4 30%) (a77) - 189 -
Decrease in share prices of the listed _E i 45 & 2 BCAE F 2% 30%
investments by 30% (2023: 30%) (ZF =4 30%) 177 - (189) -
Financial assets at fair value P A A 2
through other comprehensive WA Z 4
income:
Increase in share price of the listed ~_E i #% & 2 18 £ 71 30%
investment by 30% (2023: 30%) (% 4 © 30%) - 68,567 - 85,688
Decrease in share price of the listed Ll 5% 2 & F 2k 30%
investment by 30% (2023: 30%) (% 4 © 30%) - (68,567) - (85,688)
51.9 Operational risks 51.9 & ¥ Jal B

Operational risk is the risk of losses due to faulty internal processes,
procedures and systems, inappropriate behaviour by employees, or
external influences. The definition includes all legal risks as well as
reputational risks. However, it excludes strategic risks. The ongoing
monitoring of operational risk is, whenever possible, embedded in
the operational processes. Separation of functions and a dual control
principle are crucial elements in monitoring. The directors oversee
the management of operational risk based on standardised reporting

and ad hoc information.

B B A E R AN 58 2 R ER I
e~ BRI~ B TAT B A E
B 5B 4 AR R 2 B o FLE
e L5 T A IR A L e DA % R
B > SR AN 60 455 WS R By o
AT BRI R A AR
A JE B o i HE o B A 42 o6 iR
S R R T BRI R o H R
H A AR EAL R e RV IR S B
g A o
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. W%l ba 4% B B B & B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.9 Operational risks (Continued) 51.9 &R b5 (%)
Capital management B B
The Group’s capital management objectives are: AEEZ EAREHERES
(i)  To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going (i)  WEORASSE B R A Rraglae e
concern, so that it continues to provide returns and benefits A 2 T A 3 R A T R R A
for stakeholders; fit 5
(ii)  To support the Group’s stability and growth; and (i) XHRHALEBEHERE &
(iii)  To provide capital for the purpose of potential mergers and (ii))  ZTBTE A RSUHR LB 4 -
acquisitions.
The Group sets the amount of equity capital in proportion to 7S A (o) AR 4 L R i A S 45 i 2 E A
its overall financing structure. The Group manages the capital i e AS B 4 o A B LG AR
structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in T Slf7 PR B A6 07 A 0L e A % AH [
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying JEE 2 JE B R AR R o o AR B
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may R AR S o A B e R )
adjust the amount dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to JBEHR S A 2 B A~ R A (]
shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debts. o~ BEAT RT3 B A e
The capital-to-overall financing ratio at reporting date was as AR B - A R L
follows: B/
2024 2023
ZE UL ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
T 0 T
Capital BAR
Total equity HE 45 AR 3,782,045 4,365,294
Overall financing B 1S Rl B
Borrowings 8 595,082 681,254
Due to a shareholder JREASE— 44 I R I - 9,025
Due to directors JRE AS) 2 S R I 73,731 66,772
Due to associate JRE A Bt 485 2 ) KO 37,243 50,000
Due to a related company JRE ASE— [ [ A ) I 125,413 148,000
831,469 955,051
Capital-to-overall financing ratio A B R L R 4,55 4,57
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 51. W%
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.9 Operational risks (Continued) 51.9

Capital adequacy of Bendura Group

Starting February 1, 2015, the calculation of regulatory
capital incorporates the capital requirements following the
Capital Requirements Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 (Capital
Requirements Regulation — CRR) and the Capital Requirements
Directive No. 2013/36/EU (CRD 4) as implemented into
Liechtenstein law. The minimum capital requirement is 8% of risk
weighted assets which consists at least of 4.5% common equity
tier 1 (CET 1) capital, 1.5% additional tier 1 capital and 2% tier 2
capital. In addition, the Bendura Group has to fulfill 2.5% buffer
requirements (capital conservation buffer). The buffer requirement
must be fulfilled with CET 1 capital.

Capital ratios measure capital adequacy by comparing the the
Bendura Group’s eligible capital with balance sheet assets, off-
balance sheet commitments and market positions at weighted
amounts to reflect their relative risk. Assets are weighted according
to broad categories of notional risk, first being multiplied by
a conversion factor and then being assigned a risk weighting
according to the amount of capital deemed to be necessary for them.
Off-balance sheet commitments and default risk positions are also
multiplied and risk-weighted. Market risk is calculated with the
standard approach.

All results are based on the full application of the final CRR
and CRD 4 framework in the European Union and thus without
consideration of applicable transitional rules. The Bendura Group
has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

51.10 Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated 51.10
statement of financial position
The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:

. the fair values of listed equity investments, precious metal
classified under due from banks and due to clients, trading
portfolio investments, financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income are determined by reference
to their quoted market prices at the reporting date in active
markets and have been translated using the spot foreign
currency rates at the end of the reporting periods where
appropriate.

JE K A B H AR K BOR (80

2 B (48)

LA A TR
HoZ—fFE_H—H# EE
Gl B A B R G AR R
(k) CE A Z KK —CRR)
55 575/2013 % I & A Bl E 48 A 5
2013/36/EU %% (CRD 4) » B E A 2
R A AR R o B ARE AR E R
By R G E 2 8% - Hh =46
Fi45% %0 —HER (Fo—RE
%) ~ 1.5% FEAN—H G AR e 2% Ak
A o BN o ML [ ZE T I 2.5%
AR OR (CEA M0 - Sfl
BR WA LIAG BB A, o

EARTERUEALLRMEE > Irik
Rl E AR SR E AR BE E R
HEHEE - BEAREKIVRSE L
HHE & B 2 T R
DA H R 3 S o AR 4K A
7] 4 2 Jo e i E > SR LA — fll ik e
HER > AREVEABHLEZE
& WO B0 AE R B o B E B RR
B R B 7 A R BIR LI € 1 i 3R
S A 4 P AR JEL B o i 455 LB DA
BT T -

JIT A & T JE i A T S K R 4%
Jit CRR X% CRD 4 HEZE i 5 » A1k
K7 g 70 P AR P AR E o b AR
CERCER ZE T ZE T A
=1 — H B2 mAFINTIENZ &
ARELR o

TP B B 5 IR D 2 W i 2 2 P

s
A < T E T < R 2 N F
(B DT 1% DL E

J 3 R 2 I USSR AT K IH T A
B - 5 a1 - %
AR FEA AL 2 T A 2
SR E ETBRARE - H
N PN IR S Y
B ARG R B2 '
THEREE - I LR IR
B 40 e LB (A 1)) o
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.10 Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

the fair value of unlisted investment fund units under trading
portfolio investments is determined by reference to valuation
statements provided by the fund administrators and have been
translated using the spot foreign currency rates at the end of
the reporting periods where appropriate.

the fair value of certain equity investments under financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is
determined based on the fair value of their underlying net
assets.

the fair values of unlisted debt instruments classified under
trading portfolio investments have been determined using
significant inputs, which are market observable, directly or
indirectly.

the fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities
classified at level 2 are marked to market using the foreign
exchange forward rates ruling at the end of each reporting
periods.

the fair value of unlisted investment in insurance policy is
determined based on amount value as stated in cash surrender
value statement issued by insurer.

the fair value of unlisted financial product investments is
determined based on the latest transaction price.

51. S %5 b 45 BE H B B BUBR (s0)

51.10 A &7 & W 855K Ui e i i 2 2 P

AF i (40

2 o LA BOE R BT B
HERNHATEHSEELE
BB AGERERREE
3lf L 4 i R 2 B B
A (I ) -

YN TP ATES TION
2 W E 2 T IR R R
2T A B 7 O 2
ATAESE -

DEEZGAGREZF L
W TR ZATFET) H #
CALEEICDERIEIR E -}
Ky N B (E R E -

DERE R ECME
B T B2 AR TS DL A
Pl 309 AR 2 B R A T
{ERHE -

REWREREZ AFETT
B ARBR A ) A B iR AR
Pt 7R 2 4 RN i E

e LT EE A N
(6T FETA o 58 o B A TREE o
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. A%l ba 4% B B B K& B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.10 Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated 51.10 74 &% BA 5K UL R w8 2 A PAE
statement of financial position (Continued) s (%)

. the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit . B 5 2 BT i 4 20 F (B 71 A T

or loss as set out in note 21 is determined by the directors of PSR 2 & & E 2 AF

the Company with reference to actual result of Gold Vantage EHIHAAFRERESEZ S H

Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the year LEEE _F_UET N

ending 31 December 2025. = —HIEFERRE F

ZHAEFZHA =+ —HIEE
J§ 2 TR E

HKFRS 13 introduced a three-level hierarchy for fair value 5 T U S e I 26 13 9% A - (B
measurement disclosures and additional disclosures about the ah B EE KA B A TE R & 2 A
relative reliability of fair value measurements. A BEE 2 AN BR 5 I =R AP
J& #k -
The hierarchy groups financial assets and financial liabilities into A5 P I T 4 B AR AR I BT
three levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used SMEREKERAEBEZ AT EZE
in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and financial R A U 2 AR 3] SE A 43 2 = AR
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: JE# - A TERHA LT B
—  Level1: unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for — B MEAEEXEE
identical assets or liabilities; A B35 2 R
8 CRESTHEE)
- Level 2.  observable direct and indirect inputs other than — B HEEo B
quoted prices included within Level 1; and K2 WA BE
(A48 5 — Ak
&) 5 &
—  Level 3:  unobservable inputs are inputs for which market — =M BEBEZEA
data are not available. B T 2 T 35

W% 2 A -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51. S %5 b 45 BE H B B BUBR (s0)

51.10 A &2 & W 855K Ui e i i 2 2 P

51.10 Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position (Continued)
The financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in
the consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into the

Al (4)
BRa MR IR LA EFH R 2 &
il 7 % < PR ARO) 5 DA P

& -
fair value hierarchy as follows: L2
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
% BH BEH Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
SR SR T T
2024 R4
Assets Jog3
Due from bank - precious metal ~ HEUCSRATH0E — & &6 - 192,782 - 192,782
Trading portfolio investments THHARE 15,639 15,065 8,860 39,564
Financial assets at fair value YNNI
through profit or loss ERZ MG E - = 24,718 24,718
Derivative financial assets it & MEE - 33,061 - 33,061
Financial assets at fair value HAFEF A2 T
through other comprehensive WA Z &R
income 228,557 5,336 - 233,893
244,196 246,244 33,578 524,018
Liabilities fifi
Due to clients - precious metal A SR - B2 - 193,069 - 193,069
Derivative financial liabilities e afE = 2,497 = 2,497
- 195,566 - 195,566
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. A%l ba 4% B B B K& B3R ()

AND POLICIES (Continued)
51.10 JA &5 W HR DL R e iR 2 A A

51.10 Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position (Continued)

A (48)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
H—5 b4 B4 Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
SRV SRV T SR
2023 e Y
Assets B
Due from bank - precious metal  HEWCSRTTHIE — & 4B - 130,989 - 130,989
Trading portfolio investments THBARE 629 18,053 8,876 27,558
Financial assets at fair value e AR AR R B
through profit or loss R SREE - - 32,410 32,410
Derivative financial assets Mt sRERE = 5,136 = 5,136
Financial assets at fair value AR AR M 2 T
through other comprehensive WA Z ARG
income 280,096 5,531 - 285,627
280,725 159,709 41,286 481,720
Liabilities A
Due to clients — precious metal JER % F A — &4 6 = 131,180 = 131,180
Derivative financial liabilities hilaok AT =N = 49,318 = 49,318
Financial liabilities at fair value A TEF A 3
through profit or loss Fa 1R 2 4 A 1R - = 44,905 44,905
- 180,498 44,905 225,403
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. W%l ba 4% B B B & B3R ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)
51.10 4% A B HE IR I T iR 2 A P

51.10 Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position (Continued)
There have been no significant transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in
the reporting period.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
assets and financial liabilities are categorised in its entirely is based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of
measuring fair value are unchanged compared to the previous
reporting periods.

The fair value of unlisted investment funds classified as trading
securities is Level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A
reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value balances are
provided as below.

AF i (40
TR - SR — AR T ]
DIET PN LS

o T B T A
TR TR AT
S T K 2 A A
4 o

O (B BT T 5 8 Bt il X B
DAAE: #7450 ] 4R 52

BRI LIRS
CUSEE RS T A ]
ik o A BT AV 55 0 10 B
WA -

2024 2023
ZE UL -
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T U T
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring W) &5 B (B8 = 8wt
fair value) o F{H) 8,876 8,882
Fair value change during the year A AT 5 B 28 (829)
Exchange realignment [V 5, 5 & (44) 823
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring EREE G =R HE
fair value) NFE) 8,860 8,876




325 CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

e I S S R T A I A B )

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #% — % —JU4FE+— H = —H IL4F

51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.10 Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)
The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is Level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the
opening and closing fair value balances are provided as below.

51. S %5 L B 4 BE H B B BB ()

51.10 J &5 65 W 851K Dt 2 e 58 2 A P {E
AF i (4
O PR R A 20k 1R 2 4l
BEZ A AR =R E A TE
At o AR AR AR T A BRI B

IRk 51 an T o
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG TH T
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring SEVIGE R (55 AT T
fair value) o F{H) 32,410 —
Derivative financial liabilities in relation in B 255 i i s 2
2023 Profit Compensation arising from the 2 — = 4F %k FI i 4 A B
business acquisition (note 47) Z AT A R R (M RE47) - (11,590)
Settlement during the year AF IR 45 SR H (32,410) =
Fair value change during the year R FEEEE) 24,718 44,000
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring fair SRR AR (B =R
value) NFE) 24,718 32,410

One of the key significant unobservable inputs to determine the fair
value of derivative financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is (i) the actual result of Gold VVantage Group for the years ended 31
December 2024 or 2023; or (ii) the forecast result of Gold Vantage
Group for the year ending 31 December 2025.

A better actual financial result of Gold Vantage for the years ended
31 December 2024 or 2023; or a better forecast result of Gold
Vantage for the year ending 31 December 2025 would result in a
decrease in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, and vice versa.

Rk /NS = WS R ) S (= ek b
A S VB E 2 AT 2 B R OROR
MM ABEZ — R () EEEE
BE FE PR S F AR
A= —H L4 AR oL
(VE&EEEEE _F _h4E+—A
= — H IR A

SEERBE X WER %
T=EE+ A=+ —HIEEZE
MR AR AT e B EEEE
“ECHFE A=+ —HIEFE
i bilE S vy TR /NS
R T R S G 18 > 4 Rl P 2 AT
EHIA > L ZIRER -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  51. W%l ba 4% B B B & B3R ()

AND POLICIES (Continued)

51.10 Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated 51.10 J4 &% BA 5K UL R w8 2 A PAE

statement of financial position (Continued)

The fair values of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss is Level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation of
the opening and closing fair value balances are provided as below.

AF i (40
PR A 20k 1R < &l A
B2 A T(E 580 = A H A T
At o AR AR RN T A BRI B
IRASIANT o

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TG THs T
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring ER AR (B =
fair value) o F1H) 44,905 =
Derivative financial liabilities in relation BRI A A 2 —F
in 2024 and 2025 Profit Compensation A R 2 TR A i R A A
arising form the business acquisition A B 2 A1 A 4 il A AR
(note 47) (Ff5E47) - (66,097)
Fair value change during the year GINPNS X0 (44,905) 21,192
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring ER AR (5 =R
fair value) INFAH) - 44,905

One of the key significant unobservable inputs to determine the fair
values of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is the
actual result for the year ended 31 December 2024; or the forecast
result of Gold Vantage Group for the year ending 31 December
2025.

A better actual financial result of Gold Vantage for the year ended
31 December 2024; or a better forecast financial result of Gold
Vantage for the year ending 31 December 2025 would result in
increase in the fair values of financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, and vice vera.

i Gk /N G 1= W W, = P
Al 1 2 A TR 2 B S B KA AT B
HAMMBE —AEE_ZF N
E+ZA=Z+—AIEEZ TR
(4 EBREEERE T AF
+ A = H R 2 FEBIEAS

CEEHEBE _F_NEL+ A
= — H IR E 2 E RS s
A NG BREMBE T HF
+ A =+ B kA 2
LB > AR A TEF A
G Ei= P BN P/ S (e
s R ZIREK -
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52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

52. JABSIR DL

2024 2023
—E YL —E =
Notes HK$7000 HK$’000
! T¥#L F¥oo
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES e AL fE
Non-current assets MBI E R
Property, plant and equipment L ESN &L 34,943 14,272
Interests in subsidiaries ST A B Jo 2 W RE 4 1,963,077 1,985,877
Financial asset at fair value through other oy SRR A LA
comprehensive income LA Z 4 il & 175,324 220,299
2,173,344 2,220,448
Current assets i By
Other assets e 20,127 22,152
Trading portfolio investments T EHE 260 291
Cash and deposits B4 S AT 5,820 1,836
26,207 24,279
Current liabilities i B £ 1%
Other liabilities HoAh £ 5 45,686 50,018
Borrowings & & 351,332 377,569
Lease liabilities Tl A 1k 11,108 15,090
Due to associates JRE A5 Wi 255/ i) R IE 37,243 50,000
Due to directors JRE AS) 2 S R I 73,302 59,802
Due to subsidiaries JREASS B Ji 2 ) Bk IE 229,208 229,208
Due to a related company JRRE A — ] I 2 ) kT 125,413 148,000
Due to a shareholder JREAT — 44 B R 3K T = 9,025
873,292 938,712
Net current liabilities Wi B £ 6% I (847,085) (914,433)
Total assets less current liabilities A8 7 Dol B AR 1,326,259 1,306,015
Non-current liabilities JER B £ £
Lease liabilities HEAE 24,457 =
Net assets & e A 1,301,802 1,306,015
EQUITY HE 25
Share capital JeAs 41 435,189 435,189
Reserves feti 42 866,613 870,826
Total equity HE 2 HEBH 1,301,802 1,306,015

ABNFABRDL RN B R4 = A
ZA N H AR F) E e i R R
%55 AR DA N E R E

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 28 March
2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Hon Kwok Lung Siu Chun Wa
it o e [ §iE
Director Director

EH EH
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, each of which is a limited liability

company are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued/

53. F: ZEH & 4 Wl &R

LM AT (B RARATF) FEHIR -

Effective percentage of equity

Principal activities and principal

Name registration paid-up capital interest held by the Company place of business
Hi R /REMS  CRG/BERARE  AAMRRREZEREAL  FEERREEEENE
2024 2023
e a1 “EZE
Directly helo:
BRH
Qingapen Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment, PRC
BRREHRAH ik BT R EREY
China Haidian Commercial Network Services Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment, PRC
Limited
o M A R A R i 2B R B A
Haidian-Creation International Limited British Virgin slands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
(“BVI")
REELHE 1% REBREER
(ERELHE)

Sure Best Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
BaREEARAR ik LT REBREER
Jia Cheng Investment Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
BB EARAF EBRLHE 1£% REBREER
Citychamp Watch and Jewellery SwissCo AG Switzerland CHF100,000 100% 100%  lssuance of bonds, Switzerland

HR 10,0003 £ ¥ 5 T BT R
Bendura Bank AG Liechtenstein CHF20,000,000 98.69% 98.69%  Assets management, accepting client

deposits, making investment and
granting loans, Liechtenstein

EHRTRB AR LT ER 20,000,000 5 1 5 RIS RERERE &%

BRI SRR S
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53.

INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued/

53. F:ZEH I 2 B &R )

Effective percentage of equity

Principal activities and principal

Name registration paid-up capital interest held by the Company place of business
A MR/ REINLS  CBG/ARRARE  RARRRRECEEAAN  FEEERIERENY
2024 2023
CREONE | CFOEE
Indirectly hel:
Vg
EBOHR Luxuries International Co., Limited PRC HK$116,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of watches
(note a) and timepieces, PRC
e (A A RA R (W Ea) it 116,000,003 JE R R 7 B o
Shenzhen EBOHR Luxuries Onling E-commerce ~ PRC RMB19,000,000 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
Company Limited (note b) PRC
PRI B 7 0 B T ails]| R 19,000,0007 TR P 7 B B T o 7
AIRAT (WD)
Actor Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
FEREARAA Eil 10,000 REEREER
Zhuhai Rossini Watch Industry Limited (noted) ~ PRC RMB180,000,000 91% 91%  Manufacture and distribution of watches
and timepieces, PRC
WG SEA RA A (k) il AR 180,000,000 7C T BB T g0 e T
PAMA Precision Manufacturing Limited (noteb) ~ PRC RMB11,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of watches
and timepieces, PRC
PRSI ORSE A i B8 A PR ] (B RED) il A RH 11,000,000 T B A T g0 T
Shenzhen Permanence Commerce Co., Limited PRC RMB23,000,000 91% 91%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
(note b) PRC
BRI BRI 5 A RAH (WD) il A RH 23,000,000 T B S B T e E
Zhuhai Rossini Glasses Industry Limited (noteb) ~ PRC RMB1,000,000 91% 91%  Distribution of glasses, PRC
BRI EARA R (M) il AR 1,000,000 72 PR R
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INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL 53. FEME A F &R )
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued/ Effective percentage of equity Principal activities and principal
Name registration paid-up capital interest held by the Company place of business
w4 MR/ REINRS  RBG/ARRARE  RARRRRECEEAAL  FEEERIEEENY
2024 2023
CEONE | CECEE
Indirectly held: (Continued)
HERE - (%)
Eterna AG Uhrenfabrik Switzerland CHF6,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of watches
and timepieces, Switzerland
Wt 6,000,005 - 5 TS B T BB ot
Eterna Movement AG Switzerland CHF1,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of watches
and timepieces, Switzerland
Bt 1,000,000 1355 TS R TR o T e
Guangdong Juxin Watch Co., Limited (note d) PRC RMB15,000,000 51% 51%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
PRC
BREREFERARAT (Htd) il N RH 15,000,000 TR P 7 B T o
Liaoning Hengjia Horologe Co., Limited (noted) ~ PRC RMB25,500,000 51% 51%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
PRC
BEEFEEEARAA (Fikd) il N RH 25,500,000 78 T B S 5 T o 2
Guangzhou Five Goat Watch Co., Limited (noteb) ~ PRC RMB100,000,000 80.66% 74.1%  Manufacture and distribution of watches
and timepieces, PRC
M LF A RAT (W) e R 100,000,000 76 b R B BB B R
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53.

INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued/

53. F:ZEH I 2 B &R )

Effective percentage of equity

Principal activities and principal

Name registration paid-up capital interest held by the Company place of business
4R /MRS CRE/ARBARE  KAWRBREZERAAL  IERBRIESEAN
2024 2023
CEONE | CECEE
Indirectly held: (Continued)
FEHE (4
Eterna (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 0% 70%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
Hong Kong
G4 %E (W) AR AR Fil 5,000,000 ¢ IS BER T 5T 2
Centenaire Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (note) ~ PRC RMB4,550,000 0% 70%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
PRC
LHEWE S (L) ARAF (Bita) T AR 4,550,000 JA B SR T T
Eterna (Beijing) International Trading Co., Ltd PRC RMBL,000,000 0% 70%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
(note b) PRC
G4 () BRE A HRAT (W) T AR 1,000,000 B SR T T E
Jilin Dayou Watch Limited (note d) PRC RMB15,000,000 51% 51%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
PRC
ERRASERARAT (Ed) TR N RH 15,000,000 78 J B SR T T E
Montres Corum Sarl Switzerland CHF3,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture, and distribution of watches
and timepieces, Switzerland
Wt 3,000,005 L% B R B o T s
Montres Corum (UK) Ltd. United Kingdom GBP3,383 424 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
United Kingdom
% 3,383 4245555 TS A S B T 1
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INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL 53. EZFE A B R a0
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued/ Effective percentage of equity Principal activities and principal
Name registration paid-up capital interest held by the Company place of business
4R A/ GEIRE  CRE/BRBARE  AAWRBREZERAAL  EERBRIEEEAE
2024 2023
SEONE | CFoCE
Indirectly held: (Continued)
HEiE ()
Corum ltalia SRL Italy EUR10,400 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
Italy
N 10,400KK T BRI B8 T ot
Montres Corum Europe SA Switzerland CHF100,000 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
Switzerland
SURR 100,000%i1: £ 55 TSR 98t TR o 7
Servicio de Importacion SA Spain EUR739,000 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
Spain
T3t 739,000 80 TATTSEIR o i o e o
Corum Deutschland GmbH Germany EUR200,000 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
Germany
Bl 200,000 KT TR b S SR T R T E
Corum (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
Hong Kong
it 1,000 T B T o o
The Dreyfuss Group Limited United Kingdom (GBP221,541 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
United Kingdom
% 2154155 TSI 7 B 5% Rt E
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53. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued/

53. F:ZEH I 2 B &R )

Effective percentage of equity

Principal activities and principal

Name registration paid-up capital interest held by the Company place of business
4R /MRS CRE/ARBARE  KAWRBREZERAAL  IERBRIESEAN
2024 2023
CREONE | CFOEE
Indirectly held: (Continued)
FEHE (4
Rotary Overseas Limited United Kingdom (GBP1,000,000 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
United Kingdom
b 1,000,000 FASET 7 T o 2
Artemis Watch Company Limited United Kingdom GBP100 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
United Kingdom
EL 10048 SR 7S SR T T
Rotary Watches LLC United States of America ~ US$10 100% 100%  Distribution of watches and timepieces,
United States of America
K 0% R EE SR T ot 2
Dreyfuss & Co SA Switzerland CHF100,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of watches and
timepieces, Switzerland
Bt 100,000%: £ 8 TS B B T o
Fabrique de Moritres Rotary S.A Switzerland CHF1,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and distribution of
watches and timepieces, Switzerland
it 1,000,000 L% S SR T G o 2
Bendura Funds Inc Liechtenstein CHF1,500,000 98.69% 98.69%  Providing investment counselling, acting
as technical administrator of fund
units, acting as a fund management
company and acting as an alternative
investment fund manager,
Liechtenstein
bE En:x 1,500,000 5 1: 2 55 RIS LB R AR B
EEESEAZHMERA
EEESERAAR
BEARHEASRR
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INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL 53. EZFE A B R a0
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued/ Effective percentage of equity Principal activities and principal
Name registration paid-up capital interest held by the Company place of business
4R A/ GEIRE  CRE/BRBARE  AAWRBREZERAAL  EERBRIEEEAE
2024 2023
SREONE | SFoEE
Indirectly held: (Continued)
HEiE ()
Bendura Service Gmbh Vienna EUR1,000,000 98.69% 98.69%  Providing compliance services
ikl 1,000,000 ¢ RUtA R
Golden Tower Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 98.69% 98.69% Provision of staff quarter
S4ARAF Fil L REETHE
Bendura Wealth Management (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$41,300,000 98.69% 98.69% Provision of financial services, Hong
Limited (Formerly known as Challenge Capital Kong
Management Limited)
FUMEEL (B ARAR (MBRERE A 41,300,000 % ¢ RE R SRR
HKEHRAR)
Ernest Borel Holdings Limited Cayman Island HK$3,474,000 57.14% 57.14%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
R RARA A i 34740004 T REEREER
Boillat Les Bois S.A. Switzerland CHF100,000 51.14% 57.14%  Development, manufacturing and
marketing of watches, Switzerland
Bt 100,005 £: KB TS L RS B R Sk
Ermest Borel S.A. Switzerland CHF100,000 57.14% 57.14%  Manufacturing and trading of watches,
Switzerland
Wt 100,000 L% LB R E bk
Ermest Borel (Far East) Company Limited Hong Kong HK$20,000 57.14% 57.14%  Assembling and sales of watches, Hong
Kong
ki () ARAR il 20,0007 REBAERHE Bk
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53. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL 53. EZFE A W B R a0
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued/ Effective percentage of equity Principal activities and principal
Name registration paid-up capital interest held by the Company place of business
4R /MRS CRE/ARBARE  KAWRBREZERAAL  IERBRIESEAN
2024 2023
CREONE | CFOEE
Indirectly held: (Continued)
B - (#
Ernest Borel (Guangzhou) Tranding Co., Ltd PRC RMB20,000,000 57.14% 57.14%  Distribution and sales of watches, PRC
s (BM) B AR RAR T R 20,000,000 G
Ernest Borel (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 57.14% 57.14%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
s (B i) ARAR Fil 1,000 REERERER
Ernest Borel Watch Company Limited BVI US$100 57.14% 57.14%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
REE RS 100%7% REERERR
Swissmount Holdings Limited BVI US$100 57.14% 57.14%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
REELRE 100%7% REBHEER
Gold Vantage Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 57.14% 57.14%  Investment holding
SERIEARATA Fi 10,0003 &R
Gold Choice Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 57.14% 57.14%  Investment holding
HRREARAR Fik 10077 &R
Dongguan Grand Chances Precision Hardware PRC RMB50,000,000 57.14% 57.14%  Design, development and manufacturing
Products Co., Ltd. (note ) of stainless-steel alloy watches cases,
smartwatches cases
REBARELERNARA (Hita) il 50,000,000 xat MR RRERFADRHER
ARER
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INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, results in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the
year.

Notes:

(@) These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under
the law of PRC.

(b) These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability companies under the law
of PRC.

() This subsidiary is registered as foreign joint venture under the law of PRC.

(d) These subsidiaries are registered as sino-foreign joint ventures under the law
of PRC.

53. F:ZEH 2 B &R )

E RN E R LR A AR
Z SRRSO A B B A KRR A 2
ARNTFME AT o HEGDS > FE ALK
J& AR 2 EROISE A R ERIBR IR -

T B 2 A A AR B AT AT A RS A O o

ftk

() A% B 2 AR v I ik R R 2 A
AR -

(b) 3% BB 2 AR o o 3 A R
() A4S F AL o o B 8 O T
B

(d) % A 2 AR vl I ik R R 2 v A
BEAMRE-
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53. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

53. F:ZEH I 2 B &R )

N SCHRF AT AT S 6 i AT AR SR T
Ji&§ R 2 I AR P i 2 5 WY A 4 R B s

Set out below are the summarised financial information for the subsidiaries
that had non-controlling interests which is material to the Group, before

any elimination. B o
Zhuhai Rossini Watch
Ernest Borel Group Bendura Bank AG Industry Limited
fic B B S5 EHRTR RO AHRAT KRG Je 8 A A
2024 _ 2023 2024 A 2023 2024 A 2023
SROIMWE | CEDEE | ZRCIWE | CFDEF | ZRCNE | ZFC=E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T Tt T
Summarised statement of financial  WHEEMR IR A HEE
position
As at 31 December RIZAZF—H
Effective non-controlling interests ~ FE B8 #5323 bt
percentage 40.64% 40.64% 131% 131% 9% 9%
Assets B 553,001 656,002 13432539 11,296,032 1,144,059 1,414,956
Libiliies fifk (51006) | (488210) | (1259350) | (10350094 | (157.003)| (182501
Net assets B 101,905 167,792 903,180 945,938 986,956 1,232,455
Accumulated non-controlling Rt b &
interests 62,633 89,409 13115 13,003 90,387 112,482
Summarised statement of ZHRARBE
comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December BETZAZ TR LR
Revenue g 99,280 164,994 499,799 491,794 261,904 332,445
(Loss)/profit before income tax B AT B (B8 /A (48,288) 17,483 131527 130,934 20,664 44135
Other comprehensive (loss)fincome S 2 (E48) /A (17.9%9) 10,310 (77,115) 86,413 - =
Total comprehensive income 2R AT (65,887) 29,181 37,800 200,724 19,891 31,354
(Loss)/profit allocated to non- AREFBRHES 2 (BH) /
controlling interests i Al (26,776) 11,859 1513 2,636 179 282
Dividends paid tonon-controlling  F B B4 3 £ 2 ¢
interests - - 390 1,654 - -
Summarised statement of cash flows ~ J& WA EHE
For the year ended 31 December BEF A=A LR
Cash flows (used in)/generated from & £ (Fi i) /&2
operating activities BeiiE (27.269) (9,547) 349,029 (540,271) 67,298 78,746
Cash flows (used in)/generated from & (Bifil) /L2
investing activities e (294) 8,947 (60,209) (8,79 (27019) (39,017)
Cash flows generated from/(used i)~ EEBEL/ () 2
financing activities HenE 2,141 (262) (78.201) 873 (32,280) (52,646)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow AW/ (W) § 45 4579 (826) 210,719 (548,190) 7999 (12917)
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Subsequent to the reporting date, regarding the settlement of 2024 Profit
Compensation, 2024 Profit Compensation would be reduced by the
outstanding share consideration of the second installment of 12,820,513
consideration shares and the outstanding cash consideration of the second
installment of HK$13,333,333.3 in relation to the acquisition as set out
in note 47. For the remaining balances of 2024 Profit Compensation, the
Company has agreed with Fair Future that the balance shall be set off by
the current account with subsidiaries.

54.

I 1% FIH

R B A - o % AR A
HEALTT S > U AR U R A K e
S A7 TS A R A S TE A T R A
Uy AR18 12,820,513 [ AR B A7y B 25 — 0 2R
173 418 13,333,333.3 5 IC -t & 1
A A 2 AR 5 AN E 2 B
BB 0 BRI BB A R 2 AR AR AR
RS
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A A R R

A summary of the published results and financial position of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and the last four years is set out below. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

e I S S R T A I A B )

AEEKRE_F_NE+H=1T—HILFE
T 38 25 U 4F 27 B T 35 2 A T B 5 IR W MR 2 o 371
T o BB A AR AR B 4% B S ek 2 —
5}0

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE W KRBl
Year ended 31 December
BET A=t —HIL4EE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TROWE | ZFo=E ZERDCE ZF-—F ZZ0ERF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tl T Tk SR Tt
Net interest income from hanking SRATEH 2 F B
business LS| 285,982 285,968 133,526 94,164 128,028
Net service fees and commission income  $R47 275 2 MR H5 2 &t
from banking business AN 177,119 171,919 165,363 223,370 196,994
Trading income from banking business ~ R1TEH 2 5 IA 35,309 33,907 38,631 36,197 21,702
Service fees and commission income BREH 2 B E K
from financial business EEALON 20 12 949 5,900 10,721
Interest income from financial business 4l £ 2 F Bl A 1,369 33 173 330 184
Sales of goods from non-banking and FRIT B RERZ
financial businesses B ERA 813,952 1,113,945 1,248,281 1,555,114 1,405,812
Rental income from non-banking and FRITREMEEZ
financial businesses EEALUN 21,872 23,275 20,465 16,024 11,108
Total revenue Mg A 1,335,623 1,629,059 1,607,388 1,931,099 1,774,549
Cost of sales from non-banking and FRIT R MR 2
financial businesses A (526,644) (514,001) (604,727 (745,224) (647,405)
Other income and other net HAA S HAb
gains or losses g i bEE (34,665) 71,255 15,916 40,881 98,333
Selling and distribution expenses B R % (672,722) (376,358) (448 443) (535,895) (550,428)
Administrative expenses B A (301,850) (667,762) (626,594) (698,022) (728432)
Share of profit/(loss) of joint ventures A s A A/ (B548) = 5 (28) (83) (494)
Share of profit of associates B A 7 A ) i A 3,306 13,842 16,740 323 3,180
Finance costs from non-banking business  JF $447 275 2 i %5 # (63,095) (78,242) (70,532) (67,351) (82,956)
Profit/(loss) before income tax b BEn A (R 48) (260,047) 83,798 (110,280) (74,272) (133,653)
Income tax expense Jir B B X (21,605) (20,539) (9,157) (31,104) (25,176)
Profit/(loss) for the year A AERERH/ (ER) (281,652) 63,259 (119,437) (105,376) (158,829)
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued) WA R B )
Year ended 31 December
BREF A=+ —HILEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CEONE | SZo=E SR oF CECF SERCERE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tl T Tk T TiBT
Other comprehensive income ERLETT/ON
Item that will not be subsequently ARHREN SR
reclassified to profit or loss A SR ZHH
— Remeasurement of net defined — 8t i E A A
benefit obligations BITFH (1,399) (4,962) 30,123 42,515 3,646
— Change in fair value of financial — N AR A AL
assets at fair value through other 2HAZ &/
comprehensive income G A TS (51,538) (10,308) (118,002 33,127 47,933
(52.937) (15,270) (87,878) 75,042 51,579
Items that may be subsequently WRERHEER2EE
reclassified to profit or loss RSB HH
— Exchange differences on translation ~BAEEIERZ
to presentation currency [ 5t £ 5 (248,867) 115,100 (144,540) (9,893) 279,862
— Release of exchange reserve to profit ~ — i i & [ & /A 7l %
or loss upon disposal of il B M RE R ff 22
subsidiaries it M 5 15 - = = (744) (405)
— Share of exchange differences on —JEAGHER A A R 2
translation of associates [ 5 £ 5 ()} (2,633) (153) 188 (490)
(248,868) 112,467 (144,693) (10,449) 278,967
Other comprehensive income A A 2 WA
for the year (301,805) 97,197 (232,571) 65,193 330,546
Total comprehensive income AR 2 T W A AR
for the year (583457) 160,456 (352,008) (40,183) 171,717
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

2024

W R B )

Year ended 31 December

BETCA=STHIEEE

2023 2022 2021 2020
CEONE | SFo=FE 0 o CFECF ZECEF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tl THT T T T
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable DA A RE4l A 4F
to; (48) /A -
Owners of the Company AATGEA N (254,072) 45,100 (111,052 (100,907) (169,233)
Non-controlling interests ERudigi 27,580 18,159 (8,386) (4,469) 10,404
(281,652) 63,259 (119,437) (105,376) (158,829)
Total comprehensive income for DA\ Rl AR 4
the year attributable to: LN EE
Owners of the Company AATHEA N (552,520) 131,496 (329,347 (35,727) 164,456
Non-controlling interests ERLdig (30,937) 28,960 (22,661) (4,456) 7,261
(583,457) 160,456 (352,008) (40,183) 171,717
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING &~ BRI PE IRE A
INTERESTS
Year ended 31 December
BRET-H=+—HILEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CRONE | ZERDEE RO RO ZRIERE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tl T Tk T Tk
Total assets MG 17,963,825 16,531,006 16,157,243 19,962,419 21,385,195
Total liabilities A (14,181,780) | (12,165712)  (11,978,382)  (15338,879)  (16,648,968)
Non-controlling interests T I £ (167,622) (198,594) (166,048) (262,407) (317,548)
3,614,423 4,166,700 4,012,813 4,361,133 4,418,679
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FEBREWEME
Group interest ~ Use Tenure
Description ik HEMER AR A
Industrial Complex E YN Bl 100% Industrial/Residential ~ Medium term lease
including Dormitories in the (THE D) I¥/ftE H LAY
Sixth Industrial Zone JE A
Houjie Town e
Dongguan County JE A8
Guangdong Province CANIE RN
The People’s Republic of China FEEN
(the “PRC™) (BL3ETE )
2nd Lower Ground Level aile] 100%  Commercial Medium term lease
Jin Hua Building R A [HES AT 4
Yan He South Road G
Luohu District e [
Shenzhen TH ] 3 %
Guangdong Province i (NS
The PRC JET g~
Shops at Street Nos. 13, 14 and il 100%  Commercial Medium term lease
15 New City Centre Plaza Garden JERA [HES H I 4
Nos. 459, 461 and 463 i
Xiang Hua Road A
Zhuhai City 459 - 461 % 4634
Guangdong Province AL e
The PRC 8113 ~ 14 S 1545
Office B, 7th Floor il 100%  Commercial Short term lease
No. 78, Nanguan Road TR T U [ [HES bak:ikickal
Shenhe District, Shenyang City A B B 78 5%
The PRC THEB FEHRA %
No. 1004, Block B H 100%  Commercial Long term lease
Xinnengyuan Building & A I [HES RN A
Nanhai Avenue, Nanshan District ENEG N
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province T REUE K

The PRC

B J# 1004
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e I S S R T A I A B )

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FEBRE WM £
Group interest ~ Use Tenure
Description ik HERER AR A
Nos. 203, 204, 205, 206, 208 i 100%  Residential Medium term lease
Building 16, Dengliang Garden & SR TR T £ HHA TR 4
Dengliang Road, Nanshan District L [ F R B
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province % R AL [ 16 51
The PRC 203 ~ 204 ~ 205 > 206 ~ 208 5%
Nos. 228, 229, 230, 231, il 100%  Residential Medium term lease
232, 233, 234, 235, JB R A G £ I A
236, 237 1 1L [ LR AE
Building A, Lifang Village h 5 ABR

Nanshan Avenue, Nanshan District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
The PRC

228229 230~ 231~
232233234~ 235~
236 ~ 2374F



CITYCHAMP

WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED
BHERKESEEBRA A

HEILIE Units 1902 — 04, Level 19
LA Ve 1 5% International Commerce Centre
BRIKE 5 % 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon
19 ## 1902-04 = Hong Kong

citychampwj.com
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